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BEFORE THE NATIONAL COMPANY LAW TRIBUNAL

CHENNAI BENCH
FORM NO. CAA 2

(Pursuant to Section 230(3) and Rule 6)
CA/161/CAA/2017

In the matter of:
Sections 230 to 232 and other applicable
Provisions of the Companies Act, 2013;
And

In the matter of Scheme of Arrangement (Demerger) and Amalgamation between [FMR Holdings
Private Limited and Dvara Investments Private Limited and Northern Arc Capital Limited

Northern Arc Capital Limited
a Company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956,
having its Registered Office at [IT M Research Park, 10" Floor,
Kanagam Village, Taramani, Chennai — 600 113.
...Applicant/Transferee Company

NOTICE OF THE MEETING OF THE SECURED CREDITORS OF NORTHEN ARC
CAPITAL LIMITED

To,
The Secured Creditors of Northern Are Capital Limited (‘Transferee Company’ or ‘Applicant
Company’ or ‘the Company’)

NOTICE is hereby given that by an order dated 27" August 2018, the National Company Law
-Tribunal,'Division Bench, Chennai has directed the meeting of the Secured Creditors of the
Transferee_Company for the purpose of considering, and if thought fit, approving with or without
modification, the Scheme of Arrangement (Demerger) and Amalgamation between IFMR Holdings

Private Limited and Dvara Investments Private Limited and Northern Arc Capital Limited.

In pursuance of the said order and as directed therein, further notice is hereby given that a meeting of
the Secured Creditors of the Company be convened and held at on 30™ October 2018 at 11.30 A.M. at
HT M Research Park, Phase I, 10" Floor, 1 Kanagam Village (Behind Tidel Park), Taramani, Chennai

—600 113 and the said Secured creditors of the Company are requested to attend.

[



The quorum for the Meeting shall be 10 (Ten). In case the quorum is not in place at the designated
time, the Meeting shall be adjourned by half an hour and thereafter, the persons present for voting

shall be deemed to constitute the quorum.

Copies of the Composite Scheme of Arrangement (Demerger) and Amalgamation and of the
Statement under Section 230 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 can be
obtained free of charge at the Registered Office of the Company or at the office of its Advocates,
Pawaq Jhabakh having office at New no.115, Luz Church Road, Mylapore, Chennai — 600004.

Persons entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may vote in person or by proxy, provided that all
proxies in the prescribed form are deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 1IT M

Research Park, Phase I, 10" Floor, 1 Kanagam Village (Behind Tidel Park), Taramani, Chennai — 600
113 not later than 48 hours before the Meeting.

A copy each of the Statement under Section 230 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Scheme, form of

Proxy and Attendance Slip are enclosed.

The Tribunal has appointed Ms. Bama Balakrishnan, Chief Financial Officer, failing which, Mr.
Saurabh Jaywant, Chief Legal Counsel, of the Company as the Chairman of the said Meeting. The

above mentioned Composite Scheme of Arrangement (Demerger) and Amalgamation, if approved by

/%,{7\/«:#\‘ %

Ms. Bama Balakrishnan

the Meeting, will be subject to the subsequent approval of the Tribunal.

y Chairman appointed for the Meeting

;) e - ;
Dated this /9 _day of Sepn/Zrobaes, 2018 at Chennai

Notes:

1. A Secured creditor entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to
attend and vote instead of himself and such proxy need not be a member of the Applicant
Company. The form of proxy duly completed should, however, be deposited at the Registered
Office of the Applicant Company not less than 48 (forty-eight) hours before the meeting.

2. All alterations made in the form of proxy should be initialled.

3. The authorised representative of a body corporate which is a Secured creditor of the
Applicant Company may attend and vote at the Secured Creditors meeting provided a
certified true copy of the resolution of the Board of Directors or other governing body of the
body corporate authorising such representative to attend and vote at the meeting of the
Secured Creditors is deposited at the Registered Office of the Applicant Company not later
than 48 (forty-eight) hours before the meeting.
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A Secured creditor or his proxy is requested to hand over the enclosed Attendance Slip, duly
signed as per the specimen signature(s) registered with the Company for admission to the
meeting hall.

The notice is being sent to secured creditors outstanding as on the date of hearing with
Hon’ble Tribunal which is 23" of August 2018. The physical copies of this Notice along with
Attendance Slip and Proxy Form are being sent in the permitted mode to all the
aforementioned Secured Creditors and the notice is also sent to the Secured creditors through
e-mail (for such Secured creditors who have registered their e-mail address with the
Company. This Notice is also displayed/ posted on the website of the Applicant Company
www.northernarc.com. The email address of the Applicant Company is
secretarial@northernarc.com.

The material documents referred to in the accompanying Statement shall be open for
inspection by the Secured Creditors at the Registered Office of the Applicant Company on all
working days between 11.00 a.m. to 1.00 p.m. except Saturday, Sunday and Public Holidays.
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BEFORE THE NATIONAL COMPANY LAW TRIBUNAL

CHENNAI BENCH
FORM NO. CAA 2

(Pursuant to Section 230(3) and Rule 6)
CA/161/CAA/2017

In the matter of:
Sections 230 to 232 and other applicable
Provisions of the Companies Act, 2013;
And

In the matter of Scheme of Arrangement (Demerger) and Amalgamation between IFMR Holdings
Private Limited and Dvara Investments Private Limited and Northern Arc Capital Limited

Northern Arc Capital Limited

a Company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956, _
having its Registered Office at [IT M Research Park, 10" Floor,
Kanagam Village, Taramani, Chennai — 600 113.

...Applicant/Transferee Company

STATEMENT UNDER SECTION 230(3) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013 FOR THE
MEETING OF SECURED CREDITORS OF 'NORTHERN ARC CAPITAL LIMITED
CONVENED AS PER THE DIRECTIONS OF THE NATIONAL COMPANY LAW
TRIBUNAL, CHENNAI BENCH.

1 In this Statement, Northern Arc Capital Limited is hereinafter referred to as ‘the Transferee
Company’ or ‘the Applicant Company’ or ‘the Company’ and IFMR Holdings Private Limited
is hereinafter referred to as ‘Demerged Company’ and Dvara Investments Private Limited is
hereinafter referred to as *Resulting/ Transferor Company”. The other definitions contained in
the Scheme wili apply to this Statement also. The following Statement as required under
Section 230(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies (Compromises, Arrangements
and Amalgamations) Rules, 2016 sets forth the details of the proposed Scheme, its effects and
in particular, any material interests of the Directors, Promoters, Key Managerial Personnel with

reference to the proposed Composite Scheme of Arrangement and Amalgamation.
2 The Applicant Company is engaged in the business of a non-banking finance company.

3 The Scheme of Arrangement (Demerger) and Amalgamation provides for the demerger of the

Demerged Undertaking (as defined under the Scheme) from the Demerged Company to the
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Resulting/Transferor Company and subsequently the amalgamation of the entire business of the

Resulting/Transferor Company into the Applicant/Transferee Company.

By an order dated 27" August 2018, the National Company Law Tribunal, Chennai Bench has
directed that a meeting of Secured creditors of Northern Arc Capital Limited be conducted,
convened and held at IIT M Research Park, Phase I, 10" Floor, 1 Kanagam Village (Behind
Tidel Park), Taramani, Chennai — 600 113, on Tuesday, 30" October 2018 at 11.30 A.M. for the
purpose of considering, and if thought fit, approving with or without modification, the Scheme
of Arrangement (Demerger) and Amalgamation between IFMR Holdings Private Limited and

Dvara Investments Private Limited and Northern Arc Capital Limited (‘the Scheme’).

The Board of Directors of the Transferee Company on 19" January 2018 at their meeting
unanimously approved the Scheme, subject to the approval of various authorities and creditors
of the Company. The Board of Directors have come to the conclusion that the Scheme is in the

best interest of the Company and its shareholders and creditors.

BACKGROUND OF NORTHERN ARC CAPITAL LIMITED
Corporate Identification Number — U65910TN1989PLC017021
PAN No - AACCI0979B
Name of the Company — Northern Arc Capital Limited (Formerly Known as IFMR Capital

Finance Limited)

Date of incorporation — 9" March 1989

Type of Company — Public Limited

Registered Office Address — IIT-M Research Park, Phase 1, 10" Floor, No. I, Kanagam
Village, Taramani, Chennai — 600 113

Email Address — secretarial@northernarc.com

Summary of main objects of the Company:

1. To provide efficient and reliable access to debt finance for institutions that impact

low-income households.

2. To devise various schemes for raising funds and mobilize funds for institutions that
impact low-income households in any manner including but ndt limited to issue of
debentures, debentures stock, bonds, Pass Through Certificates or other securities and
to offer or otherwise issue or deal in such instruments of any nature and tenor to

Qualified Institutional Buyers or any other persons, natural or juristic (as may be



permitted under the various applicable laws), either by itself or through trusts and/or

other special purpose vehicles.

3. To administer, claim, collect, demand, direct, manage, monitor, conduct surveillance
visits, recover, retrieve, repossess, realize, restructure, reconstruct or service financial
assets, property, security assets, or appoint agent or manager for such purposes,
enforcement of security interest, settlement of dues and/or taking possession of

secured assets and provide investor reports.

4, To carry on and undertake the business of finance, investment, loan company to
provide financial and other guarantees and to invest in acquire, subscribe, purchase,
hold, sell, divest or otherwise deal in securities, Pass Through Certificates, shares,
stocks, equity linked securities, debentures, debenture stock, bonds, commercial
papers, acknowledgements, deposits notes, obligations, futures, calls, derivatives,
currencies and securities of any kind whatsoever, whether issued or guaranteed by
any person, company, firm, body, trust, entity, government, state, dominion
sovereign, ruler, commissioner, public body or authority, supreme, municipal, local

or otherwise, whether in India or abroad.

5. To Carry on and undertake the business of financial services like financial
restructuring/reorganization, investment counseling, portfolio management and all
activities and facilities of every description including all those capable of being
provided by bankers, stockbrokers, merchant-bankers, investment bankers, portfolio
managers, trustees, agents, advisors, consultants, providing other financial or related

services as permitted by law.

(ix) Details of change of name, registered office and objects of the Company over the last five years:
The Company was originally incorporated as Highland Leasing and Finance Private Limited and the
name of the company was changed to IFMR Capital Finance Private Limited vide fresh certificate of
incorporation received from the Registrar of Companies dated 19" June 2009. The Company
converted into a public limited company with effect from 6" December 2017 and changed its name
from IFMR Capital Finance Limited to Northern Arc Capital Limited with effect from 9" February
2018.

(x) Name of the Stock Exchange (s) where the securities of the Company is listed: the redeemable

non-convertible debentures of the Company are listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange Limited.



(xi) Details of the capital structure of the Company inéluding authorised, issued, subscribed and paid-

up capital of the Company:

1 |
PARTICULARS NO OF . PRICEPER I:Iq?d]\élll}]ﬁ% 1
SHARES ‘ SHARE (INR) ‘
Authorised Capital | |
_Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each 165,000,000 | 10 1650,000,000
Compulsorily Convertible Preference j
Shares of Rs 10/~ each 17,500,000 20 | 350,000,000 !
Redeemable preference shares of Rs. 20,000,000 10 200,000,000 :
10/~ each ; , A
TOTAL i 2,200,000,000
Issued, Subscribed and Paid Up
Capital B
| Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each 78,365,676 10 783,656,760 .
Compulsorily Convertible Preference 1 » 349,637,78
Shares of Rs 20/- each 17,481,889 | 20, 0
TOTAL 95,847,565 1,133,294,540



(xii) Names of directors along with addresses:

S. NAME OF ADDRESS DIN PAN DATE OF
NO DIRECTOR APPOINTMENT
1 Mr. Rajiv Lochan “Panchajanya” Door No. | 05309534 | ABUPL9403D 01* April 2018

nd § 11/1, Plot 10/1,
];, ependent Valliammai Aachi Road,
irector Kotturpuram Chennai
600085
2 Mr. Salim | TC No 9/738 (1), C 26, 06796232 | AALPS7777D 30™ April 2018
Gangadharan RNP Lane,
Vell balam,
Independent e ayambaa, .
Di Sasthamangalam,
trector Trivandrum 695010
3 Mr. John Fischer 4606, Winding Stone, 07908218 NIL 23 Aug 2017
Di CIR, Olney, MD 20832,
irector USA
4 Dr. Kshama D-3 Souza Enclave 02539429 | AADPF4018J) 1 Aug 2012
Fernandes- Madel Sal
Managing Director adel Margao Salcette
GA 403709
5 Mr. Samir Shah, 901 Satguru Sanskar Co- | 00912693 ' BEUPS7327R 19“‘ Jan 2018
Dir operative Housing
Irector Society Limited, No. 19,
TPS 1V, 3rd Road, Off
Turner Road, Bandra (
West ), Mumbai - 400
050
6 Dr. Susan Thomas- | Indira Gandhi Institute 00472794 | ACYPT2275]) 11" Oct 2011
Independent Of Development
Director Research,Gen A K
Vaidya Marg Film City
Road, Goregaon (East,
Mumbai, 400065,
Maharashtra, India
7 Mr. Rajesh Dugar- | 31, Chitrakoot, 00307729 | ABLPD3072B 21% Feb 2017
Nominee Director Altamount Road,
Mumbai — 400 026
8 Mr. Michael Jude Suraj Millenium, 13th 00064088 | AAAPF7795F 28" Mar 2014

Fernandes-
Nominee Director

Floor,

Bhulabhai Desai Road,

(<]




Mumbai, Maharashtra

India 400026

9 Ms. Vedika B-8, Floor-3, Plot-50, B, | 00033808 | AEUPB2687) 1" Nov 2016
Bhandarkar- Sea Face Park,
Independent Bhulabhai Desai Road,
Director Cumballa Hill, Mumbai
-400026
10 | Mr. Vijay Flat 2402, Planet 08020248 | AGOPN6892K 19" Jan 2018
Chakravarthi Godrej, Tower Terra,
) Keshavrao Khadye
Npmmee Marg, Mumbai - 400011
Director

(xiii) Relationship between the Companies:

IFMR Holdings Private Limited, is one of the current shareholders of the Company holding 47.88%

of the total paid-up capital of the company on a fully diluted basis.

Dvara Investments Private Limited is the 100% subsidiary of Dvara Trust and is the fellow subsidiary

of the Company.

(xiv) The date of the Board Meeting at which the scheme was approved by the Board of Directors —
the Scheme was unanimously approved by the Board of Directors at their meeting held on 19"

January 2018.

(xv) Appointed Date — 31* March 2017

{xvi) Amount Due to Secured Creditors — Rs.19,127,802,275.49

7 BACKGROUND OF IFMR HOLDINGS PRIVATE LIMITED

7. 1 IFMR Holdings Private Limited is a company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956,

having its registered office situated at IIT M Research Park, Phase I, 10" Floor, 1 Kanagam

Village (Behind Tidel Park), Taramani, Chennai — 600 113. The Corporate Identity Number of
the is U74900TN2013PTC094383 and the Permanent Account Number is AADCI4604C. The

Applicant Company is engaged in the business of technology solutions and also has

investments in group entities.

7.2 The Authorised, Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up share capital of the Demerged Company as on
31* March 2017 is Rs. 542,000,000 /- divided into 34,20,000 equity shares of Rs.100/- each and

20,00,000 compulsorily convertible preference shares of Rs. 100/- each. The issued, subscribed

10
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and paid-up capital of the Applicant Company as on 31* March 2017 is Rs. 418,753,800 /-
divided into 3,401,470 equity shares of Rs.100/- each and 786,068 cumulative compulsorily
convertible preference shares of Rs. 100/- each. Subsequent to 3 1st March 2018, the authorised
capital of the applicant Company, as on 19th July 2018, is Rs. 542,000,000 /- divided into
46,33,932 equity shares of Rs. 100/- each and 786,068 cumulative compulsorily convertible

preference shares of Rs. 100/- each.

7.3 The extracts of the main objects of the Applicant Company are us under:

8

1. To invest, buy, underwrite, acquire, hold, sell and deal in shares, debentures (whether
perpetual or redeemable), debenture stocks, bonds, obligations, and securities issued or
guaranteed by anybody corporate constituted and/or carrying on business in India or abroad
and debenture stocks, bonds, obligations, and securities issued or guaranteed by any
Government, State or Authority, Body Corporate, Firm or any person or association of

person whether in India or elsewhere and to deal with and turn to account the same.

2. To accumulate funds and to lend, advance money or to give credit, invest moneys belonging
to the Company to such persons, firms or Companies and on such terms as may seem
expedient and to guarantee the performance of any contract or obligation of the payment of
money of or by any such persons, firms or Companies and generally and to give guarantee

and indemnities.

To supervise, manage and control the affairs of the companies of which shares are held and
provide all support services required by such companies, as well as to external entities and/or
persons, as may be required, including Human Resources, Technology related services,
Accounting, Training, Operations, Manuals, Business and Profit Planning, Sales, Research and
Development, Marketing, Advertisement and Branding, General and other Administration and
such other services as required ; and to carry on agency business, financial and otherwise,

including agency for insurance brokers and/ or soliciting or procuring insurance business.

BACKGROUND OF DVARA INVESTMENTS PRIVATE LIMITED

8.1 Dvara Investments Private Limited is a company incorporated under the Companies Act, 2013,

having its registered office situated at IIT M Research Park, Phase I, 10" Floor, 1 Kanagam
Villagé (Behind Tidel Park), Taramani, Chennai — 600 113. The Applicant Company is
engaged in the business of investments. The Corporate Identity Number of the Company is
U67100TN2018PTC 120292 and the Permanent Account Number is AAGCD4892C

11
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9

8.2 The authorized capital of the Resulting Company/Transferor Company as on January 18, 2018 is

Rs. 10, 00,000 divided into 1, 00,000 equity shares of Rs. 10/- each. The issued, subscribed and
paid-up capital of the Resulting Company/Transferor Company as on January 18, 2018 is Rs. 1,
00,000/- divided into 10,000 equity shares of Rs.10/- each. SubseQuent to January 18, 2018,
there has been no change in the issued, subscribed and paid up capital of the Resulting

Company/Transferor Company.

The extracts of the main objects of the Resulting Company are us under:

1) To invest, buy, underwrite, acquire, hold, sell and deal in shares, debentures (whether

perpetual or redeemable), debenture stocks, bonds, obligations, and securities issued or
guaranteed by any - body corporate constituted and carrying on business in India or abroad
and debenture stocks, bonds, obligations, and securities issued or guaranteed by any
Government, State or Authority, Body Corporate, Firm or any person or association of person

whether in India or elsewhere and to deal with and turn to account the same.

2) To accumulate funds and to lend, advance money or to give credit, invest moneys belonging

to the Company to such persons, firms or Companies and on such terms as may seem
expedient and to guarantee the performance of any contract or obligation of the payment of

money of or by any such persons, firms or Companies and generally and to give guarantee

and indemnities.

RATIONALE FOR TH‘E SCHEME

The directors of the respective Companies have decided to demerge the Demerged
Undertaking of the Demerged Company into the Resulting Company and the subsequent
amalgamation of the Resulting Company into the Transferee Company, in order to benefit all

the Companies in the following manner:

(i) The Scheme would facilitate focussed growth, operational efficiencies, and business synergies

and increased operational and customer focus in relation to the respective businesses performed
by the companies. The Scheme would provide a vplatform for having a concentrated approach

towards development of the business.

(ii) The Scheme would enable streamlining of businesses carried on which would permit the

Companies to enhance their core activities and businesses laying the foundation for future

. growth.

12
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(iii) The Scheme would enable the shareholders to have direct control of their investments and the

businesses of the entities involved.

(iv) The proposed Scheme will enhance value for shareholders and allow a focused strategy in
operations which would be in the best interest of the Companies, shareholders, creditors and all

persons connected therewith.

(v) There is no likelihood that the interests of any shareholder or creditor of either the Companies
being prejudiced as a result of the Scheme. The Demerger and Amalgamation will not impose

any additional burden on the members/creditors or stakeholders of any of the Companies.

10 SALIENT FEATURES OF THE SCHEME

Please note that the features set out above are only salient features of the Scheme. The Secured
creditors are requested to read the entire text of the Scheme to get fully acquainted with the provisions
thereof. The Composite Scheme of Arrangement and Amalgamation shall be deemed to form part of

the explanatory statement.

i1 RESOLUTION PROPOSED TO BE APPROVED AT THE MEETING OF SECURED
CREDITORS:

The Resolution proposed to be considered in the above meeting, is given hereunder:

“RESOLVED that pursuant to the provisions of Section 230 read with Section 232 of the
‘Companies Act, 2013 (including any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment thereof for the
time being in force) and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, and the

enabling provisions of the Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association of the

Company and subject to the requisite approval(s), consents, sanctions and permissions of

Central Government, other concerned regulatory authorities and the sanction of the National
Company Law Tribunal, Chennai Bench (hereinafter also referred to as ‘NCLT or ‘the
Tribunal’) and/or such other appropriate authority/ ies, as may be applicable, if any, and all
such other approvals, permissions and sanctions, as may be necessary and subject to such
conditions and modifications as may be prescribed or imposed by any of them while granting
such approvals, permissions and sanctions, which may be agreed to by the Board of Directors
of the Company, the Scheme of Arrangement (Demerger) and Amalgamation between IFMR
Holdings Private Limited and Dvara Investments Private Limited and Northern Arc Capital

Limited, placed before this meeting, be and is hereby approved.”

13
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“RESOLVED FURTHER that for the purpose of giving effect to the above resolution and for
removal of any difficulties or doubts, any of the Directors of the Company (hereinafter referred
to as the “Board”, which term shall include any Committee constituted by the Board of
Directors of the Company or any person(s) authorised by the Board to exercise the powers
conferred on the Board of Directors of the Company by this resolution), be and are hereby
jointly authorised to do all things and to take all incidental and necessary steps for and on
behalf of the Company and to take from time to time all decisions and steps necessary,
expedient or proper, with respect to implementation of the above mentioned resolution, and
also to take all other decisions as it/they may, in its/their absolute decision, deem appropriate
and to deal with all questions or difficulties that may arise in the course of implementing the

above resolution.”

12 OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE SCHEME

i.  The Demerged, Resulting/Transferor Company and the Applicant/Transferee Company
have made applications before the National Company Law Tribunal, Chennai Bench, as
per Rule 3(1) of the Companies (Compromises, Arrangements and Amalgamations) Rules,
2016 for the sanction of the Scheme under Section 230 read with Section 232 of the

Companies Act, 2013.

ii. Inrelation to the meeting of the Secured Creditors of the Applicant Company, the Secured
Creditors of the Applicant Company whose names are appearing in the records of the
Applicant Company as filed with the National Company Law Tribuﬁal, Chennai shall be
eligible to attend and vote either in person or by proxy at the meeting of the Secured

Creditors of the Applicant Company convened at the directions of the Tribunal.

ili. No investigation proceedings have been instituted or are pending under Sections 235 to
251 of the Companies Act, 1956 or the corresponding provisions of the Companies Act,

2013 against the Companies.

iv.  As directed by the National Company Law Tribunal, Division Bench, Chennai, the Notice
pursuant to Section 230(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 in the prescribed format along with
a copy of the Scheme, the Statement and the disclosures provided herewith has been

served on the Statutory Authorities, as applicable including the Registrar.

14
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13 INSPECTION

The following documents will be open for inspection at the Registered Office of the Applicant
Company up to 2 (two) days prior to the date of the meeting on all working days (except

Saturdays, Sundays and Public Holidays) between 11.00 A.M.to 1.00 P.M.

i. Certified copy of the order passed by the National Company Law Tribunal, Chennai Bench
passed in CA/159 to 161/CAA/2017, dated 27th August 2018, inter alia, directing the
convening, conducting and holding of the meeting of the Secured Creditors / Secured
Creditors of the Applicant Company and inter alia, dispensing with the convening, conducting

and holding of the meeting of the Equity Shareholders of the Applicant Company

ii. Copies of the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Demerged,

Resulting/Transferor and the Transferee Company;

ili. Copies of the annual reports and the latest financial statements of the Transferee Company for
the last three financial years 2015-16, 2016-17 and 2017-18.

iv.Copy of the Statutory Auditors’ Certificate dated June 12, 2018 issued by Statutory Auditors
of Transferee Company confirming that the accounting treatment provided in the Scheme is in

compliance with Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013;

v. Register of Directors’ Shareholding of the Demerged, Resulting/Transferor and the

Transferee Company;

vi.Copies of the resolution dated 19" January 2018 passed by the Board of Directors of the
Transferee Company and resolution dated 18.01.2018 passed by the Board of Directors of the
Demerged Company and resolution dated 15.01.2018 passed by Board of Directors of

Resulting/Transferor approving the Scheme.

vii.Copy of the Scheme of Arrangement (Demerger) and Amalgamation.

15



This Statement may be treated as a Statement under Section 230(3) of the Companies Act,
2013. A copy of the Scheme, the Statement and the Form of Proxy may be obtained from the
Registered Office of the Applicant Company at IIT M Research Park, Phase I, 10" Floor, 1
Kanagam Village (Behind Tidel Park), Taramani, Chennai — 600 113 and/or the Office of M/s,
Pawan Jhabakh, Advocates, New no.115, Luz Church Road, Mylapore, Chennai — 600 004.

Place: Chennai

Ms. Bama Balakrishnan

Chairman of the Meeting
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Private & Confidential

SCHEME OF ARRANGEMENT (DEMERGER) AND AMALGAMATION
BETWEEN

IFMR HOLDINGS PRIVATE LIMITED

AND
DVARA INVESTMENTS PRIVATE LIMITED

| AND

NORTHERN ARC CAPITAL LIMITED
AND

THEIR RESPECTIVE SHAREHOLDERS AND CREDITORS

(Under Section 230 to 232 and other Applicable provisions of the Companies
Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder)

PART 1

PREAMBLE & RATIONALE TO THE SCHEME

(A) IFMR Holdings Private Limited (hereinafter referred to as “Demerged
Company” or “IFMR Holdings”), was incorporated under the Companies

- Act, 1956 in the State of Tamil Nadu. The registered office of the Demerged
Company is situated at IIT M Research Park, Phase 1, 10" Floor, 1 Kanagam
Village (Behind Tidel Park), Taramani, Chennai — 600 113. The Demerged
Company is engaged in the business of technology solutions and also has
in\)estment in group entities (hereinafter referred to as the “Business of the

Demérged Company”).

(B) Dvara Investments Private Limited (hereinafter referred to as “Resulting
Company” or “Transferor Company” or “Dvara Investments”), was
incorporated under the Companies Act, 2013 in the State of Tamil Nadu. The
registered office of the Resulting Company is situated at [IT M Research Park,
Phase I, 10" Floor, 1 Kanagam Village (Behind Tidel Park), Taramani,
Chennai — 600 113. The Resulting Company is engaged in the business of



©

D)

investments (hereinafter referred to as the “Business of the Resulting

Company /Transferor Company”).

Northern Arc Capital Limited (formerly known as IFMR Capital Finance
Limited) (hereinafter referred to as “Transferee Company” or “ Northern
Arc”), was incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956 in the State of Tamil
Nadu. The registeréd office of the Transferee Company is situated at 1IT M
Research Park, Phase [, 10" Floor, 1 Kanagam Village (Behind Tidel Park),
Taramani, Chennai — 600 113. The Transferee Company is registered as a
systemically important non-banking finance company and is engaged in the
business of, inter alia, providing access to debt finance, investments, devising
various schemes for raising funds and undertaking business of financial
services like financial restructuring/reorganization (hereinafter referred to as

the “Business of the Transferee Company”).

The directors of the respective Companies have decided to demerge the
Demerged Undertaking of the Demerged Company into the Resulting
Company and the subsequent amalgamation of the Resulting Company into
the Transferee Company, in order to benefit all the Companies in the following

manner:

(i) The Scheme would facilitate focussed growth, operational efficiencies,
business synergies and increased operational and customer focus in
relation to the respective businesses performed by the companies. The
Scheme would provide a platform for having a concentrated approach

towards development of the business.

(i1) The Scheme would enable streamlining of businesses carried on which
would permit the Companies to enhance their core activities and

businesses laying the foundation for future growth.

(ii))The Scheme would enable the shareholders to have direct control of

their investments and the businesses of the entities involved.

(iv)The proposed Scheme will enhance value for shareholders and allow a

focused strategy in operations which would be in the best interest of



the Companies, shareholders, creditors and all persons connected

therewith.

(v) There is no likelihood that the interests of any shareholder or creditor
of either the Companies being prejudiced as a result of the Scheme.
The Demerger and Amalgamation will not impose ahy additional
burden on the members/creditors or stakeholders of any of the

Companies.

1.1 Under the Scheme of Arrangement (Demerger) and Amalgamation, the

following activities are envisaged in a sequential manner:

» Demerger of the Demerged Undertaking of IFMR Holdings Private
Limited into Dvara Investments Private Limited.

» The Amalgamation of Dvara Investments Private Limited with Northern
Arc Capital Limited. '

1.2 This Scheme of Arrangemént (Demerger) Amalgamation provides for:
(a) Part 3 - Demerger of the Demerged Undertaking of [IFMR Holdings Private
Limited into Dvara Investments Private Limited.
(b) Part 4 — Amalgamaﬁon of Dvara Investments Private Limited with

Northern Arc Capital Limited.

PART 2
DEFINITIONS

2.1 In this Scheme, unless repugnant to the meaning or context thereof, the

following expressions will have the following meanings:

(a) “Act” means the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder and

as may be applicable.



(b) “Appointed Date for Demerger” means the date from which Part 3 of
this Scheme shall become operative viz. March 31, 2017 or any other date
as the National Company Law Tribunal may direct or approve under the
relevant provisions of the Act and approved by the Demerged Company
and the Resulting Company.

(c) “Appointed Date for Amalgamation” means the date from which this
Part 4 of this Scheme shall become operative viz. March 31, 2017 or any
other date as the National Company Law Tribunal may direct or approve
under the relevant provisions of the Act and approved by the Companies.

(d) “Tribunal Order” shall mean the order of the National Company Law
Tribunal approving and sanctioning the Scheme of Arrangement
(Demerger) and Amalgamation.

(e) “Effective Date” means the date or last of the dates on which the certified.
copy of the order of the Tribunal sanctioning this Scheme is filed with the
concerned Registrar of Companies by the‘Demerged Company, Resulting
Company and the Transferee Company. Any references in this Scheme to
“upon the Scheme becoming effective” or “upon the Scheme coming into

effect” shall mean the “Effective Date”.

(f) “NACAS” shall mean National Advisory Committee on Accounting
Standards.

(g) “NCLAT?” shall mean the National Company Law Appellate Tribunal.

(h) “Record Date (1)” means the date to be fixed by the Board of Directors
of the Demerged Company, in consultation with the Resulting Company
for the purpose of determining the shareholders of the Demerged Company
to whom shares of the Resulting Company shall be allotted pursuant to the
Scheme of Arrangement (Demerger) under Part 3 of the Scheme.

(i) “Record Date (2)” means the date to be fixed by the Board of Directors
of the Transferor Company, in consultation with the Demerged Company
and the Transferee Company for the purpose of determining the

shareholders of the Resulting / Transferor Company to whom shares of the




Transferee Company shall be allotted pursuant to the amalgamation under
Part 4 of the Scheme.
(J) “Demerged Company” means IFMR Holdings Private Limited.

(k) “Demerged Undertaking” means and includes the:

(N aggregator business of the Demerged Company wherein the
Demerged Company acts as a customer interface for non-
government subscribers / individual citizens, who wish to open
Permanent Retirement Account Number (PRAN) with Central
Record Keeping Agency (CRA) for the purpose of subscribing
to National ‘Pension System. The Aggregator perform the
following activities for the subscriber.

(a) NPS - Swavalamban Awareness

(b) Subscriber Registration

(c) Subscriber Servicing

(d) Grievance Handling

(e) Withdrawal request processing

2 the entire investments of the Demerged Company in the
Transferee Company,

in each case, along with all its assets, liabilities, related activities, functiéns

and operations, as more particularly described under Schedule A, as a going

concern (as on the Appointed Date for Demerger and as modified and altered
from time to time to the Effective Date) and shall include:

i) All the assets and liabilities forming part of the Demerged Undertaking as
on the Appointed Date for Demerger;

it)  All debts, liabilities, duties and obligations includihg reserves, if any,
appertaining or allocated to the Demerged Undertaking as on the
Appointed Date for Demerger;

iii) Without prejudice to the generality of sub-clauses (i) and (ii) above, the
Demerged Undertaking of the Demerged Company shall include all assets
and properties, whether movable or immovable, real or personal, fixed
assets, in possession or reversion, corporeal or incorporeal, tangible or

intangible, present assets including stock, investments, claims, powers,



authorities, allotments, approvals, licenses, registrations, contracts,
engagements, arrangements, rights, titles, interests; benefits, advantages,
lease-hold rights, tenancy rights, permits, authorisations, quota rights,
trademarks, copyrights, patents and intellectual properties, including
reserves, provisions, funds, import quotas, import licenses, industrial
designs, labels, label designs, equipment and installations and utilities,
electricity, water and other service connections, records, files, employees,
employee related data, contributions made for the benefit of employees to
any insurance fund, provident fund, labour welfare fund, employee state
insurancé, gratuity fund, brochures, quotations, customer credit
information, benefits of agreements, contracts and arrangements, powers,
authorities, books, accounts, registers, websites, list of customers, lists of
service providers, balances with all regulatory authorities, liberties,
advantages, subsidies, tax advantages / deferrals / exemptions, easements
and all the right, title, interest, goodwill, reserves, provisions, advances,
receivables, funds, cash; bank balances, accounts, earnest moneys/ security

deposits and all other rights, legal proceedings by and against the Demerged

‘Undertaking, charges and securities attributable to Demerged Undertaking,

insurance claims, prepaid expenses, claims and powers, of whatsoever
nature and where so ever situated belonging to or in the possession of or
granted in favour of or enjoyed by the Demerged Undertaking of the
Demerged Company, as on the commencement of the Appointed Date for
Demerger and all earnest money and/or deposits including security deposits
paid by the Demerged Company in relation to the Demerged Undertaking
as on the commencement of the Appointed Date for Demerger and all other
rights, benefits available under‘any rules, regulations, statutes including
direct and indirect tax laws in relation to the Demerged Undertaking and in
each case, as on the Appointed Date for Demerger and as modified and

altered from time to time to the Effective Date.

() Party or parties means:

(1)

IFMR Holdings Private Limited;



(ii) Dvara Investments Private Limited; and

(iii) Northern Arc Capital Limited

individually or collectively as the case may be.

(m)“Remaining Business” means and includes all the undertakings,

()

(o)
(p)

(q)

(r)

businesses, activities and operations of the Demerged Company (including
all assets, liabilities, contracts, arrangements, investments, titles, interest,
rights, obligations, authorizations, etc. relating thereto), other than those
comprised in the Demerged Undertaking.

“Resulting Company” and “Transferor Company” means Dvara
Investments Private Limited.

“Transferee Company” means Northern Arc Capital Limited.

“Scheﬁle of Arrangement (Demerger) and Amalgamation” or
“Scheme” or “The Scheme” or “This Scheme” means this Scheme of
Arrangement (Demerger) and Amalgamation in its present form or with
any modification(s) approved, imposed, or directed by the Tribunal.
“National Company Law Tribunal” or “Tribunal” shall mean the
National Company Law Tribunal, Chennai as constituted and authorized
as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 for approving any
scheme of arrangement, compromise or reconstruction of companies under
section 230 to 240 of the Companies Act, 2013.

“Undertaking” shall mean and include the whole of the undertaking of
the Transferor Company, pursuant to effectiveness of the Scheme of
Arrangement (Demerger), as a going concern, including its businesses, all
secured and unsecured debts, liabilities, duties and obligations and all the
assets, properties, rights, titles and benefits, whether movable or
immovable, real or persqnal, in possession or reversion, corporeal or
incorporeal, tangible or intangible, present or contingent and including but
without being limited to land and building (whether owned, leased,
licensed), all fixed and movable plant and machinery, vehicles, fixed
assets, work in progress, current assets, investments, reserves, provisions,

funds, licenses, registrations, accreditations to trade and industrial bodies,

A3
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copyrights, patents, trade namés, trade marks and other rights and licenses
in respect thereof, applications for copyrights, patents, trade names, trade
marks, leases, licenses, tenancy rights, premises, ownership flats, hire
purchase and lease arrangements, lending arrangements, benefits of
security arrangements, computers, office equipment, telephones, telexes,
facsimile connections, communication facilities, equipment and

installations and utilities, electricity, water and other service connections,

'employees, employee related data, contributions made for the benefit of

employees to ‘any insurance fund, provident fund, labour welfare fund,
employee state insurance, gratuity fund, brochures, quotations, customer
credit information, benefits of agreements, contracts and arrangements,
powers, authorities, permits, allotments, approvals, consents, privileges,
libertiés, advantages, books, accounts, registers, websites, liét of
customers, lists of service providers, subsidies, tax advantages / deferrals
/ exemptions, easements and all the right, legal proceedings by and against
the Undertaking, charges and securities attributable to Undertaking,
insurance claims, prepaid expenses, title, interest, goodwill, benefit and
advantage, deposits, reserves, provisions, advances, receivables, deposits,
funds, cash, bank balances, accounts and all other rights, benefits of all
agreements, subsidies, grants, tax credits (including but not limited to

credits in respect of income tax, sales tax, value added tax, turnover tax,

service tax, etc), Software Licences, Domain / Websites etc., in connection

with or relating to the Transferor Company and other claims and powers,
of whatsoever nature and wheresoever situated belonging to or in the
possession of or granted in favour of or enjoyed by the Transferor

Company, as on the Appointed Date for Amalgamation.

All terms and words not defined in this Scheme shall, unless repugnant or
contrary to the context or meaning thereof, have the same meaning as
ascribed to them under the Act and other applicable laws, rules, regulations
and byelaws as the case may be, including any statutory modification or

re-enactment thereof from time to time.



2.2 SHARE CAPITAL AND FINANCIAL POSITION

22.L

222

223

The authorized capital of the Demerged Company as on March 31,2017 is Rs.
542,000,000 /- divided into 34,20,000 equity shares of Rs.100/- each and
20,00,000 compulsorily convertible preference shares of Rs. 100/- each. The
issued, subscribed and paid-up capital of the Demerged Company as on March
31,2017 is Rs. 418,753,800 /- divided into 3,401,470 equity shares of
Rs.100/- each and 786,068 cumulative compulsorily convertible preference
shares of Rs. 100/- each. Subsequent to March 31, 2017, there has been no
change in the issued, subscribed and paid up capital of the Demerged

Company.

The authorized capital of the Resulting Company/Transferor Company as on
January 18,2018 is Rs. 10, 00,000 divided into 1, 00,000 equity shares of Rs.
10/- each. The issued, subscribed and paid-up capital of the Resulting
Company/Transferor Company as on January 18, 2018 is Rs. 1, 00,000/-
divided into 10,000 equity shares of Rs.10/- each. Subsequent to January 18,
2018, there has been no change in the issued, subscribed and paid up capital

of the Resulting Company/Transferor Company.

The authorized capital of the Transferee Company as on March 31, 2017 is
Rs. 2,200,000,000, divided in 16,50,00,000 equity shares of Rs. 10 each and
1,75,00,000 compulsorily convertible preference shares of Rs. 20 each. The
issued, subscribed and paid-up capital of the Transferee Company as
on March 31, 2017 is Rs. 1,050,920,230 divided into 78,365,673 equity
shares of Rs. 10/- each and 13,363,175 compulsorily convertible preference
shares of Rs. 20/- each. Subsequent to March 31, 2017, the issued, subscribed
and paid up capital of the Transferee Company as on January 18, 2018 is Rs.
1,133,294,510 divided into 78,365,673 equity shares of Rs. 10/- each
and 17,481,889 compulsorily convertible pl"éference shares of Rs. 20/- each.

25
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2.2.4 The latest financial position of the Demerged Company as on March 31,2017

is as below:
Particulars Amount in Rs.
Net worth 2,783,513,382
Turnover (Gross Sales) 66,846,648
Current Assets 130,993,356

Non-Current Assets

2,743,316,454

Current Liabilities

79,546,935

Long Term Liabilities

11,249,493

2.2.5  The latest financial position of the Resulting Company /Transferor Company

as on January 18, 2018 is as below:

Particulars Amount in Rs.
Net worth 1,00,000
Turnover (Gross Sales) Nil
Currenp Assets 1,00,000
Non-Current Assets Nil
Current Liabilities - Nil
Long Term Liabilities Nil

2.2.6 The latest financial position of the Transferee Company as on March 31, 2017

is as below:

Particulars

Amount in Rs.

Net worth

5,001,141,219
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Turnover (Gross Sales) 3,604,196,892
Curfent Assets . | 13,610,766,825
Non-Current Assets 15,795,135,455
Current Liabilities | 13,337,725,350
| Long Term Liabilities : 10,988,722,376

2.2.7 The Companies involved under the Scheme are not subject to any investigation

or proceedings under the Companies Act, 1956 or the Companies Act, 2013.
Further, there exist no adverse comments or qualifications in the auditor’s
report for the financial year ending 2016-17 (wherever applicable) for the

Companies involved under the Scheme.

PART 3

DEMERGER OF THE DEMERGED UNDERTAKING OF IFMR HOLDINGS
PRIVATE LIMITED WITH DVARA INVESTMENTS PRIVATE LIMITED:

3.1

TRANSFER AND VESTING OF THE DEMERGED UNDERTAKING
OF IFMR HOLDINGS PRIVATE LIMITED INTO DVARA
INVESTMENTS PRIVATE LIMITED:

With effect from the Appointed Date for Demerger and upon the Scheme
becoming effective, the Demerged Undertaking of the Demerged Company
comprising all assets and liabilities of whatsoever nature and wheresoever
situated, shall, under the provisions of Section 230 to 232 and all other
applicable provisions, if any, of the Act, without any further act, deed, shall
stand transferred to and vested in or be deemed to be transferred to, and vested
in, the Resulting Company as a going concern so as to become, as and from
the Appointed Date for Demerger, the assets and liabilities of the Resulting
Company and there shall be vested in the Resulting Company all the rights,

titles, interests or obligations of the said Demerged Undertaking therein.

2
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Provided that for the purpose of giving effect to the vesting order passed under
Section 230 to 232 and all other applicable provisions, if any, of the Act, in
respect of this Scheme, the Resulting Company shall at any time pursuant to
the orders on this Scheme be entitled to get the recordal of the change in the
title and the appurtenant legal right(s) upon the vesting of such assets of the
Derﬁerged Company in accordance with the provisions of Section 230 to 232
of the Act, at the office of the respective Registrar of Assurances or any other
concerned authority, where any such property is situated.

All the movables including cash in hand, if any, of the Demerged Undertaking

capable of passing by manual delivery, shall be so delivered or endorsed as

@

the case may be, to the Resulting Company. Such delivery shall be made ona

date mutually agreed upon between the Board of Directors of the Demerged

Company and the Resulting Company.

In respect of movables of the Demerged Undertaking other than those
specified in clause 3.2 above, including sundry debtors, outstanding loans, and
advances, if any, recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received,
bank balances and deposits, if any, with government, semi-government, local
and other authorities and bodies and customers and other persons pertaining
to the Demerged Undertaking, the following modus operandi for intimating to
third parties shall to the extent possible be followed: |
) The Demerged Company may give notice in such form as it may
deem fit and proper, to each person, party, debtor, loanee or
depositee as the case may be, belonging to or related to the
Demerged Undertaking, that pursuant to the Tribunal having
sanctioned the Scheme, the said debt, loan, advances, bank balances
or deposits be paid or made good or held on account of the Resulting
Company as the person entitled thereto to the end and intent that the

right of the Demerged Company to recover or realize the same

stands extinguished with effect from the Appointed Date for

Y
L
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Demerger and that appropriate entry should be passed in its books
to record the aforesaid change;

(i)  The Resulting Company may also give notice in such form as it
may deem fit and proper to each person, debtor, loanee or
depositee, as the case may be, belonging to or related to the
Demerged Undertaking, that pursuant to the Tribunal having
sanctioned the Scheme, the said debt, loan or deposit be paid or
made good or held on account of the Resulting Company and that
the right of the Demerged Company to recover or realize the same
stands extinguished with effect from the Appointed Date for
Demerger.

In relation to other assets belonging to Demerged Undertaking, which require
separate documents for transfer, or which the Demerged Company and/or the
Resulting Company otherwise desire to transfer separately, the Demerged
Company and the Resulting Company each will execute such deeds,
documents or such other instruments or writings or create evidence, if any, as
may be necessary. |

The Demerged Company shall have taken all steps as may be necessary to
ensure that vacant, lawful, peaceful and unencumbered possession, right, title,
interest of its immovable property, if any in relation to the Demerged
Undertaking, is given to the Resulting Company.

With effect from the Appoiﬁted Date for Demerger, all debts, liabilities,
contingent liabilities, duties and obligations of every kind, nature and
description attributable to the Demerged Undertaking of the Demerged
Company shall, without any further act or deed, be transferred to, or be
deemed to be transferred to, the Resulting Company so as to become as from
the Appointed Date for Demerger, the debts, liabilities, contingent liabilities,
duties and obligations of the Resulting Company and the Resulting Company
undertakes to meet, discharge and satisfy the same. It is hereby clarified that
it shall not be nécessary to obtain the consent of any third party or other person

who is a party to any contract or arrangement by virtue of which such debts,

%
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liabilities, contingent liabilities, duties and obligations have arisen, in order to
give effect to the provisions of this sub-clause.

The transfer and vesting of the Demerged Undertaking as aforesaid, shall be
subject to the existing securities, charges, hypothecation and mortgages, if
any, subsisting in relation to any loans or borrowings of the Demerged
Undertaking, provided however, any reference in any security documents or
arrangements, to which the Demerged Company is a party, wherein the assets
of the Demerged Undertaking have been or are offered or agreed to be offered
as security for any financial assistance or obligations, shall be construed as
reference only to the assets pertaining to the Demerged Undertaking as are
vested in the Resulting Company by virtue of this Scheme, to the end and

intent that such security, charge, hypothecation and mortgage shall not extend

-or be deemed to extend, to any of the other assets of the Demerged Company

or any of the assets of the Resulting Company, provided further that the
securities, charges, hypothecation and mortgages (if any subsisting) over and
in respect of the assets or any part thereof of the Resulting Company shall
continue with respect to such assets or part thereof and this Scheme shall not
operate to enlarge such securities, charges, hypothecation or mortgages to
extend or be deemed ;co extend, to any of the assets of the Demerged
Undertaking vested in the Resulting Company, provided always that this
Scheme shall not operate to enlarge the security for any loan, deposit or facility
created by the Demerged Companies in relation to the Demerged Undertaking
which shall vest in the Resulting Company by virtue of the vesting of the
Demerged Undertaking with the Resulting Company. and the Resulting
Company shall not be obliged to create any further or additional security
therefore after the Scheme has become operative.

All the loans and advances and other facilities sanctioned, if any to the
Demerged Company in relation to the Demerged Undertaking by its bankers
and financial institutions prior to the Appointed Date for Demerger, which are
partly drawn or utilized shall be deemed to be the loans and advances

sanctioned to the Resulting Company and all the loans, advances and other

[
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facilities so drawn by the Demerged Company in relation to the Demerged
Undertaking (within the overall limits sanctioned by their bankers and
financial institutions) shall on the Effective Date be treated as loans, advances
and other facilities made available to the Resulting Company and all the
obligations of the Demerged Company in relation to the Demerged
Undertaking under any loan agreement shall be construed and shall become
the obligation of the Resulting Company without any further act or deed on
the part of the Resulting Company.

With effect from the Appointed Date for Demerger and upon the Scheme
becoming effective, all contracts deeds, bonds, agreements, insurance policies
and other instruments, if any, of whatsoever nature in relation to the Demerged
Undertaking of the Demerged Company, or to the benefit of which the
Demerged Undertaking of the Demerged Company may be eligible, and
subsisting or having effect on the Effective Date shali be in full force and effect
against or in favour of the Resulting Company, as the case may be, and may
be enforced by or against the Resulting Company as fully and effectually as
if, instead of the Demerged Company, the Resulting Company had been a
party thereto.

With effect from the Appointed Date for Demerger and upon the Scheme
becoming effective, all permits, quotas, rights, entitlements, licenses,
registrations, trademarks, patents, copy rights, privileges, powers, facilities,
subsidies, rehabilitation schemes, special status and other benefits or
privileges (granted by any Government body, local authority or by any other

person) of every kind and description of whatsoever nature in relation to the

Demerged Undertaking of the Demerged Company, or to the benefit of which

the Demerged Undertaking of the Demerged Company may be eligible, or
having effect immediately before the Effective Date, shall be and remain in
full force and effect in favour of or against the Resulting Company, as the case
may be, and may be enforced fully and effectually as if, instead bf the

Demerged Company, the Resulting Company had been a beneficiary or oblige

thereto.
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With from the Appointed Date for Demerger and upon the Scheme becoming
effective, any statutory licenses, permissions or approvals or consents required
to carry on the operations of the Demerged Undertaking of the Demefged
Company shall stand vested in or transferred to the Resulting Company
without any further act or deed, and shall be appropriately mutated by the
statutory authorities concerned therewith in favour of the Resulting Company.
The beﬁeﬁt of all such statutory and regulatory permissions, licenses,

approvals and consents including statutory licenses, approvals, permissions or

approvals or consents required to carry on the operations of the Demerged

Undertaking of the Demerged Company shall vest in and become available to
the Resulting Company pursuant to the Scheme.

Upon this Scheme becoming effective and with effect from the Appointed
Date for Demerger, (i) all taxes and duties payable or receivable by the
Demerged Company, accruing and relating to the Demerged Undertaking on
and from the Appointed Date for Demerger, including all advance tax
payments, tax deducted at source, any refund and claims shall, for all purposes,
be treated as advance tax payments, tax deducted at source, or refunds and
claims, as the case may be, of the Resulting Company; (ii) all unavailed tax
credits and exemptions, benefit of carried forward tax business losses,
unabsorbed depreciation and other statutory benefits, including in respect of
income tax (including tax deducted at source, tax collected at source, advance
tax, etc.), cenvat, customs, value added tax, sales tax, service tax etc. relating
to the Demerged Undertaking to which the Demerged Company is entitled to
shall be available to and vest in the Resulting Company, without any further
act or deed; and (iii) the Demerged Company and the Resulting Company are
permitted to revise and file their respective income tax returns, withholding
tax returns, including tax deducted at source certificates, sales tax/value added
tax returns, service tax returns and other tax returns for the period commencing
on and from the Appointed Date for Demerger, and to claim refunds/credits,
pursuant to the provisions of this Scheme. This Scheme has been drawn up to

comply with the conditions relating to “Demerger” as specified under Section
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2(19AA) of the Income-tax Act, 1961. If any terms or provisions of the
Scheme is/are inconsistent with the provisions of Section 2(19AA) of the
Income-tax Act, 1961, the provisions of Section 2 (19AA) of the Income-tax
Act, 1961 shall prevail and the Scheme shall stand modified to the extent
necessary to comply with Section 2(19AA) of the Income-Tax Act, 1961; such
modification to not affect other parts of the Scheme.

The Resulting Company shall enter into and/or issue and / or execute deeds,
writings or confirmations or enter into any tripartite agreement, confirmations
or novations to which the Demerged Undertaking of the Demerged Company
will, if necessary, also be a party in order to give formal effect to the provisions

of this Scheme, if it is so required or if it becomes necessary.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS:

All legal or other proceedings initiated by or against the Demerged Company
in respect of the Demerged Undertaking and pending on the Effective Date,
shall be continued to be prosecuted and enforced by the Resulting Company.
The Resulting Company also undertakes to deal with all legal or other
proceedings which may be initiated by or against the Demerged Company with
respect to the Demerged Undertaking and the Resulting Company further
undertakes to pay all amounts including interest, penalties, damages, etc.,
which may be called upon to pay or secure in respect of any liability or

obligation relating to the Demerged Undertaking, in future.

STAFF AND EMPLOYEES OF DEMERGED UNDERTAKING OF
THE DEMERGED COMPANY:
Upon the Scheme becoming effective, all the stéff, workmen and other
employees engaged in the Demerged Undertaking of the Demerged Company
immediately before Effective Date shall become the staff, workmen and
employees of the Resulting Company on the basis that :

() Their service shail have been continuous and shall not have

been interrupted by reason of the demerger;

33
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(b) The terms and conditions of service applicable to the said staff,
workmen or employees after such transfer shall not in any way
be less favorable to them thah those applicable to them
immediately before the transfer ; and

() It is expressly provided that as far as Provident Fund, Gratuity
Fund, Super Annuation Fund or any other Special Fund created
or existing for the benefit of the staff, workmen and the
employees of the Demerged Undertaking of the Demerged
Company are concerned, upon the Scheme becoming effective,
the Resulting Company shall stand substituted for the
Demerged Company for all purposes.

Each of the permissions, approvals, consents, sanctions, remissions, special
reservations, holidays, incentives, concessions and other authorizations in
relation to the Demerged Undertaking of the Demerged Company, shall stand
transferred by the order of the Tribunal to the Resulting Company. The
Demerged Company shall file the relevant intimations, for the record of the
statutory authorities who shall take them on file pursuant to the vesting orders
of the Tribunal. ;

For the purpose of giving effect to the vesting order passed under Section 230
and 232 of the Act in respect of this Scheme, the Resulting Company shall at
any time pursuant to the orders on this Scheme be entitled to get the recordal
of the change in the title and appurtenant legal right(s) upon the vesting of
such assets of the Demerged Undertaking of the Demerged Company in the
Resulting Company in accordance with the provisions of Section 230 and 232
of the Act. Upon the Scheme becoming effective and with effect from the
Appointed Date for Demerger, the filing of certified copies of the order of
Tribunal sanctioning this Scheme shall coﬁstitute a creation / modification of
charge in the name of the Resulting Company in accordance with the
applicable provisions of the Act and satisfaction of charge in respect of the
Demerged Company in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Act,

if there are any existing charges attaching to the Demerged Undertaking.

)
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3.18 Upon filing of Scheme with Tribunal and up to and including the Effective

Date:
(a)

(b)

()

The Demerged Company shall carry on and be deemed to have carried
on its business and activities relating to the Demerged Undertaking and
shall stand possessed of all its assets and properties referred to above,
in trust for the Resulting Company and shall accdunt for the same to
the Resulting Company. The Demerged Company shall hold the said
assets with utmost prudence until the Effective Date.

Upon this Scheme becoming effective and with effect from the
Appointed Date for Demerger, all assets acquired by the Demerged
Company after the Appointed Date for Demerger and prior to the
Effective Date, solely for operation of the Demerged Undertaking shall
be deemed to have been acquired for and on behalf of the Resulting
Company and shall also stand transferred to and vested in the Resulting
Company.

Upon this Scheme becoming effective, any liabilities attributable tb the
Demerged Undertéking that may arise or crystalize on or after the
Appointed Date for Demerger but which relate to period prior to the
Appointed Date for Demerger shall, without any further act or deed,
be transferred to, or be deemed to be transferred to the Resulting
Company so as to become, from the Appointed Date for Demerger, the
debts, liabilities, contingent liabilities, undertakings, duties and
obligationé of the Resulting Company and the Resulting Company

undertakes to meet, discharge and satisfy the same. Where any of the

~ liabilities pertaining to the Demerged Undertaking on the Appointed

Date for the Demerger have been discharged by the Demerged
Company after the Appointed Date for Demerger and prior to the
Effective Date, such discharge shall be deemed to have been for and

on béhalf of the Resulting Company.

[
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(d) The Demerged Company shall carry on its business activities with

respect to the Demerged Undertaking with reasonable diligence and
business prudence. The Demerged Company shall not undertake any
additional financial commitments, borrow any amounts or incur any
other liabilities or expenditure, issue any additional guarantees,
indemnities, letters of comfort or commitment in relation to the
Demerged Undertaking, or transfer, alienate, charge, mortgage or
encumber or deal with the Demerged Undertaking save and except
where a written consent of the Resulting Company has been obtained.

(e) Pending sanction of the Scheme, other than transfer of shares by its
| shareholders, the Demerged Company shall not make any change in its
capital structure either by any increase, (by issue of equity shares on a
rights basis, bonus shares, convertible debentures or otherwise)
decrease, reduction, reclassification, sub-division or consolidation; re-
organisation, or in any other manner except by mutual consent of the
respective Boards of Directors of the Demerged Company and the
Resulting Company or as may be expressly permitted under this

Scheme or as may be required to give effect to the Scheme.

CONTRACTS, DEEDS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

Subject to the other provisions of this Scheme, all contracts, deeds, bonds,
agreements, licences, permits, registrations, approvals and other instruments,
if any, of whatsoever nature to which the Demerged Company is a party and
subsisting or having effect on the Effective Date, shall be in full force and
effect against or in favour of the Demerged Company, in relation to the
Demerged Undertaking as the case may be, and may be enforced by or against
the Resulting Company as fully and effectually as if, instead of the Demerged
Company, the Resulting Company had been a party thereto. The Resulting
Company shall enter into and / or issue and / or execute deeds, writings or
confirmations or enter into any tripartite arrangements, confirmations or

novations, to which the Demerged Company will in relation to the Demerged

i{g’x?
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Undertaking, if necessary, also be party in order to give formal effect to the
provisions of this Scheme, if so required. Further, the Resulting Company
shall be deemed to be authorised to execute any such deeds, writings or
confirmations on behalf of the Demerged Company to implement or carry out
all formalities required on the part of the Demerged Company to give effect to

the provisions of this Scheme.

SAVING OF CONCLUDED TRANSACTIONS

The transfer of properties and liabilities of the Demerged Undertaking of the
Demerged Company under clause 3.1 to 3.13 above and the continuance of
proceedings by or against the Demerged Company in relation to thé Demerged
Undertaking under clause 3.14 above shall not affect any transaction or
proceedings already concluded by the Demerged Company till the Effective
Date, to the end and intent that the Resulting Company accepts and adopts all
acts, deeds and things done and executed by the Demerged Company in
respect thereto as done and executed on behalf of itself in respect of the

Demerged Undertaking.

REMAINING BUSINESS

3.21. The Remaining Business of the Demerged Company shall continue with the

Demerged Company as follows:

(1) The Remaining Business of the Demerged Company and all the assets,
liabilities and obligations pertaining thereto shall continue to belong to

and be vested in and be managed by the Demerged Company.

(i)  All legal and other proceedings by or against the Demerged Company
under any statute, whether pending on the Appointed Date for
Demerger or which may be instituted in future, whether or not in
respect of any matter arising before the Appointed Date for Demerger
and relating to the Remaining Business of the Demérged Company

(including those ‘relating to any property, right, power, liability,

—
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obligation or duty, of the Demerged Company in respect of the
Remaining Business of the Demerged Company shall be continued and

enforced by or against the Demerged Company.

CONSIDERATION

Upon the Scheme becoming fully effective, but immediately before the
allotment of securities pursuant to Part 4, in consideration of the demerger and
transfer and vesting of Demerged Undertaking, duties, rights and obligations
relating to the Demerged Undertaking of the Demerged Company in the
Resulting Company in terms of Part 3 of this Scheme:

“The Resulting Company shall without any further act or deed, issue and allot
56,017,149 equity shares of Rs.10 /- each credited as fully paid-up of the
Resulting Company for 3,401,470 equity shares of Rs.100/- each fully paid-
up held by the equity shareholders (16.47 equity share of Rs. 10/~ each for
every 1 equity share of Rs. 100/- each) and 12,548,528 compulsorily
convertible preference shares of Rs. 10 each credited as fully paid up of the
Resulting Company for 786,068 cumulative compulsorily convertible
preference shares of Rs. 100/~ each fully paid up held by the preference
shareholders (16.47 compulsorily convertible preference share of Rs. 10/-
each for every | compulsorily convertible preference share of Rs. 100/- each)

in the Demerged Company, as on the Record Date (1).”

The equity shares so issued and allotted, shall be fully paid and free of
encumbrance, and shall rank pari passu in all respects with the existing equity
shares of the Resulting Company provided that the shares so allotted shall rank
pari passu for dividend declared on or after the date of its allotment, subject to
the applicable statutory regulations. The rights, terms and conditions of the
aforementioned shares of the Resulting Company so allotted shall be similar

in all material respects to the existing of the Demerged Company. Fractions,

28
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if any, arising out of such allotment shall be rounded off to the nearest whole

number.

ACCOUNTING TREATMENT IN THE BOOKS OF THE DEMERGED
COMPANY

The Demerged Company shall upon the Scheme becoming effective, record
the deletion of the assets and liabilities of the Demerged Undertaking
transferred to and vested in the Resulting Company pursuant to this Scheme
at their respective book values as appearing in its books as at the close of

business of a day immediately preceding the Appointed Date for Demerger.

The difference between the value of assets and value of liabilities transferred
pursuant to the Scheme shall be appropriated against the reserves, if any, of
the Demerged Company. The balances of free reserves shall stand reduced to
such extent. Any unadjusted difference shall be accounted in Reserve

Account.

With the onset of Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) that is likely to be
effective form April 01, 2018, the financial statements will reflect as may be

necessary to be in compliance with Ind AS , when the same is implemented.

ACCOUNTING TREATMENT IN THE BOOKS OF THE RESULTING
COMPANY:

On the Scheme becoming effective:

a. The Resulting Company shall upon the Scheme becoming effective,
record the assets and liabilities of the Demerged Undertaking of the
Demerged Company transferred to and vested in it pursuant to this
Scheme at their existing carrying amounts as appearing in the books of
the Demerged Company as at the close of business of a day

immediately preceding the Appointed Date for Demerger.
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b. The excess / shortfall in the book value of the assets over the value of
the liabilities of the Demerged Undertaking of the Demerged Company
transferred to and vested in the Resulting Company pursuant to this
Scheme, shall after adjusting the aggregate face value of the shares
issued by the Resulting Company to the members of the Demerged
Company pursuant to this Scheme, be adjusted in the reserves of the

Resulting Company.

With the onset of Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) that is likely to be
effective form April 01, 2018, the financial statements will reflect as may be

necessary to be in compliance with Ind AS , when the same is implemented.

APPLICATION TO TRIBUNAL

3.26 A.The Demerged Company and the Resulting Company shall, with reasonable
despatch, apply to the Tribunal for necessary orders or directions for holding
meetings or dispensing with the meeting of the members/creditors of the
Demerged Company and the Resulting Company for sanctioning this Scheme
of Arrangement (Demerger) & Amalgamation under Section 230 to 232 and

the applicable provisions of the Act.
DATE OF TAKING EFFECT

3.26 B. Part 3 of the Scheme (i.e) the Demerger of the Demerged Undertaking of
IFMR Holdings Private Limited into Dvara Investments Private Limited

would take effect from the Appointed Date for Demerger.

PART 4
AMALGAMATION OF THE TRANSFEROR WITH THE TRANSFEREE
COMPANY:

TRANSFER OF UNDERTAKING
4.1 The Undertaking shall be transferred to, and vested in, or be deemed to be,

transferred to, and vested in the Transferee Company in the following manner:

%,
L
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(a)

(b)

With effect from the Appointed Date for Amalgamation, the whole of
the Undertaking of the Transferor Company comprising its entire
business, all assets and liabilities of whatsoever nature and
wheresoever situated, including the immovable properties, if any,
shall, under the provisions of Section 230 to 232 and other applicable
provisions of the Act, without any further act or deed (save as provided
in Sub-clauses (b), (¢) and (d) below), be transferred to and vested in
and/ or be deemed to be transferred to and vested in the Transferee
Company as a going concern so as to become, as from the Appointed
Date for Amalgamation, the Undertaking of the Transferee Company
and to vest in the Transferee Company all the rights, title, interest or

obligations of the Transferor Company therein.

Provided that for the purpose of giving effect to the vesting order
passed under Section 230 to 232 and other applicable provisions of the
Act in respect of this Scheme, the Transferee Company shall at any
time pursuant to the orders on this Scheme be entitled to get the
recordal of the change in the title and the appurtenant legal right(s)
upon the vesting of such assets of the Transferor Company in
accordance with the provisions of Section 230 to 232 and other
applicable provisions of the Act, at the office of the respective
Registrar of Assurances or any other concerned authority, where any

such property is situated.

With effect from the Appointed Date for Amalgamation and upon the

Scheme becoming effective, the land together with the buildings
standing thereon held by the Transferor Company (if any), and any
documents of title / rights and easements in relation thereto, shall be
vested in and transferred to and/or be deemed to have been transferred
to and vested in. the Transferee Company and shall belong to the
Transferee Company. With effect from the Effective Date, the
Transferee Company shall in relation to such properties, be liable for

ground rent and municipal taxes. The mutation of title to the

-
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immovable properties shall, if necessary, be made and duly recorded
by the appropriate authorities pursuant to the sanction of the Scheme
and upon the Scheme becoming effective in accordance with the terms
herein in favour of the Transferee Company.

(c) In respect of all the movable assets of the Transferor Company and the
assets which are otherwise capable of transfer by physical delivery or
endorsement and delivery or through any other modes of transfer,
including cash on hand, investments etc. (together with duly executed
transfer forms or other documents as may be required), shall be so
transferred to the Transferee Company and deemed to have been
physically handed over by physical delivery or by endorsement and
delivery, as the case may be, to the Transferee Company to the end and
intent that the property and benefit therein passes to the Transferee
Company with effect from the Appointed Date for Amalgamation.

(d) In respect of movables other than those spéciﬁed in sub-clause (c)
above, including sundry debtors, outstanding loans and advances, if
any, recoverable in cash or in kind or for value to be received, bank
balances and deposits, if any, with Government, Semi-Government,
local and other authorities and bodies, customers and other persons,
the following modus operandi for intimating third parties shall, to the

extent possible, be followed:

(1) The Transferee Company shall give notice in such form as it may deem
fit and proper, to each person, debtor, loanee or depositee as the case
may be, that pursuant to the Tribunal having sanctioned the Scheme,
the said debts, loans, advances, bank balances or deposits be paid or
made good or held on account of the Transferee Company as the
person entitled thereto to the end and intent that the right of the
Transferor Company to recover or realise the same stands extinguished
and that appropriate entry should be passed in its books to record the

aforesaid change;

P
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The Transferor Company shall also give notice in such form as it may
deem fit and proper to each person, debtor, loanee or depositee that
pursuant to the Tribunal having sanctioned the Scheme the said debt,
loan, advance or deposit be paid or made good or held on account of
the Transferee Company and that the right of the Transferor Company

to recover or realise the same stands extinguished.

In relation to the assets, if any, belonging to the Transferor Company,
which require separate documents of transfer, the Transferor Company
and the Transferee Company will execute necessary documents, as and
when required.

With effect from the Appointed Date for Amalgamation, all debts,
liabilities, contingent liabilities, duties and obligations of every kind,
nature, description, whether or not provided for in the books of
accounts and whether disclosed or undisclosed in the balance sheet of
the Transferor Company shall also, under the provisions of Section 230
to 232 and other applicable provisions of the Act, without any further
act or deed, be transferred to or be deemed to be transferred to the
Transferee Company so as to become as from the Appointed Date for
Amalgamation the debts, liabilities, contingent liabilities, duties and
obligations of the Transferee Company and it shall not be necessary to

obtain the consent of any third party or other person who is a party to

~ any contract or arrangement by virtue of which such debts, liabilities,

contingent liabilities, duties and obligations have arisen, in order to

give effect to the provisions of this sub-clause.

However, the Transferee Company may, at any time, after the coming
into effect of this Scheme in accordance hereof, if so required, under
any law or otherwise, execute deeds of confirmation in favour of the
secured creditors of the Transferor Company or in favour of any other
party to the contract or arrangement to which the Transferor Company

is a party or any writing, as may be necessary, in order to give formal
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effect to the above provisions. The Transferee Company shall under
the provisions of the Scheme be deemed to be authorised to execute
any such writings on behalf of the Transferor Company as well as to
implement and carry out all such formalities and compliances referred

to above.

The transfer and vesting of the Undertaking of the Transferor
Company as aforesaid shall be subject to the existing securities,
charges and mortgages, if any subsisting, over or in respect of the

property and assets or any part thereof of the Transferor Company.

Provided however that any reference in any security documents or
arrangements (to which the Transferor Company is a party) pertaining
to the assets of the Transferor Company offered, or agreed to be
offered, as security for any financial assistance or obligations, shall be
construed as reference only to the assets pertaining to the Undertaking
of the Transferor Company as are vested in the Transferee Company
by virtue of the aforesaid Clauses, to the end and intent that, such
security, charge and mortgage shall not extend or be deemed to extend,
to any of the other assets of the Transferor Company or any of the

assets of the Transferee Company.

Provided further that the sécurities, charges and mortgages (if any
subsisting) over and in respect of the assets or any part thereof of the
Transferee Company shall continue with respect to such assets or part
thereof and this Scheme shall not operate to enlarge such securities,
charges or mortgages to the end and intent that such securities, charges
and mortgagés shall not extend or be deemed to extend, to any of the

assets of the Transferor Company vested in the Transferee Company.

Provided always that this Scheme shall not operate to enlarge the
security for any loan, deposit or facility created by the Transferor
Company which shall vest in the Transferee Company by virtue of the

amalgamation of the Transferor Company with the Transferee
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Company and the Transferee Company shall not be obliged to create
any further or additional security therefore, after the amalgamation has

become operative.

In so far as the various incentives, subsidies, special status and other
Beneﬁts or privileges enjoyed, granted by any Government.body, local
authority or by any other person and availed of by the Transferor
Company are concerned, the same shall vest with, and be available to,
the Transferee Company on the same terms and conditions.

Loans or other obligations, if any, due between or amongst the
Transferor Company and the Transferee Company shall stand
discharged and there shall be no liability in that behalf. In so far as
any shares, securities, debentures or notes issued by the Transferor
Company, and held by the Transferee Company and vice versa are

concerned, the same shall, unless sold or transferred by the Transferor

‘Company or the Transferee Company, as the case may be, at any time

prior to the Effective Date, stand cancelled as on the Effective Date,
and shall have no effect and the Transferor Company or the Transferee
Company, as the case may be, shall have no further obligation
outstanding in that behalf. |

The Transferor Company shall have taken all steps as may be
necessary to ensure that vacant, lawful, peaceful and unencumbered
possession, right, title,vinterest of its immovable property, if any is
given to the Transferee Company.

With effect from the Appointed Date for Amalgamation, all permits,
quotas, rights, entitlements, tenancies and licenses relating to brands,
trademarks, patents, copy rights, privileges, powers, facilities of every
kind and description of whatsoever nature in relation to the

Undertaking of the Transferor Company and which are subsisting or

“having effect immediately before the Appointed Date for

Amalgamation, shall be and remain in full force and effect in favour

of the Transferee Company and may be enforced fully and effectually

i
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as if, instead of the Transferor Company, the Transferee Company had
been a beneficiary or oblige thereto.

With effect from the Appointed Date for Amalgamation, any statutory
licenses, permissions, approvals and/or consents held by the Transferor
Company required to carry on operations éhall stand vested in or
transferred to the Transferee Company without any further act or deed
and shall be appropriately mutated by the statutory authorities or any
other person concerned therewith in favour of the Transferee
Company. The benefit of all statutory and regulatory permissions,
licenses, environmental approvals and consents including the statutory
licenses, permissions or approvals or consents required to carry on the
operations of the Transferor Company shall vest in, and become
available to, the Transferee Company pursuant to the Scheme coming
into effect. »

The entitlement to various benefits under incentive schemes and
policies in relation to the Undertaking of the Transferor Company shall
stand transferred to, and be vested in, and/or be deemed to have been
transferred to, and vested in, the Transferee Company together with all
benefits, entitlements and incentives of any nature whatsoever. Such

entitlements shall include (but shall not be limited to) income-tax,

- unexpired credit for minimum alternate tax, minimum alternate tax,

fringe benefit tax, sales tax, value added tax, turnover tax, excise duty,
service tax, customs and other and incentives in relation to the
Undertaking of the Transferor Company to be claimed by the
Transferee Company with effect from the Appointed Date for
Amalgamation as if the Transferee Company was originally entitled to
all such benefits under such incentive scheme and/or policieé, subject
to continued compliance by the Transferee Company of all the terms
and conditions subject to which the benefits under such incentive

schemes were made available to the Transferor Company.
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Since each of the permissions, approvals, consents, sanctions,
remissions (including remittance under income-tax, minimum
alternate tax, fringe benefit tax, sales tax, value added tax, turnover tax,
excise duty, service tax , customs), special reservations, sales tax
remissions, holidays, incentives, concessions and other authorizations
relating to the Undertaking of the Transferor Company, shall stand
transferred under this Scheme to the Transferee Company, the
Transferee Company shall file the relevant intimations, if any, for the
record of the statutory authorities who shall take them on file, pursuant
to the Scheme coming into effect.

From the “Effective Date” and till such time that the names of the bank
accounts of the Transferor Company are replaced with that of the
Transferee Company, the Transferee Company shall be entitled to
operate the bank accounts of the Transferor Company, in its name, in

so far as may be necessary.

This Part of the Scheme has been drawn up to comply with the conditions relating to

“Amalgamation” as specified under Section 2(1B) of the Income Tax Act, 1961. If

any terms or provisions of the Scheme are found or interpreted to be inconsistent with

the provisions of the said Section of the Income Tax Act, 1961, at a later date including

resulting from an amendment of law or for any other reason whatsoever, the

provisions of the said Section of the Income Tax Act, 1961, shall prevail and the

Scheme shall stand modified to the extent determined necessary to comply with

Section 2(1B) of the Income Tax Act, 1961. Such modification will however not affect

the other parts of the Scheme.

CONSIDERATION

4.2

Upon the Scheme becoming fully effective, in consideration of the transfer and

vesting of the Undertaking of the Transferor Company in the Transferee

Company in terms of the Scheme, shareholders of the Transferor Company as

on the Record Date (2) shall be allotted 37,481,227 equity shares of Rs.10 /-

each credited as fully paid up of the Transferee Company in respect of
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56,027,149 equity shares of Rs. 10/- each held by equity shareholders of
Transferor Company (0.67 equity share of Rs. 10/- each for every 1 equity
share of Rs. 10/- each) and 8,406,459 equity shares of Rs. 10/- each credited
as fully paid up of the Transferee Company in respect of 12,548,528
compulsorily convertible preference shares of Rs. 10/- each held by preference
shareholders of Transferor Company (0.67 Equity Share of Rs. 10/- each for
every 1 compulsorily convertible preference share of Rs. 10/- each)..
Fractions, if any, arising out of such allotment shall be rounded off to the nearest
whole number. )

Upon the equity shares being issued and allotted, as aforesaid by the Transferee
Company, the equity shares issued by the Transferor Company and held by its
shareholders, whether in dematerialised or physical form, shall be deemed to
have been automatically cancelled and of no effect.

The equity shares to be issued and allotted by the Transferee CCmpany as
aforesaid in terms of this Scheme shall be fully paid and free of encumbrance,
and shall rank pari passu in all respects with the existing equity shares of the
Transferee Company but shall not rank for dividend for the period prior to the

Appointed Date for Amalgamation.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

4.5

4.6

All suits, actions and proceedings of whatsoever nature by or ‘against the
Transferor Company on the Appointed Date for Amalgamation shall be
transferred to the name of the Transferee Company and the same shall be
continued and enforced by or against the Transferee Company, to the
exclusion of the Transferor Company, as the case may be.

[f proceedings are taken against any Transferor Company, in respect of matters
referred to above, it shall defend the same in accordance with the advice of]
and at the cost of, the Transferee Company, as the case may be from Appointed
Date for Amalgamation till Effective Date, and the latter shall reimburse and
indemnify such Transferor Company, against all liabilities and obligations

incurred by the said Transferor Company in respect thereof.
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CONTRACTS, DEEDS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

4.7

4.8

4.9

Subject to the other provisions contained in the Scheme, all contracts, deeds,
bonds, agreements, insurance policies and other instruments of whatsoever
nature to which the Transferor Company are a party, subsisting or having
effect immediately before this arrangement under this Scheme, shall be, in full
force and effect, against or in favour of the Transferee Company, and may be
enforced as fully and as effectively as if instead of the Transferor Company,
the Transferee Company had been a party thereto. The Transferee Company

shall enter into and / or issue and / or execute deeds, writings or confirmations

or enter into any tripartite arrangement, confirmations or novations to which.

the Transferor Company will, if necessary, also be party in order to give formal
effect to the provisions of this clause, if so required or become necessary.

As a consequence of the amalgamation of the Transferor Company with the
Transferee Company in accordance with this Scheme, the recording of change
in name from the Transferor Company to the Transferee Company, whether
for the purposes of any licence, permit, approval or any other reason, or
whether for the purposes of any transfer, registration, mutation or any other
reason, shall be carried out by the concerned statutory or regulatory or any
other authority without the requirement of payment of any transfer or
registration fee or any other charge or imposition whatsoever.

The Transferee Company may, at any time, after the coming into the effect of
this Scheme in accordance with the provisions hereof, if so required, under
any law or otherwise, execute deeds of confirmation in favour of any party to
any cdntract_or arrangement to which the Transferor Company are a party or
any writings, as may be necessary, to be executed in order to give formal effect
to the above provisions. The Transferee Company shall under the provisions
of the Scheme be deemed to be authorised to execute any such writings on
behalf of the Transferor Company, implement or carry out all such formalities
or compliances referred to above on the part of the Transferor Company, as

the case may be, to be carried out or performed.
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For the removal of doubts, it is expressly made clear that the dissolution of the

Transferor Company without the process of winding up as contemplated

hereinafter, shall not, except to the extent set out in the Scheme, affect the

previous operation of any contract, agreement, deed or any instrument or
beneficial interest to which the Transferor Company are a party thereto and
shall not affect any right, privilege, obligations or liability, acquired, or
deemed to be acquired prior to Appointed Date for Amalgamation and all such
references in such agreements, contracts and instruments to the Transferor
Company shall be construed as reference only to the Transferee Company with

effect from the Appointed Date for Amalgamation.
CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

With effect from the Appointed Date for Amalgamation and up to and
including the Effective Date:

The Transferor Company shall carry on, and be deemed to have been carrying
on, all busiqess activities and shall be deemed to have been held for and on
account of, and in trust for, the Transferee Company.

All profits or income or taxes, including but not limited to income tax, fringe
benefit tax, advance taxes, tax deducted at source by or on behalf of the
Transferor Company, wealth tax, sales tax, value added tax, excise duty,
service tax, customs duty, refund, reliefs, etc, accruing or arising to the
Transferor Company, or losses arising or expenditure incurred by them, on
and from Appointed Date for Amalgamation up to the Effective Date, shall for
all purposes be treated as, and be deemed to be treated as, the profits or income
or losses or expenditure or the said taxes of the Transferee Company.

The Transferor Company shall carry on their business activities with proper
prudence and diligence and shall not, without prior written consent of the
Transferee Company, alienate, charge or otherwise deal with or dispose of any
of their business undertaking(s) or any part thereof (except in the ordinary
course of business or pursuant to any pre-existing obligations undertaken by

the Transferor Company prior to the Appointed Date for Amalgamation).
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The Transferee Company shall also be entitled, pending the sanction of the
Scheme, to apply to the Central Government, State Government, and all other
agencies, departments and statutory authorities concerned, wherever
necessary, for such consents, approvals and sanctions which the Transferee
Company may require including the registration, approvals, exemptions,
reliefs, etc., as may be required / granted under any law for time being in force
for carrying on business by the Transferee Company.

The Transferor Company shall not hereafter make any modification to their
capital structure, either by an increase (by issue of rights shares, bonus shares,
convertible debentures or otherwise), decrease, reclassification, sub-division
or reorganisation or in any other manner, whatsoever, except by mutual
consent of the Boards of Directors of the Transferor Company and of the

Transferee Company.

The Transferor Company shall not vary, except in the ordinary course of
business, the terms and conditions of the employment of their employees

without the consent of the Board of Directors of the Transferee Company.

STAFF AND EMPLOYEES OF TRANSFEROR COMPANY

4.17

All the executives, staff, workmen, and other employees in the service of the

Transferor Company, immediately before the Appointed Date for

Amalgamation, under this Scheme shall become the executives, staff, .

workmen, and other employees of the Transferee Company, on the basis that:

a) Their services shall have been continuous and shall not have been
interrupted by reason of such transfer as if such transfer is effected under

Section 25FF of the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947,

b) The terms and conditions of service applicable to the said staff, workmen,
and other employees after such- transfer shall not in any way be less
favourable to them than those épplicable to them immediately before the

transfer;

]
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¢) In the event of retrenchment of such staff, workmen, or other employees,
the Transferee Company shall be liable to pay compensation in accordance
with law on the basis that the services of the staff, workmen, or other
employees shall have been continuous and shall not have been interrupted

by reason of such transfer; and

d) It is provided that as far as the Provident Fund, Gratuity, Pension,
Superannuation Fund or any other special funds that are applicable to the
_employees of the Transferee Company and existing in the Transferee
Company for the benefit of the staff, workmen and other employees of the
Transferee Company shall also be extended to the employees of the
Transferor Company upon the Scheme becoming finally effective. The
said benefits shall be extended to the employees of the Transferor
Company even if such benefits were not available to the employees during
their tenure in the Transferor Company, by virtue of non-applicability of
the relevant provisions to the Transferor Company. Notwithstanding what
is stated herein above in respect of applicability of Employees Provident
Fund to the employees of Transferor Company with retrospective effect
from a date to be determined by the Board of Directors of Transferee
company the extension of benefit to the employees of Transferor .Company
shall be subject to the provisions of The Employees Provident Fund and
Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952 and the approvals of the authorities
concerned for giving effect to the implementation date. It is the aim and
the intent of the Scheme that all the rights, duties, powers and obligations,
in whatsoever nature, that are available to the employees of the Transferee
Company shall also be available to all the employees of the Transferor
Company in relation to Provident Fund, Gratuity and Pension and/ or
Superannuation Fund or any other special fund, however subject to the

provisions of the relevant and applicable statutes.
AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL

4.18  Upon the Scheme becoming fully effective, the authorised share capital of the

Transferor Company shall stand combined with the authorised share capital of
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the Transferce Company. Filing fees and stamp duty, if any, paid by the
Transferor Company on its authorised share capital, shall be deemed to have
been so paid by the Transferee Compény on the combined authorised share
capital and accordingly, the Transferee Company shall not be required to pay
any fee/ stamp duty for its increased authorised share capital.

Clause V of the Memorandum of Association and Article 3 of the Articles of
Association of the Transferee Company shall, without any further act,
instrument or deed, be and stand altered, modified and amended pursuant to
the applicable provisions of the Act by deleting the existing Clause and
replacing it respectively by the by the following:

@) Clause V of Memorandum of Association:

“V. The authorized share capital of the Company is Rs. 2,200,000,000 .

divided into 165,000,000 equity shares of Rs.10/- each.” And
17,500,000 compulsorily convertible preference shares of Rs. 20/- each
and 20,000,000 redeemable préference shares of Rs. 20/- each.

The Company has power to increase or reduce the Capital and to issue
any part of its Capital, original or increased with or without any
preferences, priority or special privilege or subject to any postponement
of rights or to any conditions or restrictions, so that unless the conditions
of issue shall otherwise be subject to the power herein contained. The
right and privileges attached to any shares having preferential, qualified

~ or special rights, privileges or conditions attached thereto may be altered
or dealt with in accordance with the accompanying Articles of
Association but not, otherwise.”
(i)  Article 3 of the Articles of Association:

“The authorized share capital of the Company shall be as per Article V
of the Memorandum of Association The Company has the power to
increase or reduce the share capital, divide the share capital in to several
classes and to attach hereto any preferential or any special rights and to
vary ,modify or redeem or abrogate any rights ,privileges and conditions

in such manner as may be for the time being be provided by the Act.”

b
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The increase in authorized share capital shall be effected as an integral part of

this Scheme without any further act or deed on the part of the Transferee

Company and the consent of the shareholders to the Scheme shall be deemed

to be sufficient for the purposes of effecting this amendment. The approval of

“this Scheme under Section 230 to 232 of the Act shall be deemed to have the

approval under the applicable provisions of the Act and any other consents and

approvals required in this regard

DISSOLUTION OF TRANSFEROR COMPANY

4.21

Subject to an order being made by the Tribunal under Section 232 of the Act,
the Transferor Company shall be dissolved without the process of winding up
on the Scheme becoming effective in accordance with the provisions of the

Act and the Rules made thereunder.

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS

0]
4.22

4.23

APPLICATION TO THE TRIBUNAL

The Transferor Company and the Transferee Company shall, with reasonable
despatch, apply to the Tribunal for necessary orders or directions for holding
meetings of the members of the Transferor Company and the Transferee
Company for sanctioning this Scheme of Arrangement (Demerger) and
Amalgamation under Section 230 of the Act or for dispensing the holding of
such meetings and orders under Section 232 of the Act, for‘ carrying this
Scheme into effect and for dissolution of the Transferor Company without
winding up.

Subject to an order being made by the Tribunal under Section 232 of the Act,
the Transferor Company shall be dissolved without the process of winding up
on the Scheme becoming effective in accordance with the provisions of the

Act and the Rules made thereunder.
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DATE OF TAKING EFFECT

Part 4 of the Scheme (i.e) the Amalgamation of Dvara Investments Private
Limited into Northern Arc Capital Limited as set out herein in its present form
or with any modification(s) or amendment(s) approved, imposed or directed
by the Tribunal shall be effective from the Appointed Date for Amalgamation
but shall be operative from the Effective Date. »

ACCOUNTING TREATMENT

Upon the Scheme becoming effective, the amalgamation of the Transferor
Company with the Transferee Company shall be accounted for as per the
“Pooling of Interest Method” provided under Accounting Standard 14 issued
by the National Advisory Committee on Accounting Standards (‘NACAS”).
With the onset of Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) that is likeiy to be
effective form April 01, 2018, the financial statements will reflect as may be
necessary to be in compliance with Ind AS , when the same is implemented.
Upon the Scheme coming into effect, the Transferee Company shall account
for all the assets and liabilities taken over at their existing carrying amounts
and in the same form as at the date of amalgamation. The balance of the profit
& loss account of the transferor company would be aggregated with the
corresponding balance of the transferee company or transferred to ‘General
Reserve’, if any.

If at the time of amalgamation, the transferor and transferee company were to
have accounting policies that are conflicting, such conflict shall be resolved,
and brought in line with the policy adopted by the transferee company. A
uniform set of accounting policies would be adopted following the

amalgamation.

The difference between the amount recorded as share capital issued (plus any
additional consideration in the form of cash or other assets) and the amount of

share capital of the transferor company would be adjusted in reserves.
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4.29 To the extent there are inter-corporate loans or balances between the

Transferor Company and the Transferee Company, the obligations in respect
thereof shall come to an end and corresponding effect shall be given in the
books of accounts and records of the Transferee Company for the reduction of

any assets or liabilities, as the case may be.

4.30 Investment in the books of the transferor company representing shares in the

(iv)

5.1

5.2

transferee company or vice versa, shall seize to exist as a result of
amalgamation and be cancelled against the share capital of the latter company,

as the case may be.

SAVING OF CONCLUDED TRANSACTIONS

The Transfer of properties and liabilities under clause 4.1 above and the
continuance of proceedings by or against the Transferor Company under
clause 4.5 and 4.6 above shall not affect any transaction or proceedings aiready
concluded by the Transferor Company till the Effective Date, to the end and
intent that the Transferee Company accepts and adopts all acts, deeds and
things done and executed by the Transferor Company in respect thereto as
done and executed on behalf of itself.

PART 5

SCHEME CONDITIONAL ON APPROVALS / SANCTIONS:

The scheme is conditional upon and subject to the sanction or approval under any
law of the C_em:ral Government, State Government, or any other agency,
department or authorities concerned being obtained and granted in respect of any
of the matters in respect of which such sanction or approval is required.

The Companies shall, with all reasonable despatch, make and pursue applications
fo the Tribunal, under Section 230 of the Act, seeking orders for dispensing with
or convening, holding and conducting of the meetings of the respective classes of
the members and/or creditors of each of the respective Company or Companies as
may be directed by the Tribunal and for sanctioning the Scheme under Section
230 and 232 and other relevant provisions of the Act and for such other order or

orders, as the said Tribunal may deem fit for carrying this Scheme into effect.
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The Scheme is conditional upon and subject to the sanction by the Tribunal under
Section 230 and 232, and other applicable provisions of the Act being obtained by
the Demerged Company, Resulting / Transferor Company and the Transferee
Company.

The Scheme is conditional upon and subject to its being sanctioned by the Tribunal
and certified copies of the orders sanctioning the Scheme being filed with the
Registrar of Companies, Tamil Nadu, Chennai. The Scheme shall become
operative on the date or the last of the dates on which the certified copies of the
orders of the Tribunal sanctioning the Scheme are filed by Demerged Company,
Resulting Company and Transferee Company with the Registrar of Companies,
Tamil Nadu, Chennai respectively.

The effectiveness of the Scheme is subject to both the aforementioned parts being
effective and operative as of the Appointed Date. On the sanction of the Scheme
and upon the Scheme becoming effective, the following shall be deemed to have
occurred and become effective and operative only in the sequence and in the order

mentioned hereunder: .

A) The Demerger of the Demerged Undertaking of IFMR Holdings Private
Limited into Dvara Investments Private Limited., and subsequently;

B) The Amalgamation of Dvara Investments Private Limited wifh Northern Arc
Capital Limited; |
MODIFICATIONS/ AMENDMENTS TO THE SCHEME
® The Companies through their respective Boards of Directors including
Committees of Directors or other persons, duly authorised by the
respective boards of directors in this regard, may make, or assent to, any
alteration or modification to this Scheme or to any conditions or
limitations, which the Tribunal or any other competent authority may
deem fit to direct, approve or impose, to settle any doubt, question or
difficulty, arising under the scheme or in regard to its implementation or
in any manner connected therewith and to do and to execute all such acts,
deeds, matters and things necessary for putting this Scheme into effect, or

to review the portion relating to the satisfaction of the conditions to this

Gy
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scheme and if necessary, to waive any of those (to the extent permitted
under law) for bringing this scheme into effect. Pursuant to such
modification/amendment, reference to the Scheme shall mean such
modified/amended Scheme. This paragraph is subject to paragraph 5.5
hereinabove.
(i) If any Part or provision of this Scheme hereof is invalid, ruled illegal by
any Tribunal of competent jurisdiction, or unenforceable under present or
future laws, then it is the intention of the Parties that such Part or
provision, as the case may be, shall be severable from the remainder of the
Scheme, and the Scheme shall not be affected thereby, unless the deletion
of such Part or provision, as the case may be, shall cause this Scheme to
become materially adverse to any Party, in which case the Parties shall
attempt to bring about a modification in the Scheme, as will best preserve
for the Parties the benefits and obligations of the Sclﬂeme, including but
not limited to such Part or provision.
For the purpose of giving effect to the Scheme after it is sanctioned by the
Tribunal, the Directors of the Companies are authorised to identify / allocate /
apportion the assets and liabilities covered under the Scheme.
In the event of the Scheme not being sanctioned by the Tribunal and/or the
Order(s) not being passed as aforesaid, this Scheme shall stand revoked, cancelled
and be of no effect save and except in respect of any act or deed done prior thereto
as is contemplated hereunder or as to any right, obligation and/or liabilities which
might have arisen or accrued pursuant thereto and which shall be governed and be
preserved or worked out as is specifically provided in this Scheme and or
otherwise arise as per law. In such case each company shall bear its own costs,
charges and expenses or shall bear costs, chAarges and expenses as may be mutuaily
agreed. For the purpose of giving full effect to this Scheme, the respective Board
of Directors of the Companies are hereby empowered and authorised to agree to
and extend the aforesaid period from time to time without any limitations in

exercise of their power through and by their respective delegates.
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5.9 All costs, charges, taxes including duties, levies and all other expenses, if any
(save as expressly otherwise agreed), arising out of or incurred in carrying out and
implementing this Scheme and matters incidental thereto shall be borne and paid

by IFMR Holdings Private Limited.
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SCHEDULE- A

The Summary of Assets and Liabilities of the Demerged Undertaking proposed
to and be vested, transferred and demerged with the Resulting Company as on

the Appointed Date.

Description Amount in Rs.
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Net Worth 685,656,685
685,656,685

Non - current Liabilities

Long-Term Provisions 301,380
301,380

Current Liabilities

Other current Liabilities 1,089,930
1,089,930

TOTAL 687,047,995

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Non-current investments 685,299,953

Long Term Loans & Advances 75,000

685,374,953

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,258,792

Trade Receivables 414,250
1,673,042

TOTAL 687,047,995
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SCHEDULE- B
. The Summary of Assets and Liabilities of the Remaining Business of the
Demerged Company pursuant to the implementation of the Scheme of
Arrangement (Demerger) & Amalgamation and transfer of the Demerged

Undertaking to the Resulting Company.

Description

Amount in Rs.

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ funds
(a) Share Capital 418,753,800
(b) Reserves and Surplus - 1,679,102,897
2,097,856,697
Non - current Liabilities
Long-Term Provisions 10,948,113
10,948,113
Current Liabilities
(a) Trade Payable 46,188,317
(b) Other current Liabilities 58,005,614
(b) Short term provisions 5,894,091
110,088,022
TOTAL 2,218,892,832
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Fixed Assets
Tangible Assets 848,095
Intangible Assets » 57,690,470
Non-current investments ] 981,823,722
Long Term Loans & Advances 17,579,215

2,057,941,502

Current Assets

Current Investments 85,000,000
Short-Term loans and advances 45,689,757
Cash and cash equivalents 25,984,318
Trade Receivables 4,269,311
Other Current Assets 7,944
160,951,330

TOTAL

2,218,892,832
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Chennai - 630 831, India. :

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of IFMR Holdings Private Limited

Report on the aadit of standalone financial statements v

We have, audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of IFMR Holdings Private
Limited (“the Company”), which comprise the balance sheet as at March 31, 2018, the statement of
profit and loss and the cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the standalone financial statements

The Company’s Board of Dircctors is responsible for the matters stated. in Section 134(5) of the
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect to the preparation of these standalone financial
statements that give a true and fair view of the Statement of affairs, loss and cash flows of the
Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the
Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act, :

This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting cecords in accordance with the
provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting
frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of
the standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these standalone financial statements based on our audit.

We have taken into account the provisions of the Act, the accounting and auditing standards and
matters which are required to be included in the audit report under the provisions of the Act and the
Rules made thereunder.

We conducted our audit of the standalone financial statement in accordance with the Standards on
Auditing specified under Section 143{10) of the Act. Those Standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
standalone financial statements are free from material misstatemient.

Registered OHice ;
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of IFMR Holdings Private Limited
Page 2 of 3

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and the
disclosures in the standalone financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judpment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal financial control relevant to the Company’s preparation of the standalone financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstanees, but nat for the purpose of expressing an opinion on whether the Company has in place
an adequate internal financial controls system over financial reporting and the operating effectiveness
of such controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used
and the reasonablencss of the accounting estimates made by the Company’s Directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the standalone financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion on the standalone financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion, and to the best of cur information and according to the explanations given to us, the
aforesaid standalone financial statements give the information required by the Act in the manner so
required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted
in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2018, and its loss and its cash flows for
the year ended on that date.

Emphasis of Matier

We draw attention to nole 30 to the standalone financial statements regarding the Scheme of
Arrangement relating to the Company which is pending necessary approvals and filing with National
Company Law Tribunal. The Scheme of Arrangement has an appointed date of March 31, 2017, As
more fully discussed in the aforesaid note, the Company has not given effect to the Scheme of
Arrangement in the current year. Upon the approval of the aforesaid Scheme of Armrangement, the
Company on a going concern basis merges with Pudhuaaru Finaocial Services Private Limited and
ceases ta exist.

Qur opinion is not modified in respect of this matier.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
1. As required by the Companies {Auditor's Report) Qrder, 2016 (“the Order™), issued by the Central

Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of Section 143 of the Act, we enclose in the
“Annexure A” a statemen on the malters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the said Order,

2. Asrequired by Section 143(3) of the Aci, we report that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purpose of our audit.

(b) In our opinion. proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Comppny
so far as appears from our examination of those books.

Rt
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To the Members of IFMR Holdings Private Limited
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(¢} The batance sheet, the statemient of profit and loss, and the cash flow statement dealt with by
this repart are in agreement with the books of account.

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the Accounting
Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act.

(e} On the basis of written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2018,
taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on
March 31, 2018 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

(N} The Company has been cxempted from the requirement of its auditor reporting on whether
the Company has adequate internal financial controls system in place and the operating
cffectiveness of such controls (clause (i) of Section 143(3)); and

(g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with
Rule 11 of the Companies (Audil and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of
our information and according to the explanations given to us:

i The Company does not have any pending litigations which would impact its financial
position.

ii  The Company did not have any long term contracts including derivate contracts for which
there were any material foreseeable losses.

i There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education
and Protection Fund by the Company.

iv. The disclosures in the standalone financial statements regarding holdings as well as
dealings in Specified Bank Notes during the period from November 08, 2016 to
December 30, 2016 have not been made since they do not pertain to the financial year
ended March 31, 2018. However, amounts as appearing in the audited standalone
financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2017 have been disclosed. Refer note
29 to the standalone financial statements. '

JorBSR& Ce. LLP
Chartered Accauntants
ICAIFirm Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

LY -

Rughuram
Partner
Membership No: 211171
Place: Chennat
Date: May 11,2018
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of 1IFMR Holdings Private

Limited for the year ended Mareh 31, 2018 (referred to in our report of even date)

Page 1 of3

1

(i1}

(i)

(v)

(v}

(vi)

(a) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including
quantitative details and situation of fixed assets, '

(b} The Company has a regular programime of physical verification of its fixed assets by
which all fixed assets are verified every year. In our opinion, this periodicity of physical
verification is reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and the nature of its
assets. According fo the information and explanation given to us, no material
discrepancies were noticed on such verification,

{c} The Company does not hold any immovable propertics and accordingly, paragraph 3(i}{c)
of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company is primarily engaged in services business,
accordingly il does not hold any physical invemeries. Thus, paragraph 3(ii) of the Order is not
applicable,

The Company has not granted any loan, secured or unsecured to companies, firms, limited
liability partnerships or ather parties covered in the register required under Section 189 of the
Companies Act, 2013, Accordingly, paragraph 3(iii) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company does not have any foan, investment, guarantees and security which requires
compliance under Sections 185 and 186 of the Companies Act, 2013, Accordingly, paragraph
3(iv) of the Order is not applicable.

The Company has not accepted deposits from the public. Accordingly, paragraph 3(v) of the
Order is not applicable. :

The Central Government has not prescribed the maintenance of cost records pghder
section 148(1) of the Act, for sale of goods and the services rendered by the Corfipany.
Accordingly, paragraph 3(vi) of the Order is not applicable.

s
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Annexure A to the Independent Auditor’s Report {o the members of IFMR Holdings Private
Limited for the year ended March 31, 2018 (referred to in our report of even date)
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{vii) (a) According to the information and explanations given 1o us and on the basis of our

(b)

(viii)

examination of the records of the Company, amounts deductedfaccrued in the books of
account in respeet of undisputed statutory dues including provident fund, income-tax, service
1ax, goods and services tax, cess and any other material statutory dues have been generally
deposited regularly during the year by the Company with the appropriate authorities, As
explained to us, the Company did not have any dues on account of employees® stale
insurance, sales tax, duty of customs, duty of excise and value added tax.

According 10 the information and explanations given to us, no undisputed amounts payable in
respect of provident fi und, income-tax, service tax, goods and services tax, cess and any other
material statulory dues were in arvears as at March 21, 2018 for a period of more than six
months from the date they became payable.

According to the information and explanations given 1o us, there are no dues of income tax,
service tax and goods and services tax which have not been deposited with the appropriate
authorities on account of any dispute.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given 1o us, the Company
did not have any owstanding dues to any banks, financial institutions, government and
debenture holders during the year. Accordingly, paragraph 3(viii) of the Order is not

. applicable.

(ix})

)

(xi)

(xii)

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given (o us, the Company
has not raised any moncy by way of imitial public offer or further public offer (including debt
instruments) and term loans during the year. Accordingly, paragraph 3(ix) of the Order is not
applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us, no fraud on or by the Company by
115 officers or employees has been noticed or reported during the course of our audit.

The Company being a private Company, the provisions of section 197 read with
schedule V to the Companies Act, 2013 is not applicable. '

In our opinion and aecording to the information and explanations given 1o us, the Compdy is
not a Nidhi company. Accordingly, paragraph 3(xi1) of the Order is not applicable.




B8SR & Co. LLP

Annexure A {o the Independent Auditor's Report to the members of IFMR Holdings for the

year ended March 31, 2018 (referred to in our report of even date)
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(xiii)

{xiv)

(xv)

(xv1)

According to the information and explanations given {o us and based on our examination of
the records of the Company, transactions with the rclated parties are in compliance with
section 188 of the Act where applicable and details of such transactions have been disclosed
in the standalone financial statements as required by the applicable accounting standards. The
Company is a private limited company and hence the provisions of section 177 of the Act s
not applicable.

According fo the information and explanations give o us and based on our examination of the
records of the Company, the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private
placement of shares or {ully or partly convertibie debentures during the year under review.

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination of
the records of the Company, the Company has not entered into non-cash tansactions with
directors or persons connected with such directors. Accordingly, paragraph 3(xv) of the Order
is not applicable.

The Company is not required to be registered under section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of
India Act 1934,

Jor BER& Co. LLP

Charter

ed Accountfants

ICAI Firm Registration No: 101248W/W-100022
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K Raghuram

Partier

Memhership No: 211171
Place: Chennai
Date: May 11, 2018




IFMR Holdings Private Limited
Standalone balance sheet as at March 31, 2018
(Al amounts are in Indian Rupees. except share data 2nd as statd)

Notc As at ) As at
Muarch 3, 2018 Mareh 31,2017
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Sharcholders' funds
Sharc capital k] 418,753,800 418.753.800
Reserves and surplus 2.288.066 834 2.364.759,582
2,707,420,634 2.783,513,382
Nen-current Hubilities
Long-term provisions 3 8.886,941 11,249,493
8,886 941 11,249,493
Current lisbilitics
Trade payohles 6
- chues to micro and small enterprises -
~ ducs to creditors ather than micro enterprises and small enterprises 37,052,933 61.234.001
Oiker current liabilities 7 10.885.346 12,418,843
Short-term provisions 3 5.248.29! 5.894,00)
73,186,570 79,546,935
2,789,494,145 2.874,309.810
ASSETS
Non-curreat aysels
Fixed asscls
- Praperty. plant and cquipment 8 516,523 848,098
- Intangible fixed ussots 9 59,135,789 57.690.467
Non-vurrent investments 10 - 2,667.123.675
{.ong-term foans and advances It 30,394,406 17,634,214
80,066,720 2,743,316,454
Current agsets
Current invesiments £2 2.688.462,797 83,000,000
Trade receivables 13 543343 4,683,361
Cash and bank hafances 4 13,363,496 27243110
Short-term loans and sdvances T 2,116,392 14.058.741
Otiter current assets 13 51.309 7,944
2,709,427423 130,993,356
2,789,.494,1458 2,.874.309,810
Signifivam sceounting policies 2

The rotes refered to above torm an integral part of the Hnancial statements

As per our report of cven date attached

Jor BS R & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountanis
{CAI Firm Registration No. 101248W/W-100022

L

K Raghuram
Purtner ,
Murmibership Na: 211171

Place: Chenma
Date: May 11,2018

e

For and on behaif of the Board of Directors of
IFMR Holdings Private Limited

J

Bindu Ananth
Director
DN 02456029
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Girish Nagar
Conpuny Secrelary

Flace: Chennai
Date: May 1. 2018

C !N:;J_MQS)TNM 13PTC094383
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Simir Amrit Shiah
Director

DIN: 80912693 .
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Standalone gtatement of profit and loss for the vear ended March 31, 2018

(AH amounts are in Indian Rupees, excepl share data and as stated)

Note Far the year ended For the year onded
Murch 3, 2018 March 31, 2687
Revenuc
Ruevenue from operations I6 50,233,693 63.977.409
Other income 17 3.233.975 2.86Y.239
55,467,668 66,846,648
Expenses .
Employee benelits 18 67,427,108 102,239.087
Depreciation and amoriisation 19 15,515,367 16,377939
Other expenses 20 48.617.941 67,803,122
131,360,416 186,420,148
Lasx before tax {76,092,748) (1 19,573.500)
Tax expenscs
Current tax - .
Deferred tox - -
Loss for the year (76,092,748) {119,573.500)
Enmings per cquity share { faee vatue of INR 100 per shurc) 23
Basic and dilused {22.37) 151.24)
Significant accounting policies 2

The notes referred 1o above fonm an intepral part of the financial statemenis
As pr our report of even date atlached

for BSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAL Firm Registration No. {01248 W/W-100022

L \ -
o
K Raghurim

Partner
Membership No: 2117

Place: Chennai
Date: May 11,2018

For und on behall of the Board of Directors of
IFMR Holdings Private Limited
C l%: U74 GO‘-%?{}QGI]PTCGW}@

Rindu Ananth
Dircctor v
DIN: 02436029

s

Girish Nagar U
Company Secrctary
Place: Chennai
Date: May 11, 2018

Nejef |

Samir Amrit Shah
Dirccior
DIN: 00912693
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Standulone statement of cash flow for the year caded March 31, 2018
(Alf amounts are in Indian Rupees. except shure duty and as stated)

7/

Note For the year ended For the year ended
. March 31, 2018 Muarch 34,2017
A Cash flows from operating activities
Loss befonr tax (76,082.748) {1 F9.373,500)
Adiustments for:
Depreciation und senonisation 15.515.367 16,377,939
Assets written off - 4,379,509
Loss on sale of fixed assets (01,108 17.964
Provision for doubtiul receivables 168716 -
Provision for doubtiui advances 929849 -
Profit on sale of shares - (35,947,686}
Provisions no forsger required written back (2.667 347}
Liabilities ro longer required written back {191.837) -
Profit on sale / redemption of investments {2214737) {(2.120.216)
fnterest on fixed deposits (89,73 1) (197.137)
Interest from inter-corporate deposit - {1.094.574)
Interest on income tax refund (69.823) (326,236)
Operating loss before working capital chunges (64.,511,183) £138,692,937)
Changes in working capital:
(Inereasel deercase ip trade receivables {1,018.386) 581448
Decrease in loans and advances 12,189.060 32351932
Deercase in other labilities {1341.660) - {13,008,795)
(Decrease)f increass in provisions {341.003) 11918312
{Decrease) increase in wmmde payables (4.181.068) 22,448,685
Cash vsed in operations (59,204,442) {86.221,335)
Encome tax paid {net of refunds) 3.846.929 4.891.372
Net Cush used in operating activities (A) 163.051,371) 91,112,707
B Cash lows from investing activiticy -
Purchase of non-current investmenis - {1.030,999.958)
Sake of non-cument investments - 42.001.077
Purchasc of [ixed assets —{ 68921718 —418:527.954) —
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 141,954 40.649
Purchase of cuerant investments (17.000.0003 {71.760.000}
Praceeds from sile of currend investments 82.875.615 12,129.216
Otfser bank balances (1430471 $.961.722
intesest on Gixed deposits received 46,366 39979
Inwerest on inter-corporate deposit - 1.249.533
Net cash used in Investing Activities (B) 47,740,286 (1.875,105,934)
¢ Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares - 1,157.820.992
Net cash generated from financing activities {C) N 1.1537.810.962
Net {decrease) / fnereuse in cash and cash equivatents (A+B+H() (15,311,085) (8.397.67%)
Casly and cash equivalents at the bepinning of the year 26,674,581 35.072.260
Cash und eash cquivalents at the end of the year 11,363,496

26,674,581




IFMR Holdings Private Limited
Standalone statement of eash flow for the year ended March 31, 2018
(Al amounts are in Indian Rupecs. except share data and as stated)

Notes 0 cash flow statement

Note As at Asat
March 31, 2018 March 31,2017
Components of eash and cash equivalents 4
Cash on hand 11,426 40,247
Chegues on hand - 291601
Ralance with bank .
- In current accounts 11,352,070 26342733
11,363,496 26,674,381
Significant accounting pelicies 2
The notes referred 1o above Form an integral part of the financisl statements
A5 per our report of even date attached
Jor BSR& Ca. LLP ‘ : Far and on behalf of the Board of Dircctors of
Chartered Accountonts IFMR Holdings Private Limited
ICAL Firm Registration N [01248W/W-100022 CIN U742Q)TN20I3PTC(}94383 '
e ; [
£ A i i
e S I { y
i <1, ,
— . 1\}%« b et
i .
A Raghury Bmdu Ananth - Samir Amrit Shah
Purter Director Director
Membership No: 2111714 ) DIN: 02436029 DIN: 00912693

Cjeasn,

¢ ol G,

Girish P\'ugur/dr
Company Seeretary

flace: Chennai Place: Chennai

Date: May T, 2018 Date: May 11, 2018
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Notes to the standulone tfinanciaf statements for the year ended March 31, 2018
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2.1

2.2

.3

24

2.6

Company overview
IFMR Holdings Private Limited {'the Compiny') was incorporated on December 30. 2013, under the Companies Act, 1956, The Company
is cngaged in the business of technology solutions.

Significant aecounting policies
Basis of prepuration of financial statements

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the generally aceepted accounting principles in India
"Indian GAAP™) to comply with the Accounting Standards ("AS™) specified under Section 133 of the Companies Act. 2013 and the
relevant provisions of the Companics Act, 2013 ("the 2013 Act”} as applicable. The financial statements have been prepared on accrual
basis under the historical cost canvention,

Use of estimittes

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the Indian GAAP requines managemuent o make cstimates and assumpdions that
affect the feported mmounts of revenoes ind expenses during the reporting year, reported balance of assets and liabilities and disciosure of
contingent [abilitics as at the date of financial statements. Actual results could difler from these estimates. Anw revision to accounting
estimates is recognized prospectively in surrent and fulun years,

Operating cycle

Asscty and Habilitics are classitied as current and non-current based on the wperating ¢yele which has been estimated 1o be 12 months. All
asses and liabilities which are expected te be renlized and seltled within a period of £2 months lrom the date of bulance sheet have been
classified as current and other assets and liabilitiex are classified as not-current,

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash cemprises cash on hand and demand deposits with banks. Cash cquivalents are shon-term balances {with an original maturity of
three months or kess fram the date of acguisition), highly tiquid investments that are readily convertible inlo known amounts of cash and
which are subject to insignificant risk o’ changes in value. ’

Cash flow statement

Cash flows are reporied using the indirect method, whereby profit / (oss) before tax is adjusted for the effccts of transactions of nan-cash
natw? and any deferrals or acenuals of past or future cash reccipts or payments. The cosh Hows from operating, investing and finoncing
activitics are segregated based on the avatlable information. Cash flows in foreign surrencics arc accounted at the actual mies of” exchange
prevailing on the dote of transuctions.

Investruents
On initial recognition. ull investments are measured at cost. The cost comprises purchase price and directly attributable acquisition charges

such as brokerage and fees.

Investments maturing withia theee months lrom the date of acquisition sre classificd as cash cquivalents if they are readily convertible inlo
cash. lavestments that arc readily realizeble and intended fo be held for not more than & yeur from the date of acquisitios are classificd as
current investaents. All other investiments are classified as non-current investiments.

However, that part of non-ctrrunt investinenis which is expected o be realized within 12 months atler the reporting dute is also presented
under “current asscls” as “current portion of non-current investmeats™.

Non-cusrent investments (including cument portion thereof) are carried at cost less any other-than-lemporary diminution in value,
determined separately for each individual investment,

Current investments are carricd at the lewer of cost and fair value.
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Praperty, plant and equipment ("PPE"}

PPE are carried at historical cost fess accumulated depreciation and impalrment losses, iMuny, The Company eapitalizes all costs relating to
the zequisition and installation of fixed assety, Cost comprises the purchase price and any cost attributable 10 bringing the asset to #ts
waorking condition for ity intended use. Borrowing costs directly attributable to ucquisition or construction ol qualifying assels for the
period o the complction of instalfution or construction of such assets sespectively are capitatised. Cost of assets not ready lor intended use.
a5 on balance sheet date, is shown as capital work in progress. Advance given towards acquisition of fixed assets outstandding at each
batance sheet date arc disclosed as long-term loans and advances.

Intangibic fixed assets

tatangible assets acquired seporalely are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following inftial recognition, intangible asscts are carried
al cost luss accumulated amortization and accumulsted impairmen fosses, i any,

The cost of intangible fixed assels not ready for the intended se al each balance sheet date is disclosed as intangible lixed asscls under
development,

Depreciation and amortisation

The depreciable ameount of ak assel is the cost of un asset or other amount substituted for cost, fess its resideal vatue. Depreclation is
provided on the depreciuble value on a written dowa value method at the useful Nl given under Part C of the Schedule 11 of the
Companies Act, 2013, Pro-rata depreciation is provided for af) assets purchosed / sald during the year. Leaschold improvements arc
depreciated over the remaining period of lease or estimated useful Hic ol the assets. whichever is lower, The estimaled uselul RRe of various
tangible and intangible assets are as under:

Asset Category Useful Life
a) Property, plant & equipment '

Oflfice eguipment 3 years
Fumiture and fistings B years
Compulers and aceessories 3 years

b) Intangible assets

Soflware { Purchased) 10 years

Sollware (Develupmient in house) 1Q years

Product Development Cost 3 years

Training Manuals . 3 years
Impairmcnt of assets

‘The Company determines periodically whetler there is any indication of impairment of the carcying amount of its asscts, The recovenble
amount (higher of net selling price and value in use) is determined For an individual asser, unless the asset does not generate cash inflow
that are largely independent of those from ather assets or group of assats. The recoverable amounts of such assot arc estimited, i any
indication exists and impairment loss Is recognized wherever the carrying amount of the assel exceeds ifs recoverable amount. Where it is
not possible to estimute the recoverable wmount of an individual asset the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unid 1o which the asset belongs.

Revenue recogaition

Revenue is necognized to the exient that it is probable that the eeonomic benelits will low to the Company and the revenue can be retiably
measured. .

Annugl usige fe is recognised on time praportionste basis. Implemensation. customisation and consultaney fees are recaganised as and
when the seevices are rendered by the Company ('KGFS Business"),

Incentive tncome arising from National Pension Scheme (NPS) is recognized on accrual basis and based on the erms of agreement with
Pension Fund Regulation and Development Authority (PFRDA) ['Aggregator Business'). i

Interest incomse on deposits is recognized on o time proportion basis 1aking intw account the smeunt ouistanding and the rate applicable.
Peofit / loss on disposal of an invesuihenl is reeognised at she time of such sale / redemption und is computed based on weighied aveeage
cost.

Incame (rom dividend is recogaized in the staement of profit and loss when the dght o receive is established:
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Employee benefits

Short-term cmployee benefits

Employec benchits pavable wholly within twelve months of receiving employee services are classified as short-term employe benelis.
These benetiis include salaries and wages. bonus. invenlive and compensated absences. The undiscounted amount of shor-teom employee
benetits to be paid in exchange for employee services is recognised as an expense as the relaled services are rendered by the employve,

Post-employment benefits
Befined contribution plan

‘The Company's contribution to provident fund arc considered as defined contribution plan and are cherged as an expense as they fall due
based on the amount of contribution reguired 1o be made and when the services are rendened by the employees.

Provident fund ]
Eligible emplovees reocive benelit from the provident fund, which is & defined contribution plan, Both the employee and the Company
make monthly contributions to the provident fund plan cqual to a specificd percentage of the covered employee’s basic salary. The
Company has no further obligmians under the plan beyond its monthly contributions, The Compuny’s contribulion to the Ernployees’
Pravident Fund scheme maintained by the Central Government is charged to the statement of profit and loss.

Defined benefit plan

Gratuity .

“The Company’ s gratuity benclit scheme is o defined benefit plan, The Company’'s net obligation in respect of the gratuily benefit scheme i3
calculated by estimating tie amount of Tuture benediv that employees have camed in retuen for their seevice in the curvent and prior-periods:
that benefil is discounted to determine its present value, The caleulation of the Company's obligation under such defined benefit plan is
performed annuatly by 2 qualified setuary using the Projected Unit Credit Method,

The Company recognises ull actuarial pains and losses arising from delined benefit plans immediately in the statement. of profit and loss.
All expenses related to defined benelis plans are recognised in employee benefits expenss in the stalement of profit and loss. When the

benefits of a plan arc impraved. the postion of the inereased bonelit relaied to past service by employes is recognised in the statement of

profit and foss on a stroight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. The Company recognises gains and losscs
on the curtailment or seitlement of o defined benefs plan when the curaiiment or settlesent scouns,

Long-term employee benefits
Compensated absences

The benefits of compunsated absences are accounted for when the eniployees render the services thil increase their entitlement o future
compensaled absences. Such liahility is accounted for based on actuarial \alumwn. as at the balance sheet date. detennined by an
independent Actuary using the Projected Unit Credit Method,

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the Sistement of profit and loss in the year in which they oceur.

Operating leases
Ogperating loase pavments are recognised a5 an expense in the staterment of profit and [oss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are recorded into Indian rupees using the actual exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions.
Exchange differences arising on forcign cxchange lransactions seitled during the year are recogaized in the stalement of profit and. foss.

Monelary sssets and lubilities denominaied in foreizn currencies as ot the balance sheel date are translated al the closing exchange rates on

that date. Exchange differences arising on fbreign exchunge transuctions during the yoar and on restatement of monetary” assets émd
fabilities are recognized in the swtement of proli and loss. o
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Provisions, contingent Hubilitics and confingent assets

A provision is recognized when there is present obligation as a result of past event and it is probable that an outffow of resaurces will be
required 1o settle the obligalion, in respeet of which a refiable estimate can be made. Pravisions are determined bascd on best estimates
requiired to setike the obligation al the balance sheet date. These are reviewed at cach balance sheet date and adjusted 10 refleet the current
management estimates, Loss contingencis arising from claims. filigation. assessment. fings, penaltivs, ek, are recorded when it is prabable
that a Habilily has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated, Contingens asscl is not recognised in the financis! satements
since this may resull in the recognition of income that may aever be realised.

Earnings per share

The Company reports basic and diluted camitigs per equity share in accordance with AS 20, Farnings Per Share issued by the Institute of
Chartered Aceountants of India. Basic curnings per cquity share is computed by dividing net profit / Joss auributable to the wquity share
holders for the year by the weighted dverage number of equily sharcs outstanding during the year. Diluted ewmings per cquiity share is
compuled and diselosa by dividing the net profil atteibutable to the equity share holders aRer giving impact of dilutive potential equity
sharcs for the year by the weighted average aumber of eyuity shures and dilutive potential cquity shares oustanding during the year. except
whene the results are anti-dilutive,

Taxes on income

{ncome-tax expense comprises current tax (e, amount of lax for the year dutermined in necordance with the income-tax law} and defermed
tax chasge or eredit (reflecting the tax effects of timing differences hetween accounting income and taxable income for the period). Income-
s expense s recognized in stafement of profit dnd toss excepd that tax expense relaling W ftems neoognized directly in rescrves i3 also
recognized in those reserves.

Minimum Alternate Tax ("MAT™) paid in accordance with 1he tax laws, which gives future econamic benefits in the form of ad] justment to
future income fax lability. is considered os an asset if there is convincing evidence that the Company will pay normal incomue fax.
Aceurdingly, MAT is recognised as an asset in the Bulanu. Sheet when # is probabie that future econumic benefit associated with it will
flow to the Company.

Current lax is measurcd al the amount expecied to be paid to (recavered from) the taxation suthoritics. using the applicable tax rates amd
tax laws. Deforred tax is recognized in respect of timing differences brtween taxable income and accounting income i.c. differences that
originate i one year and are capable of reversal in one or mere subsequent years. The deferred tax charge or credit and the corresponding
deferred tax liabilitics or assels are rct.agnm.d using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted oF substantively enacted by the
balance sheet dute. Deformed tax asscts are recognized only to the extent there is reosonable cortainty that the assets can be realized in
future; boweyer, where there is unabsorbed deprecistion or carried forward loss under taxation aws, deferred tax asscis wre recognized
only if there is a virluul certainty supponied by convincing evidence thal sufficient future taxable income will be available against which
such deferred tax assets can be realized, Deferned tax assets and Jiabilitics are reviewed a5 at each batance sheot date and writien down-or
swritten-up o eelleet the smount that is reasonably/vireally certain (as the cuye moy be) to be realized. :
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Notes to the standalone Gnancial statements fur the year ended March 31, 2618

(Al smounts arc in Indian Rupees, excepl share data and as staled)

As at Asat
March 31, 2018 Murch 31, 2017
3 - Share eapital
Authoriscd:
Equity sharcs:
3,420,000 (March 31, 2017 3.420.000) equity shares of INR 00 eich 342,000,000 342,600,000
Preference shares:
2,000,000 (March 31, 2017: 2.000.000) compulsorily convertibic cumulative pr eference sharos 200,000,000 200,800,000
(CCCPS1of INR 100 euch
) 542,000,000 542,000,000
tssaed, subseribed and fully paid up
3401470 (March 31, 2017: 3,401,470) equity sharcs of INR 100 cach 340,147,000 340,147,000
786.068 (March 3 1. 201 7: 786,068} compulsorily convertible cumulative preference shases 78.636.800 78.666.800
(CCCPSIof INR 100 each
418,753,800 418,753,800

a} Rights, preferences and restrictions attzched to each clasy of shares

(i) Bquity shares: The Company has 4 single class of equity shares. Accordingly all equily shares rank cqually with regard to dividends and
share in the Company’s rexidual assets. The equily shares are entitled (o receive dividend as declared from lime lo time subject to payment off
dividend W preference sharcholders. Dividends are paid in Indian Rupees. Dividend proposed by ihe Board of Directors, it any. is subject (¢ the
approval of the sharebolders ot the General Medting, except in the case of interimy dividend. In the event of liquidation of the Company the
holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the Company, after distribution of all preferential amounts. The
disteibution will e in praportion % the number ol eyuity shares Tield by the sharcholders,

{iiy Compulsorily convertible cumalative preference shares: As per the Sharcholder's agrecment dated Mareh 23, 2017, Conversion of
Series K CCCPS Preference shares is depeadent upon the following conditions:

{1} Sharcholders to enter intwo binding documentation to consolidine the sharcholding of investors of the Company and it's :,ub-,idu.mt:s nol loter
than Decembur 38, 2017, if not,

(ii} The Company no later thao January 15, 2018, proceed w file the demerper and to complete not later than Februgey 28, 2020; the demerger
Being into two compunies, "Capital Holdings™{Existing company) and "Demerged Haldings™ (New Companyl. ¥ not.

(i} The Company to buyback the shares lrom the investors:

{iv} { none of the sbove events have happened. the Serfes K CCCPS would be converted ino Equily Shares of Capital Holdings on expiry of
{9 ycars from the date of issue ol such shares, in accordance with terms o Agreement,

) Reconcillation of the shures outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year

" As at March 31, 2018 As at March 31,2017

Particulars ] .

Na. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
Equity shares
Al the beginaing of the year 3401470 340,147,000 1,513,094 131,309,400
Add:issued during the vear - - 168,960 16,896,600
Add: Conversion from Series B & € & [RF CCCPS - “ 908.201 90.820.100
Add: Bonus shares issued during the year .- - §li21s 81121500
At the end of the year 3,401,470 340,147,008 401,470 340,147,000
Compulsorily convertible cumulative preference shures
At the beginning of the year 786,068 78.606.800 908.101 90,810,100
Add: Issucd during the year - - 786,168 18.616.800
Add: Convested info eapuity shares - - {908.201} (90,820.100)
At the ead of the year 86,068 78.606.800 786,068 78,606 800

©)  Bonus Shares: During previous year, the Company had issucd bonus shares by capitalisation of sueurities premium account as under;

Name of sharcholder Date of upproval Bonus ratie No of cquity Face value
by Board shares

Action Africs Asia Investmuent Compuny March 29, 2017 As per lerms of 430,163 100

Leaplrog Financinl inclusion indi March 29, 2017 the Sharcholders' 303.267 E 100

IFMR Trust March 29, 2017 Agreements

TIIRS L oo MO0
811215 R
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di  Conversion of CCCPS: During e previous yenr, the Company vide Board approval dated March 29, 2017 has converted Series B and C and
IRF CCCPS into cquity shares in the ratio of 1:1.

¢} Particulars of sharcholders holding more thun 5% shares of a class of shares:

As at March 31, 2018 As at March 31,2017

Partulurs No. of shares % holding No. of shares % holding
Equity shares .
DV ARA Trust (including nominee shareholder) [.513.8835 44.51% 1.515.883 $4.31%
Accion Africe Asis Investment Compony 1,107,088 32.55% L.1gr.088 32.35%
Laupfrog Financial Inclusion India I Lid 780,497 22.94% 780,497 22.94%
Compulsorily convertible cumulative
preference shares
Accion Africa Asia Investment Company 208,607 ' 26.54% 208607 28.34%
Leapltog Financial Inclusion India I Lid 517461 73.46% 377.461 T346%
As at Agat
March 31,2018 March 3, 2017
Reserves and surplus
Capital reserve
A1 the beginning and end of the year 24,306,323 24,306,323
Sceurities premium
At the beginning of the year 2.556.961.683 [.575.775,02¢
Addition during the yesr - 1.062,308.162
Bonus shases issucd during the year - {81.121,500)
At the end of the year 2,556.961,683 2,.556,961.,683
Deficit in statement of profit and loss
Atthe bepinning of the year (216.508.424) £96.,934.924)
Loss for the your (76.092,748) (119,573,300}
At the end of the year (292,601,172) (216,508.424)
2,288,666,834 2364759382
Provisions Long-term Short-term
As at As at Asat As at
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2018 March 31,2017
Provision for ensployce benefits
Provision tor gratuity {refer note 22) 3.861 886 4021515 119,338 300,734
Provision for compensated nbyences 698.365 1,634,621 802,243 -
Provisinn for performance based deferred 4.320,690 5.393,357 4,326,690 5.593.357
compensation
8,886,941 11,249,493 5,248,291 5,894,091
As at As af
March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Trade payables
- dues ke micro and small enterprises {refer notc 27} . B
- ducs to creditors other than miceo and smal! enterprises 57,052,933 61,234,001
370582,933 61,234,601
Other current linbilities
Employes benefits payvable 4,338,199 5723450
Stawtory dues 1.723.396 31470
Deferred revenue 3.967.331 -
Ozher liabilities 632,400 661,923
10,885,346

12418843
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IFMR Holdings Private Limited
Notes to the standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31,2018

o)

by

AT amounty are in Indian Rupees. except share data and as stutedd

]

Non-current investments

{u Subsidiariey (unquoted)

43,887 486 {March 3t 2017:
45.887.686) cquity shares of INR D
cach of Northern Arc Capital Limited
{refer note 30 Scheme o) Arrangement)
58.408.025 (March 3, 2017
47.759.843) equity sharcs of INR 10
each of {FMR Rural Channels and
Services Private Limited (refor note 30
Scheme of Arrangement)

Nit (March 31, 2017; 1600} Serics A
compulsority convertible  cumulutive
prefervace shores of INR 100,000 each
of IFMR Rural Channels and Services
Private Limited .

Nil  (March 31, 2097: 7,840.000)
compulsorily  convertible  cumulative
preference shares of INR FQ cach of
FMR Rural Channels and  Services
Private Limited

Current *

Non-eurrent

As at
March 31, 2018

As ut
Nlarch 31,2017

As at As at
Murch 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

685,299,953

1.981.825,722

685,299,933

- 1426,966.015

- 160,800,000

. - 394,857,707

2,667,123,675

- 2,667,123,675

* Amoum disclosed under "Curcent investments” {refer note 12)

" Notet

Aggregate book value of non-curnent investments

Loaus and sdvances

Lang-term

. 2.667.123,673

Short-term

{Unsccured, considered good)

Advance laxes

Securily deposit

Advances to vendors

Advances to related partizs

Balances with govemanent avthoritics
Prepaid expenses

Advances 1o employees

{Unsecered, considered doubtful)
Advances 10 vendors

Other advances

Less: Provision for doubtiul advances

As at
Mareh 31, 2018

Asat
Murch 31, 2017

As at As at
Murch 31, 2018 Mareh 31,2017

17,816,966
2577440

13.900.214
3,734,000

170,765 3,459,390
1544700 -
. 10.080,679
316.333 238.672

84,592 280,000

20,394,406

17,634,214

2116392 14,058,741

763,587 -
164,262 -
{929.84%) -

20,394 406

17,684,214

2,116,392 14,058,741




IFMR Holdings Private Limited
Notes to the standalone financial statements far the year ended March 31, 2018
A amounts are in Ixlian Rupews, except share data and as stated)

12 Current investments

13

{Lower afcost and (uir valuc)

Investment in mutual funds (unquoted, fully paid-up)

1908.29 units {March 31 2017 [L.06348 units) of Barodn Pioncer Treasury
Advantage Fund - Plan 8§ Growth '
Ni units (March 31, 2017: 952, 1B8.91 units) of Franklin India Ultra Short Bond Fund -
Super 1P Growth

444.931.61 units (March 31, 2017: 600,187.54 units) of HDFC Cash Managument Fund-

‘freasury Advamtage Plan - Dircet Plan (G)

Nit units (Murch 31, 2017: 13.199,10 units ) of Indiabulis Ultra Short Term Fund (G
Direet Plan

Current portion of non-current investments (refer note 10)

Notes
Agpregate boak value of current invistments
Aggregate book valie of unyuoted investments {beth curreat and non-current )

Trade receivables
Receivables outstanding for 1 period excoeding six months from the date they became
due for payment

- Unsecured, considered good

- Doubtful

Luss: Provision for doubtful receivables

Other receivabics
- Unyecured, considered good
- Doubtful
Less: Provision for doubiful receivables

Cash and bank balances

Cash and cush cquivalents
Cash on hand
Cheques on hand
Balance with bank
- In current sccounts

Other bank balances

Balances with banks
~ Ins depasit accounts (snder lien}

Details of bank balances / dcpbsits

Bank balances availahle on demand ¢ deposits with ariginal maturity of 3 months or less

included under “casht and cash equivalems

Bank deposils duc to mature. within 12 months ol the reporiing date included under
“other bank balances’ '

As at As at

Muarch 31,2018 Mareh 31,2017
5.586.052 21.230,080
- 21,250,000
15.753.070 21.250.000

2.667.123.675

21.230,000

2.688.462,797 83,000,000
2.688.462.797 83,000,000
2,688.462.797 2752123675
187.500 -
{IR7.300) -
. 5433.431 4.683,561
81.216 -
{81.214) .
3,433,431 4,683,561
11426 40247
- 291601
11,352,070 26342733
11,363,496 T 26,674,581
2,006,000 568,529
13,363,149 27.243.110
11,332,078 26.342.733
2.000.000 568,529

Balances with banks in deposit accounts under lien represents deposit made against bank guarantee plaved in favour of Pension Fund

Regulatory Development Authority.

Other current asscls

Interest aceryied but not due on fixed deposits

§1.309

7.9:44

51,309

1034




IFMR Haldings Private Limitcd
Notes to the standalone financial statements for the yeur ended March 31,2018
(AlE amounts sre in fndian Rupecs. except share data 2nd as stated)
For the vear cnded For the year ended
Mareh 31,2018 March 31,2017

16 Revenue from operations

Revenue from technology services 49,998,735 3I3.876.202
{ncentive income 234,958 748,693
Interest from inter corporate deposit - L9457
Profit on sale / redemption of invesiments - 35.947.666
Dividend income - 316,274
50,233,693 63,971,409
17 Otherincome
Profic on sale of current investments 2,214,737 2.129.216
Provisions no longer required writlen back 1,667,347 .
Liabilities no Jonger required writien back 191.837 -
Interest on fixed deposits with bank 89.731 147,157
Inlerest on income tax refund 69.823 326.236
Miscellaneous income 500 16,630
5,233,975 2,869,239
18 Employed benefits
Salaries, wages snd bonus 57.564,135 95,775.101
Conirsbution to provident and other funds 3.587.,090 3,664,496
Expunses related to post-cmployment defined beaefit plans (refer note 22) 2247717 817.890
Staff welfare expenses 4,028, 160 1.981.600
67,427,108 102,239,087
1% Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation of property, plam und equipment (refer note 8) 641,379 916,505
Amortisation of imangible (xed assets (refer note 9) 14.873.988 - 13,461,434
15,515,367 16,377,939
20 Other expenses
Rent 9.015.962 8.034.031
Software maintenance chirges 15.086.012 2,670,431
Travelling and conveyance 4738477 15,480,427
Legal and professional charges (refer note 21) 8.269.867 23.137.687
Repaies and mainicnancs 1241319 300544
Printing and stationery 197,774 705.678
Confercnce and training expenses 361.219 2.503.026
Communication expenses 559.531 913.691
Rates and taxes 8782420 2,533,463
Provision fur doubtful reccivables 268.716 -
Pravision for doubtiul advances 929,549 -
Bunk charges 80.603 76,107
Loss on sale of fixed assets 101,108 17.964
Assets written off - 4,379,509
Miscetlancous expenscs 76,084 29,544
48,617,941 67,803,122
21 Payments to auditor (excluding service tax / goods and services tax)
Statutory audit 700.000 1.025.000
Tax audit 100.000 1040000
Qut ol paghet expenses 21.680 33,330
821,680

~1,§58,330




FEMR Holdings Private Limited
Nates to the stundalone financial stagements for the yeur ended March 31, 2018
(Al amounts are in Indian Rupecs. except share dafa and os slated)

22 Employee benefits: Post- employment benefit plan

A Defined contribution plan
The Company makes specified monthly contributions twwards emplayee provident Jund 1o Government administered provident fund seheme
which is @ definedt contribution plan. The Company's contribution is recognised a5 an expense in the stafement of profit and loss during the
period in which the employee renders the velated service, The amaunt recognised as an expense towards conleibution to provident fund for the
year aggrepated (o INR 3,387,096 (March 31, 2017 INR 3,664 496).

B Defined benefit plan
The Company's gratuity benelit scheme is a defined plan, The Compuny's net obligation in respect of 2 defined ferefit plan is caiculated by
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have camed in rewrn for their services in the current and prior periods: that benefit is
discounted to determine its present value. Any unrecopnised past serviees and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted, The Caleulation of
the Company's obligation under the plan is perfornied annually by a qualified actusey using the projected unit credit method.
The Company’s pblipation wwards gratuity is a defined benelit plan and ao tund i being maintained. The details for actuarial valuation are
given betow:

As at As at
March 31, 2018 March 31,2017
Summary of asscts and linbilitics as at the year end:
Fair value of plen assets - -
Present value of obligations 3.981.244 4,322,249
Liability recognised in the halance sheet 3,981,244 4322249
Movement in fair value of plan assets
Fair value of plan assets as at beginning of the year - n
Expected nturn on plan assets ' - -
Actuarial (loss) / gain : « -
Contributions . - -
Beneflts paicd - -
Fair value of plan assets as-at the cnd of the year - -
Movement in present values of defined henefit obligation
Present value of obligations as at the beginning of the vear 4,322,249 4,013,872
Interest cost 202,566 280.568
Curment service cost 1.037.739 937.458
Past service cost 1.364.338 -
Benefits paid : {2.588.723) (509.513)
Actugrial (gain) / loss {336.926} {00, 136)
Present value of obligationy as at the end of the vear 3,981,244 4,322,249
Reconciliation
Net Hability as the beginring of the year 4,322,249 4.013.872
Net expenses tn statement of profit and loss 2.247.717 §17.890
Benelits paid (2.388.732) (309,513)
Net liability as the end of the year 3.981,244 4,322,249
The asset /(Hinbility) in respret of the gratuity plan comprises of the lollowing non-current and curreat portions:
Current . 119358 300,734
Nen-current 3.861.836 4.021.515
3.981.244 4,322,249

For the yearended  For the year ended

Mareh 31, 201H8 Muareh 31,2017
Amaounis to be cecognised in the statement of profit and toss
Interest cost _ 202,566 280368
Currenl service cost 1037739 937438
Past service cost 1,364,338 -
Net actuarial (gaing / loss (336.920) . 40036)
Net expenses to be recognifgd.in-the statement of profit and loss 2,247,717 S TH17.8%0

AN =
Cof A



IFMR Holdings Private Limited

Notes to the standulonc financial statemeats for the year ended March 31, 2018

(Al amounts are in Indian Rupees, except share data und as stated)

8L

22 Employee benefits: Post- empluyment benefit plan (continued)

23.1

Principal actuarial assumptions

The following are the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporiing date:

Discount rate as at the end of the veur

Monrtality table

Rate of exit due 10 reasons other than death or retirement {Past Service (P§)}

Fulure salary escalation rate

Note:

As at Ax at
March 31,2018 March 31,2617
7.72% 6.69%

1AL (06-08)
PS:{ito 5:3%
PS: 31010 2%
PS: 10t 13: 1%
5154047 :08%%
10%%

PAL (NG-08)
PS:0 05 20%
PS:5Swd7:2.3%

10%

1. The estimate of futane salary increase takes into secount inflation, senfority. promotion and other relevant factors, Purther. the Management
revigits the assumptions such as attrition rufe, salary escaution cte.. taking into necount, the busincss conditions, varieus extemnal / internal

factots aftecting the Company.

2. Discount rate s based on the prevaiting market vields of Indian Government Bonds as 2t the balunce sheet date for the estimated term of the
f it he

obligation.

Five year information

Amousnts for the current urid previous four years anc as foliows:

Particulars

Present value of henefit
obligations

Fair value of plan asscls
Excess of obligation over plan
assets

Experience adjustiment on plan
lubilitics - loss / {gain)
Experience adjustment on plan
assets (gain) ¢ loss

Earnings Per Share

Esrnings

As at A at As at Asat Asat

NMarch 31, 2018 March 31,2017 March 31,2016 March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014
3.541.2718 4,322,249 4.013.872 279421 18.211
1341271 4,322,249 $.013,872 279134 18.211
1.807.744 Bid,194 924,203 00781 18.211

Loss attributuble to cquity sharcholders

Weighted average number of ci;uity shares outstanding at the year end

Basic and dituted

Esvaings per shire

Loss per share — Basie and diluted

For the year ended

For the year ended

March 31, 2018 Maurch 3, 2617
(76,092,748} (119,373,300
3.401.470 2,333.623
(22.3% (3 1.24)

The outstanding potential equily shares as i Murch 31, 2018 and 2s at Maech 31, 2017 arc anti-dilutive in nature since the Corripany-“has

incurred losses during the current and the previous year. Hence, the weighted average number of equity shares used for Basic B

EPS arc the same.

ahd Diluted -




IFNMR Holdings Private Limited
Notes t0 the standalone finnncinl statements for the year ended Mareh 31, 2018
{All amounts are in Indian Rupees, except share data and as stated)

24 Segment reporting

The Group his classified the operations primarity into 2 segments Viz.. lnvestmens, Techrology services:

For the year ended

For the yeur ended

March 31,2008 Mareh 31,2017
Scgment reveauc ’
Investment - 37358514
Technology services 51).233.693 26,618,895
Total 50,233,693 63971409
Less: Inter segment revenuc - ~
Revenue from operations S0,233.693 63977409
Segment profit (profit before other income)
Investment {38.072.001) {39.885.250)
Technology services (43.254,732) 162.557,489)
Total (81,326,723) (122,442,739}
Add: Qther income 5233973 2,869,239
Profit before tax {74.092,748) (119,573,500}
Asat As at
March 31, 2018 March 31,2017
Scgment assets
Investsrent 2.693.078.789 2.783.933,121
Technology scrvices 96.415.356 50,334,689
Total 2,789.494,145 .. 2,874.309.810
Segmont labilities
{nvestment 3,890,054 25.904 980
Technology services 78,182,557 64,891,448
Total 82,073,511 90,796,428
Capital employed
{Sepment assety - Segment Habilities) 2.707.420.634 2.783.513,382

25 Forcign currency transactions:
Particulars For the year ended  For the year ended
Marvch 31, 2018 March 31,2007
Consultancy fee 4,714,680 -
Travelling und conveyance 747,977 1.275.277
Logal and professional charges -

d4.600.



IFMR Holdings Private Limited
Notes to the standalone financial statcments for the year ended March 31, 201§
(Al amounts are in Indian Rupees, except share data and as stated)

Q7

26 Related party disclosures

a}

b

Name of the related party and nature of relationship:

Nature of relationship

Holding contpany

Wholly-owned subsidiary
Step-down subsidiary
Subsidiary

Fellow subsidiary
Fellow subsidiary

Follow subsidiary

Key Managerinl Personnel
(KMP)

Transactions duriag the year

Nante of the related party

Dvara Trust (Formerly IPMR Trust) - Represented by Dvara Trusteeship Services Private Limited {Formerly
IFMR Trusweeship Services Private Limited)

IFMR Rural Channels and Services Private Limited
Pudbuaaru Financial Services Private Limited
Northern Are Capiial Limited {Formerly IFMR Capital Finance Private Limited)

tFMR Rural Finance Services Privae Limited

IFMR Mczzanine Finance Private Limited {upio December 21, 2017)
Bvara Research Foundation (Farmerly (FMR Finance Foundation )
Sucharita Mukberjee, Chiel Exceutive Officer (upto June 30, 2017y

Girish Nagar, Company Sceretary

Forthe yearended  For the year ended

Marvch 31, 2018 Mareh 34,2017
Northern Are Capital Limited
Revenue from technology services 4,795.082 -
Rent - 216.774 472953
HMR Rural Channels and Services Private Limited
Revenue from technology services . 24,077,379 19.252.000
Sale of fived assets 31,137 10.517
Expense reimbursement received 72702 -
[nesntive income 110,100 -
Tnter-corporate deposit provided = 97,000,000
Inter-corporate deposit repaid ) - £32.000.060
Interest on inter-corporate-deposit - 509457
Pudhuasry Financials Services Private Limited
Expense reimbursement received 30000 -
Dvura Reseirch Foundation
Expense reimbursement paid - 316274
Dvara Trust
Employee sharing cost 36,922 81,897
Rent and amenitics 6.350.000 7.802.923
Sale ol fixexd assets {02.569 ) -
Expuense reimbarscment 2 735,793 1.839,479
IFMR Rural Finance Services Private Limited
Expense eimbursement paid 538.117 444798

. IFMR Investment Advisers Scrvices Private Limited

Redemption of preference shares - 1.008.000
Dividend om preference shares - 316,274
Sucharity Mukherjee
Managerial remuneration 1.994.801 8.000.000
Girish Nagar
Managerial remuneration 600,000 173,753



IFMR Holdings Private Limited
Notes to the standalonce financiul statements for the year ended March 31, 2018
{AH amounts ase in indian Rupees, exeept share data and as stated)

"26  Related party disclosures (contimted)

¢} Balanece satstanding as at the year end

Asx at As at

Murch 31,2018 March 31,2017
Northera Are Capital Limited
Trade receivables 370.528 493,915
[FMR Rursl Channels and Services Private Limited
Trade reccivables 1,374,360 10,517
Pudhuaaru Financials Services Private Limited .
‘Trade receivables ’ 59.000 -
Bvara Resesrch Foundation
Advances - 375,078
Dvara Trust
Trade payables ] 31,390,871 43429371
IFMR Rural Finance Serviees Private Limited
Advonces ’ 1,463,560 927382
IFMR Mezzanine Finance Private Limited :
Advances : - 21,956
Dvara Trusteeship Services Private Limited
Advances 20,200 -

27 Micro and small enterprises

The Minisiry of Micro. Small and Moedium Enterprises has issued an ofiice memuerandum dated August 26, 2008 which recommends that the
Micro and Smalt Enterprises shoukd mention in their correspondence with its customers the Entrepreneurs Memorandum Number as aflocated
afler filing of the Memorandum in accordance with the Micra, Small and Medium Enterprise Development Act, 2006 (*the Act). Aceordingly.
the disclosure in respect of the amounts payable to such enterpriscs as at March 31, 2018 bas been made in the finuncial statements based on
ifonmation received and available with the Company. The Company has not received any claim for interest from any supplier as at the balance
sheet date.

As st As ot

March 31, 2018 Muarch 31,2017
“The amouats remudning unpuid  micro and small suppliers as at end of the period / yéar
- Principai - .
- [Iaterest ' . -
The amount of interest paid by the buyer as per the Micro. Smail and Madium Enterprises - -

Development Act, 2006 (MSMED Act, 2006).

The ampunt of payroents made to the micro and small suppliers bevond the appointed day - -
during cach aceounting period / vear

“The amount of Wterest due and payuble For the period of delay in making poyment {which have - -
been paid but beyond the appointed day during the period / year) but withewt adding the interest
specified undler MSMED Act, 2006

The amount of interest acerued and remaining unpaid at the end of cach accounting perimd / year - -

The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succending years. uniil - e -
such dute when the tnterest ducs as above are actually paid 1o the small enterprises for the ' ‘
purpose of disaltowance as v deductible expenditure under the MSMED Act, 2006.




IFMR Holdings Private Limited
Notes o the standalone financiad statements for the year ended March 31, 2018
(Al amounts are in Indian Rupees, except share duta and as stated)

28

30

3

As per e Accounling Standard 22, "Accounting for taxes on income”, the Compuny pencrutes deferred tax assel, comprising mainly of
geatuity, carricd forward losses, unabserbed deprecimion. Flowever, as subsequent reatisation of deferred lax asscts in near future is not
virtually certain, management is of the view that it is prudent not 1o recagnise deferred Lux asset as at March 31. 2018 and March 31. 2017,

Specificd bank notes

The disclosures regarding detuils of speeilied bank notes (SBN') hefd and transacted during the current year' has not been made since the
requirement does not pertain te finaneial year ended March 31, 2018. However. corresponding details of SBN for the period from November &,
2016 10 December 30, 2046 as sppearing in the audited financial siatenents for the year ended March 31, 2017 have been disclosed helow,

During the previous year. the Company had specified bank notes or ather denemination riole as dofined in the MCA Notification G.S.R 308(E)
dated March 31 2017 on the details of specified bank notes (SBNY held and transacted during the period from November 08, 2816 w 30
December 2016, The denomination wise SBN znd other notes as per the aotifiestion s given below:

Particulars SBNs Other denomination Tota¥
notes

Closing cash in hand as on November 08, 2016 15,500 22,397 37,897

Add: Permitted neceipts - 40.000 40,000

Less: Permilied payments - (24,297) {24,297y

Less: Amount deposited in banks (net of withdrawal) {13,300 - o {15,500y

Closing cash in hand as on Deeember 30, 2016 - 38,100 38100

For the purpose of this clause, the werm specified bank note shalt have the same meaning provided in the notification of the Government of
India, the Minisiry of Fipance - Department of Econemic Affairs No. 5,0.3407 (E). dated Noversber 8, 2016,

Scheme of Arrangement
During the year. the Company vide it's board meeting duwed December 18. 2017 had approved the foliowing two schemes under Section 230 o
232 of the Companies Act, 2013:

Scheme 1
Scheme of Arrangement {Demerger) & Amalgamation between thw Company. Northern Are Cepital Limited, Dvara Investments Private
Limited and their respective shareholders and ereditors.,

» The sguregator business of the Company und the entire investments relating (o Nonthem Are Capital Limited hetd by the Company swould by
transterred to Dvara Tnvestments Privase Limited.

Scheme 2
Scheme of Arrangement (Demerguer) & Amalgamation between the Compuny. Pudhuaan Financial Services Private Limited. IFMR Rural
Channels and Services Private Limited. Dvara Solutions Private Limited and their cospective sharcholders and creditors.

As per the aforesaid seheme. the rolevant sequence of demerger and amalgamation prapesed 1o be carried out ase listed belaws;
* Amalgamation of IFMR Rural Channels and Services Private Limited with the Company.

« Demerger of KGFS business of the Company into Dvara Solutions Private Limited,

* Amalgamation of the Compuny into Pudhuanre Fingacial Services Private Limited.

The appointed dute under the aforesaid Schemes is March 31, 2017, The Compuny is in the process of obusining neeessary approvals from
various statutory autharities and filfing it with the Hon e National Company Law Tribusal (NCLT), Pending approval peocesses and Tilling
with NCLT, no adjusiment has been considered in the above firancial statements for the aforesald schemes.

Corporate Social Responsibility
According 10 the provisions of Scetion 133 of the Companics Act. 2013 read with Schedule VII and the Companies (Corporate Social
Responsibility) Rules, 2014, the Company has not mude profits for the preceding three years and heace no expenditure mwards Corp(:mm
Social Respansibility was made for the year ended March 31, 2018 and for the previous vear ended March 31, 2017,
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FFMR Holdings Private Limited
Notes to the standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2018
(Al amounts pre in Indion Rupees, exeept share data and as stated)

32 Prior year comparatives
Previous year Hgures have been re-grouped / re-arranged wherever neccssary to conform o the current year's classification / diselosure.
Previous year's nancial statements have been audited by a firm other than B § R & Ce. LLP.

As per our report of even date attached

for BSR & Co. LLP For and on behail of the Board of Directors of
Charwered Accountants IFMR Holdiags Private Limited
ICAT Firm Registration No. 10124R8WAW- 130022 CIN: U749081N2013PTC094383 . o

_ | RNAN .
N\ \ st S“)v it - :
i / ™ -
Raghuram ] Bindu Ananth Samir Amrit Shah

urtner Dircctor Dirccior
Membership No: 21017 DIN: 02456029 DIN: 00912693
Q:i s2sh

e .
Moot
Giirish Nagar
Company Secretary
PMauce; Chennai Place: Chennai
Daie: May 112018 Date: May 11,2018



DVARA INVESTMENTS PRIVATE LIMITED
Unaudited Balance Sheet as at 30-June-2018

As at 30-June-

As at 31-March-

Particulars Note No. 2018 2018
{Amount in INR) (Amount in INR)
I EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders' funds
(a) Share Capital 3 1,00,000 1,00,000
(b) Reserves & Surplus 4 -11,800 -11,800
88,200 88,200
Non-current liabilities - -
Current liabilities .
Short-Term Provisions 5 11,800 11,800
11,800 11,800
TOTAL OF EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,00,000 1,00,000
Il ASSETS
Non-current assets - -
Current assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 6 1,00,000 1,00,000
1,00,000 1,00,000
TOTAL OF ASSETS 1,00,000 1,00,000
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DVARA INVESTMENTS PRIVATE LIMITED

Unaudited Statement of Profit and Loss for the period ended 30th June 2018

For the period

For the period from
01-Jan-2018 to 31-Mar

Tax Expenses

Current Tax
{Deferred Tax

Profit / (loss) for the year

Particulars Note No. ended 30-June-2018 2018
(Amount in INR) (Amount in INR)
INCOME - -
EXPENDITURE
Other Expenses 7 - 11,800
Total Expenses - 11,800
Loss for the year before extraordinary items and tax -11,800
Extraordinary items - -
Loss for the year before tax - -11,800

-11,800




DVARA INVESTMENTS PRIVATE LIMITED
Unaudited Cash Flow Statement for the period ended 30th June 2018

Particulars

For the period
ended 30-June-2018

For the period from
01-Jan-2018 to 31-
Mar-2018

{(Amoun

tin INR)

A, Cash flow from operating activities

Loss for the period before Tax

Changes in working capital

Adjustments for increase/ (decrease) in Operating Liabilities:
Short-Term Provisions

Cash generated/ (used) in operations

Taxes Paid

Net cash used in operating activities (A)

B. Cash flow from investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities (B)

C. Cash flow from financing activities
Issue of Equity share capital
Net cash flow from financing activities (C)

Net (decrease) / increase in Cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents transferred pursuant to scheme of arrangement
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

-11,800

11,800

1,00,000

1,00,000

1,00,000

1,00,000

1,00,000

1,00,000

1,00,000

Reconciliation of Cash and Cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents as per Balance sheet { Refer Note 6)

Add: current investments considered as part of Cash and Cash equivalents as
defined in AS 3 Cash flow statements

Net Cash and Cash equivalents( as defined in AS 3 Cashflow statements)

Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year comprises of:
(a) Cash in Hand
{b) Balances In Current Account

1,00,000

1,00,000

1,00,000

1,00,000

1,00,000

1,00,000

1,00,000




Dvara Investments Private Limited
Notes forming part of Financial Statements

Note 3 - Share Capital

Particulars

As at 30-June-
2018

As at 31-March-
2018

{Amount in INR)

{Amaunt in INR)

Authorised
1,00,000 ( PY : 1,00,000) Equity Shares of Rs.10 each with voting rights

Total

Issued, Subscribed and Fully Paid up
10,000 ( PY : 10,000 ) Equity Shares of Rs.10 each with voting rights

Total

10,00,000 10,00,000
10,00,000 10,00,000
1,00,000 1,00,000
1,00,000 1,00,000

(a) Details of shares held by each share

holder
As at 30-June-2018 As at 31-March-2018
Name of the Shareholder No.of shares % of shareholding No.of shares % of
held held shareholding

EQUITY SHARES:
DVARA Trust 9,999 99.99 9,999 99.99
Vijayaragavan V (On behalf of DVARA Trust)

1 0.01 1 0.01
Total 10,000 100 10,000 100

(b ) Movement in shares
(i) EQUITY SHARES

As at 30-June-2018

As at 31-March-2018

Particulars
No.of shares

Amount In (Rs.)

No.of shares

Amount In (Rs.)

Opening Balance 10,000 1,00,000 - -
Add: Shares issued during the year - - 10,000 1,00,000
Closing Balance 10,000 1,00,000 10,000 1,00,000

{c)Terms and Rights attached to Equity Shares

is entitled to one vote per share.

assets of the Company.

The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders.

The Company has issued one class of equity share at a par value of Rs.10 per share.Each holder of Equity share

In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining




Dvara Investments Private Limited

Notes forming part of Financial Statements

Note 4 - Reserves and Surplus

Particulars

As at 30-June-
2018

As at 31-March-
2018

(Amount in INR)

(Amount in INR)

-

(a) Deficit in Statement of Profit and Loss

Opening Balance
Add: Profit/(Loss) for the year
Closing Balance

Total

(11,800} -

- -11,800
(11,800) -11,800
-11,800 -11,800

Note 5 - Short-Term Provisions

Particulars

As at 30-June-
2018

As at 31-March-
2018

(Amount in INR)

(Amount in INR)

Other Liabilities
Provision for Expenses - Audit Fees

Total

11,800

11,800

11,800

11,800

Note 6 - Cash and Cash Equivalents

Particulars

A_s at 30-June-
2018

As at 31-March-
2018

(Amount in INR)

(Amount in INR)

- Cash in Hand
- Balance In Current Account
Total

Of the above , the balances that meet the definition of cash

equivalents as per AS-3

1,00,000

1,00,000
1,00,000 1,00,000
1,00,000 1,00,000

The Company was not in existence during the périod 8th November, 2016 to 30th December, 2016.
Consequently the disclosure requirement as envisaged in Notification G.S.R 308(E) dated 30th March

2017 is not applicable.




Dvara Investments Private Limited
Notes forming part of Financial Statements

Note 7 - Other Expenses

Particulars

For the period
ended 30-June-2018

For the period from
01-Jan-2018 to 31-
Mar-2018

(Amount in INR)

{Amount 'in INR)

Auditor's Remuneration

11,800

Total

11,800
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Independent Anditor’s Report

To the Members of
Northern Arc Capital Limited

(forinerly kinown as IFMR Capital Finance Limited)
Report on the audit of the standalone financial siatements

We have audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of Morthern Arc Capital
Limited (“the Company”), which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 March 2018, the statement of
profit and loss and the cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other cxplanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the standalone financial statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of the
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect to the preparation of these standalone financial
staternents that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs, profit and cash flows of the
Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the
Accounting Standards prescribed under Section 133 of the Act.

This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with
the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and
detecting frauds and other irrcgularitics; selection and application of appropriaie accounting
policies; making judgmenis and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design,
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating
effectively for ensuring the accuracy and comploteness of the accounting records, relevant to the
preparation and presentation of the standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view
and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the standalone financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends
to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these standalone financial statements based on our
audit.

We have taken inlo account the provisions of the Act, the accounting and auditing standards and
matters which are required to be included in the audit report under the provisions of the Act and the
Rules made thereunder.

B 3 R & Co (8 pertnorship firm with fAsgisterad Gifica:
Ragistration No, 8AG1223) canvertad inlo 5th Floor, Ledha Excslus
3SR & Co. LLP {a Limited Ligbility, Partnarship Agpotio Mills Compound

with LLP Ragisiration No. AAB-5181) M. M. Jashi Marg, Mahataxmi

with affoct from Qctober 14, 2013 . Mumbai - 400 011, India



We conducted our audit of the standalone financial statement in accordance with the Standards on
Auditing specified under Section 143(10) of the Act. Those Standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the standalone {inancial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures lo obtain audit evidence about the amounts and the
disclosures in the standalone financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the standalone
financial statements, whether due to fraud or crror. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal financial control relevant to the Company’s preparation of the standalone
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made by the
Company’s Directors, as well as cvaluating the overall presentation of the standalone financial
stalements.

We are also responsible to conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists refated to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a matcrial uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the standalone
financial stalements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the opinion. Gur conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the auditos’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause an entity to ceass to continue as a going conceri,

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion on the standalone {inancial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion, and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
aforesaid standalone financial statements give the information required by the Act in the manner so
required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally
accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31 March 2018, its profit and its cash
flows for the year ended on that date.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

. As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2016 (“the Order”), issued by the
: Central Government in terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, we give in “Annexure A” a
statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the said Order.,

As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

a)  We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of
our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purpose of our audit.
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The balance sheet, the statement of profit and loss and the cash flow statement dealt
with by this report arc in agreement with the books of account.

In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the
Accounting Standards prescribed under Section 133 of the Act.

On the basis of writicn representations received from the direciors as on
31 March 2018, taken on record by the Board of Dircctors, none of the directors are
disqualified as on 31 March 2018 from being appointed as a director in teims of
Section 164(2) of the Act.

With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to the
standalone financial statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of
such controls, refer to our separate report in “Annexure B”; and

With rcspect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance
with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and
to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us;

i The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial
position in its slandalone financial statements. Refer note 28 fo the standalone
{inancial statements.

1 The Company has made provision, as required under the applicable law or
accounting standards, for material forcsecable losses, if any, on long-term
contracts including derivative contracts. Refer note 29 to the standalone financial
statements.

it There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor
Education and Protection Fund by the Company.

iv. The disclosures in the standalone financial statements regarding holdings as well
as dealings in specified bank notes during the period from 8 November 2016 to
30 December 2016 have not been made since they do not pertain to the financial
year ended 31 March 2018. However, amounts as appearing in the audited
standalone financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been
disclosed. — Refer note 66 to the standalone financial statements.

ForBSR & Co. LLP

Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No: 101248W/W-100022
7

Manoj Kumar Vijal

Partner

11 May 2018 ‘ Membership No: 046882
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(v)

(vii)

i

(b) The Company has a regular programmc of physical verification of iis fixed asscts
by which all fixed assets are verified every year. In our opinion, this periodicity of
physical verification is reasonable having regard to the size of the Company and
the nature of its assets. According to the information and explanation given to us,
no material discrepancies were noticed on such verification.

(c) The.Company does not hold any immovable properties and accordingly, paragraph
3(i)(c) of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our
examination of the records of the Company, the Company is a Non-Banking Financial
Company and primarily engaged in lending activities, accordingly it does not hold any
physical inventories. Thus, paragraph 3(ii) of the Order is not applicable.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company
has granted secured and unsecured loans to two companies covered in the register
maintained under Section 189 of the Companies Act, 2013

(a) In our opinion, the rate of inferest and other terms and conditions on which the
loans had been granted to the Companies listed in the register maintained under
o
Section 189 of the Act were not, prima facie, prejudicial to the interesi of the
p
Company.

6] In the case of the loans granted to the companies listed in the register maintained
under Section 189 of the Act, the borrowers have been, where ~t1puhted, regular in
the payment of principal and interest.

{c) There are no overdue amounts in respect of the loans granted to the companiss
listed in the register maintained under Section 189 of the Act.

According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has complied with
the provisions of section 185 and 186 of the act with respect to loans, invesitments,
guarantees and security made, as applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our
examination of the records of the Company, the Company has not accepted deposits from
the public. Accordingly, paragraph 3(v) of the Order is not applicable.

The Central Government has not prescribed the maintenance of cost records under section
148(1) of the Act, for any of the services rendered by the Compan/ Accordingly, paragraph
3(vi) of the Order is not appllcable

(a) According to the information and explanations given 1o us and on the basis of our
examination of the records of the Company, amounts deducted/accrued in the
books of account in respect of undisputed statutory dues including provident fund,
employees’ state insurance, income-tax, service tax, goods and services 1ax, cess
and any other material statutory dues have been generally deposited regularly
during the year by the Company with the appropriate authorities, As explained to
us, the Company did not have any dues on account of sales tax, duty of customs,
duty of excise and value added tax.

P
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(viii)

(ix)

——
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{xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

{xiv)

W

According 1o the information and explanations given to us, no undisputed amounts
payable in respect of provideni umd‘ employees’ state insurance, income-iax,
service tax, goods and services ’a\, cess and any other material statutory dues wer
i arrears as at 31 March 2018 for a period of more than six months from the date
they became payable.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us, there are no dues of
incoirie tax, service tax and goods and services tax which have not been deposited
with the appropriate authorities on account of any dispute except in the following

Cases:
- . , . Forum where dispute is
Mame of statute Paricd Amount in Hs, .t P
pending
[ncome tax act, 1961 AY 2014-13 24123330 Commissioner of Income Tax
{Appeals)
Finance act, 1994 — Service AY 2010 <2013 1,239,877  Cusloms, Cxcise and Service”
tax Appeliale Tribunal

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company
has not defaulted in repayment of dues to its bankers or to any financial institutions or to
debenture holders. The Company did not have any outstanding loans or borrowings to
government during the year.

In our optnion and according to the information and explanations
has not raised any money by way of initial public offer or furth in
debt instruments). However the Company has raised term loans fim ng the year. In our
opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the term loans
taken by the Company have been applied {or the purpose for which they were raised.

o
gt
528

According to the information and cxplanations given to us, no material fraud on or by the
Company by its officers or employees has been noticed or reported during the course of
our audit.

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination
of the records of the Company, the Company has paid/ provided for managerial
remuneration in accordance with the requisite approvals mandated by the provisions of
section 197 read with schedule V to the act.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company
is not a Nidhi company. Accordingly, paragraph 3(xii) of the Order is not applicable.

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination
of the records of the Company, transactions with the related parties are in compliance with
sections 177 and 188 of the Act where applicable and details of such transactions have
been disclosed in the ‘standalone financial statements as required by the applicable
accounting standards.

The Company has during the year offer ed shares for private placement and has complied
with the provisions of Section 42 of the Companies Act, 2013. According to the
information and explanations give 10 us and based on our examination of the records of the
Company, the amount so raised has been used for the purpose for which the funds were
raised.

.
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ForBS R & Co. LLP

: “hartered Accountants
Firm’s Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

I 1'11503 ﬁama Yijai
Partner

London
11 May 2018 : Membership Mo: 046882
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Report on the Internal Financial Contrsls under Clause (1) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143
of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act™)

We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to the standalone financial
statements of Morthera Arc Capital Limited (“the Company”) as of 31 March 2018 in
conjunction with our auditl of the standalone financial statements of the Company for the year
cnded on that date. )

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Finamia? Comntrols

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial

controls based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the

Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note
on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) issued

by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (‘ICAD). These responsibilities include the

design, implementation and maintenance of adequate intemal financial controls that wers

operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including

adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of
frauds and errors, the accuracy and complicteness of the accounting records, and the timely

preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to cxpress an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls over
financial reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance
Note and the Standards on  Auditing, issued by ICAD and deemed to be prescribed under
section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls,
both applicable to an audit of Internal Financial Controls and, both issued by the ICAIL Those
Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial
controls over financial reporting was established and maintained and if such controls
operated eflectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audil evidence about the adequacy of the
internal financial controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our
audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal financial controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the standalone
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system over financial
reporting.

\



Meaning of Tuternal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting

A company's internal [inancial control over financial reporting is-a process designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of standalone financial stalements for exiernal purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintcnance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance thal iransactions are recorded as necessary
to permit preparation of standalone financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only
in accordance with authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3)
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the standalone
financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Conirols over Financial Reporting

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including
the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the
internal financial controls over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that U
internal financial control over financial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

[}
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Opinion

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls
system over [mancial reporting and such internal financial contiols over financial reporting
were operating effectively as at 31 March 2018, based on the internal control over financial
reporting criteria  established by the Company considering the essential components of
internal control stated in the Guidance Note issued by the ICAL

ForBSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm’s Registration No: 101248W/W-100022

Manoj Kumar Vijai
London Pariner
11 May 2018 Membership No: 046882




Morthern Arc Capital Limited

(Formerly [FMR Capital Finance Limited)

Balance sheet as at Mareh 31, 2018

{All amounts are in Indian Rupces, except sharce data and as stated)

Note As at As at
Mareh 31,2018 March 31,2017
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders' funds
Share capital 3 1,133,294,510 1,050,920,230
Rescrves and surplus 4 5,165,489,173 3,954,220,989
6,298,783,683 5,003,141,219
Meon-curreat Habilities
Long-term borrowings 5 12,594,044 562 10,944,671,768
Other non-current liabilities 6 7,823,230 40,050,608
Long-term provisions 7 99,392,967 78,313,335
12,701,260,759 11,063,035,711
Current liabilitics
Short-term borrowings 8 7,678,872,604 '5,823,105,559
Trade payables

- dues to micro enterprises and small enterprises - -

- dues to creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 9 67,759,014 95,752,634
Other current liabilities 10 8,732,143,608 7,083,746,790
Short-term provisions 7 617,650,491 335,120,367

17,096,425,717 13,337,725,350
36,096,470,159 29,405,902,280
ASSETS
Non-current assets

Fixed assets

- Property, plant and equipment thl 3,667,312 3,002,560

- Intangible fixed assets 11.2 35,979,682 33,785,726

- Intangible fixed assets under development LL3 13,340,994 1,769,264

Non-curreal investments 12 7,031,230,100 7.683,785,060

Deferred tax assets (net) 14 224 098,510 121,998,850

Reccivables under financing activitics 13 11,322,271,688 7,797,547,349

Long-term loans and advances 15 78,490,372 56,479,878

Other non-current asscts 16 17.637.031 - 96,766,767

18,726,115,549 13,795,135,454
Current Assets

Current investments 12 3,102,108,811 3,673,766,667

Receivables under financing activitics 13 11,659,833,216 8,187,985,057

Cash and bank balances Y] 1,927,715,229 1,259,713,756

Short-term loans and advances 15 383,229,120 161,915,799

Other current asscts 18 297,468,094 325,385,547

17,370,354,470 13,610,766,826
36,096,470,159 29, 405,902,280
Significant accounting policics 2

The notes refurred to above from an integral part of the financial statements
As per our report of cven date altached

for BSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAT Firm Registration No: 10 1248W/W-100022

Vanoj Kumar Vijai
Partner
Membership No. 046882

Place : London
Datc : May 11, 2018

For and on behaif of the board of dircctors of

Northern Arc Capital Limited
CIN: U39 10TN1989PL.CO 17021

;V&n ndes

K

Managing Director

DIN: 02539429

R. Srividhya

Corpany Sccretary

Place : Chennai

Date : May 11,2018

/,,vr"‘ ~~.\\
‘] kw :Uuk’
ly -
Batdu Ananth
Dircctor
DIN: 02456029

2, A

Bama Balakrishnan
Chief Financial Officer



Piorthern Are Capital Limited

(Formerly [FMR Capital Finance Limited)

Statement of profit and loss for the year ended Mareh 31, 2018
{All amounts are in Indian Rupees. except share data and as stated)

Note Year ended Year ended
Ot Mareh 31, 2018 March 31,2017
REVENUL
Revenue from operations 19 4.561,728,426 3,572,9()7,004
Other income 20 28,098,295 31,289,888
4,589,826,721 3,604,196,892
EXPENSES
Finance costs 21 2,296,454,743 1,761,722,642
Employee benefits 22 453,412,445 333,734,518
Depreciation and amortisation : 23 16,414,520 12,034,000
Provision and loan losses 24 290,458,107 337,436,709
Other cxpenses 25 352,789,066 253,369,643
3.409.528.881 2,698,297,512
Profit before tax 1,180,2597,840 905,399,380
Tax expense
Current tax expense 508,244,184 410,079,330
Deferred tax beneflt {102.099.060) {98,864,046)
406,144,524 311,215,284
Profit for the year 714,153,316 594,684,096
Earnings per equity share (Face value of TNR 10 per sharc) 37
Basic - o 9.88 7.41
Diluted 8.33 6.99
Significant accounting policies 2
The notes referred to above from an integral part of the financial statements
As per our report of even date attached
Jor BE5R & Co.LLP For and on behalf of the board of directors of
Chartered Accountants Northern Arg Capital Limited
[CAI Firm Registration No:101248W/W-100022 CIN: U65910TN1989PLC0O17021
- 2' DY
> e
Manej Kumar Vijai Fama Fernandes Bindu Ananth
Parter Managing Director Director
Membership No. 046882 DIN: 02539429 DIN: 02456029

o

Placc : London
Date : May 11,2018

R. Srividhya
Company Sceretary
Place : Chennai
Date : May (1,2018

Bama Balakrishnan
Chief Financial Officer
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(Formerly [FMR Capital FFinance Limited)
Cash flow statement for the year ended Mareh 31, 2018

(All amounts are in Indian Rupces, except share data and as stated)
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For the year ended

For the yeur ended

Note March 31,2018 Mareh 31,2017
A Cash low from operating activities
Profit belore tax 1,180,267,840 905,899,380
Adjustaents for:
Depreciation and amortisation 16,414,520 12,034,000
Profit on sale of mutual fund investments (26,782,224 (25,338,793)
Contingent provision for standard assets 28,451,307 337,436,709
Provision for non-performing assets 9,307,466 7,930,777
Provision for investments 166,358,949 57,557,759
Provision for guarantees 86,340,385 245,748,769
Employee stock compensation plan 20,177,450 4,000,000
Finance costs 2,296,454,743 1,761,722,642
[nterest income from banks on deposits (6,311,440) (19,229,161)
QOperating profit before working capital changes 3,776,708,996 3,287,542,080
Changes in working capital and other changes:
Increase in reccivables under [inancing activitics (6,996,572,498) {3,599,841,300)
{Increase)/ decrease in loans and advances (221,281,925) 29,173,045
Decrease/ (increase) in other assets 103,225,315 (118,931,752)
(Increase)/ decrease in other bank balances (38,085,165) 157,749,561
(Decrease)/ increase in trade payables (27,993,620) 11,327,916
Increase/ (decrease) in other labilities 15,385,286 (127,578,714)
[nerease/ (decrease) in other provisions 13,151,648 (305,613,810)
Cash used in operations {3,401,461,963) (666,173,474)
Finance cosls paid (2,474,008,625) {1.508,839,460)
Income tax paid (net) (530,286,074) (438,254,936)
Net eash flow used in operating activities (A) (6,405,756,562) {2,613,267,878)
B Cash flowys from investing activities
Purchase of fixed assets (30,246,767) {17,935.697)
Proceeds from sale of [ixed assets 1,809 105,755
Interest received on fixed deposits 10,133,314 33,289,338
Purchase of mutual fund investments (5,740,000,000) (7,805,000,000)
Sale of mutual fund investments 3,766,782,225 7,830,558,795
Purchase of other investments (9,558,444,260) (11,976,309,030)
Salc of other investments 10,784,657,076 4,767,387.831
Net cash provided by investing activities (B) 1,232,883,397 (7,167,902,988)
C  Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds {rom long-term borrowings 11,247,599,812 11,897,893,018
Repayments of long-term borrowings (7,819,888,981) (3,529,606,244)
Proceeds from short-term borrowings 2,207,537,020 2,675,761,216
Repayment of short-term borrowings (351,769,973) (103,681,394)
Proceeds from issue of preference share capital 499,311,697 1,620,017,704
Redemption of preference share capital - (150,000,000)
Proceeds from issuc of cquity share capital - 24,246
Dividend paid on preference shares - (10,848,825)
Dividend distribution tax paid - (2,983,534)
Net cash generated from financing activities (C) 5,782,789,573 10,396,576,187
Met inerease in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+(C) 609,916,308 615,405,329
Cash and cash cquivalents at the beginning of the year 1,195,224,774 379,819,445
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1,805,141,082 1,195,224,774




Morthern Are Capital Limited

(Formerly [FMR Capital Finance Limited)

Cash flow statement for the year ended Mareh 31, 2013

(All amounts are in Indian Rupcces, except share data and as stated)

Mote Asat As at
) Mareh 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Notes to cash flow statement
I Componcnts of cash and cash equivalents: 17
Balances with banks
- in current accounts 1,455,141,082 1,195,224,774
- in deposit accounts free of lien 350,000,000 -
1,805,141,082 1,195,224,774
Significant accounting policies : i 2
The notes referred to above from an integral part of the financial stalcments
As per our report of even date attached
Jor BE R & Co. LLP : For and on behalf of the board of directors of
Chartered Accountants Morthern Arc Capital Limited
ICA[ Firm Registration No:101248W/W-100022 CIN : U65991TN1993PTC024547
f (_\;&{;}J
1
Manoj Kumar Vijai Kshama Yernandes Bindu Ananth
Partner Managing Director Director
Membership No. 046882 DIN: 02339429 DIN: 02456029
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Do

R. Srividhya Bama Balakrishnan
Company Secretary Chief Financial Officer
Place : L.ondon Place : Chennal

Date : May 11, 2018 Date : May 14, 2018




Northern Are Capital Limited

{Formerly IFMR Capital Finance Limited)

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2018
(All amouats are in Indian Rupces. except shave data and as stated)

2.1

2.3

23

Company overview

Northern Are Capital Limited (formerly [FMR Capital Finance Limited) (“the Company™), was incorporated on March 4, 1993
and is registered as a non-deposit taking Non-Banking Finance Company (NBFC). The Company has received the Certificate of
Registration dated August 8, 2013 in licu of Cettificate of’ Registration dated June 24, 1999 from the Reserve Bank of India
(*RBI”) to carry on the business of Non Banking Financial [nstitution without accepting public deposits (“NBFC-ND”).

The Company s a subsidiary of [IFMR Holdings Private Limited ("the Holding Company”}.

The Company’s objective is to provide liquidity and develop access to debt-capital markets for institutions that impact financially
excluded households and enterprises.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of accounting and preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared and presented under historical cost convention and acerual basis of accounting, unless
otherwise stated, and in accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles in India (Indian GAAP) and conform (o the
statutory requirements, circulars, regulations and guidelines issued by Reserve Bank of [ndia (RBI) from time to time to the extent
they have an tmpact on the financial statements and current practices prevailing in India. The financial statements have been
prepared to comply in all material aspects with the Accounting Standards ("AS") notified under Section 133 of the Companics
Act, 2013. The Company follows the prudential norms for income recognition, asset classification and provisioning as prescribed
by the RBI for Systemically Important Non-deposit taking Non-Banking Finance Companies (N BFC-ND-31).

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the Indian GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting vear, reported balance of asscts and
liabilitics and disclosurc of contingent liabilities as at the date of financial stalernents. Actual results could differ from these
estimatos. Any revision to accounting estimates is recognized prospectively in current and future years.

Operating Cycle

Asscts and liabilitics arc classified as current and non-current bascd on the operating cycle which has been estimated to be 12
months. All assets and liabilitics which arc cxpected to be realized and settled within a period of 12 menths [fom the date of
balance sheet have been classified as current and other assets and liabilitics are classified as non-current.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash cquivalents compriscs cash on hand and demand deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are short-term balances
(with an original maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which arc subjeet to insignificant risk of changes in value.

Cash flow statement

Cash flows are rcported using the indirect method, whereby profit before tax is adjusted for the effects of transactions of a
non—<ash naturc and any deferrals or accruals of past or future cash reccipts or payments. The cash flows from regular revenue
generating, financing and investing activitics of the Company are segregated. Cash flows in forcign currencics arc accounted at the
actual rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. )

\\:’ ~ s - .
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Northern Are Capital Limited

(Formerly [I'MR Capital Finance Limited)

Motes to the financial statements for the year ended Maren 31, 2018
(All amounts are in Indian Rupecs, except share data and as stated)

2.6

2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment ("PPE)

PPE are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. The cost of PPE includes non-refundable tascs,
duties, freight and other incidental expenses incurred directly related to the acquisition and installation of the assct. Subsequent
expenditure on PPE after their purchase / complction is capitalized, only if such expenditure results in an increase in the future
benefits from such asset beyond its previously assessed standard of performance. Cost of assels not ready for intended use, as on
balance sheet datc, is shown as capital work in progress. Advance given towards acquisition of fixed assets outstanding al cach
balance sheet date are disclosed as long terms loans and advances.

Intangible fixed assets

Intangible fixed assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangiblc
fixed assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

The cost of intangible fixed asscts not ready for the intended use at cach balance sheet date is disclosed as intangible fixed assets
uader development. ' '

Depreciation and amortisation

The depreciable amount of an asset is the cost of an assct or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value. Depreciation
is provided on the original cost on a written down valuc method at the uscful lifc given under Part C of the Schedule U of the
Companies Act, 2013. Pro-rata depreciation is provided for all assets purchased / sold during the year. Leaschold improvements
arc depreciated over the remaining period of lease or estimated useful life of the assets, whichever is lower. The estimated useful
life of various tangible and intangible asscts are as undex:

Asset category Useful life

a) Property, plant and equipment

Plant and machinery ’ 15 years

Furniturc and fittings 10 years

Office equipments 5 years

Computers and accessorics 3 years ) -
Servers 6 years

b) Intangible fixed assets
Computer softwarcs

wn

years

2.9 Impairment

‘the Company determines periodically whether there is any indication of impairment of the carrying amount of its asscts. ‘The
tecoverable amount (higher of net selling price and value in use) is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflow that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. The recoverable amounts of such
asset are estimated, if any indication exists and impairment loss is recognized wherever the carrying amount of the assct exceeds its
recoverable amount. Wherc it is not pessible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company cstimates the
rccoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.




MNorthern Are Capital Limited

(Formerly FMR Capital Finance Limited)

otes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2018
(All amounts are in [ndian Rupces, cxeept share data and as stated)

2.10 Investments

2.11

213

(i)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

{v)

(vi)

Ou initial recognition, all investments arc measured at cost. The cost comprises purchase price and dircetly altributable acquisition
charges such as brokerage and fees.

Investments maturing within three months from the date of acquisition arc classified as cash equivalents if they are readily
convertible into cash. Investments that are readily realizable and intended to be held for not more than a year (rom the datc of
acquisition are classificd as current investments. Afl other investments are classified as long-term invesiments. However, that part
of long lerm investments whichiis expected to be realized within 12 months afler the reporting date is also presented under *current
assets’ as “current portion of long term investments™.

Long-term investments (including current portion thereof) are carried at cost less any other-than-temporary diminution in value,
determined separately for each individual investment based on management's assessment of recovery and realisation.

Current investments ave carried at the lower of cost and fair value.

Any reductions in the carrying amount and any reversals of such reductions are charged or credited to the Statement of Profit and
Loss.

Foreign currency fransactions

Foreign currency transactions are recorded into Indian rupees wsing the actual cxchange ratcs prevailing at the date of the
transuctions. Lxchange differences arising on forcign exchange transactions scttled during the year are recognized in the staiement
of profit and loss. Monctary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies as at the batance sheet date arc translated at the
elosing exchange ralcs on that date. Exchange differcnces arising on foreign exchange transactions during the year and on
restatement of monetary asscts and liabilitics are recognized in the statement of profit and loss.

Derivative instruments

Premium or discount arising at the inception of forward exchange contracts is amortized as expense or income over the life of the
coniract. Any profit or loss arising on the cancellation or renewal of forward contracts is recognized as income or as expense for
the period. In relation to the forward contracts entered into to hedge the foreign currency risk of the underlying outstanding at the
balance sheet date, the cxchange difference is calculated as the differonce between the forcign currency amount of the contract
translatcd at the exchange rate at the reporting date, or the settlement date where the transaction is settied during the reporting
period, and the corresponding foreign currency amount translated at the later of the date of inception of the forward exchange
coniract and the last reporting date. Such cxchange differences arce recognized in the statement of profit and loss in the reporting
period in which the exchange rates change. The Company has adopled the “Guidance nolc on accounting for derivative contracts”
issucd by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India ((ICAT’) on June 1, 2015 we.f April 1, 2016. Derivatives are mark to
market, any gain/loss arising out of such derivatives are recognized in the statement of profit and loss

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will (low to the Company and the revenue can be
reliably measured.

Interest income from financing activitics : nlcrest income is recognized in the statement of profit and loss on an accrual basis by
applying the internal rate of retwn mcthod on a time proportionate basis. In accordance with RBI guidelines relating to
Assignment / Securitisation transactions, gains / intcrest spread arising {rom assignment / securitisation are recognised over the life
of the underlying asscts. In case of any loss, the samc is recognised immediately in the statement of profit and loss.

Interest income on Non Performing Asscts (NPA) is recognised as per the RBI Guidelines. Interest accrued and not realiscd before
the classification of the asset as an NPA is reversed in the month in which the loan is classified as NPA,

Incomc from investment in pass through certificates is recognised bascd on the coupon rate in accordance with the terms of the
underlying contracts.

income from guaranice facilitics, collateral deposits from customers, investment in non-convertible debentures arc recogrized on a
time propotionate basis. Income from investment in commercial papers is recognised on a straight-line basis over the tenurc of
such investments. Income from investment in alternative investment fund is recogniscd when the right to reccive is cstablished.

Income from other financial scrvices includes processing fees, professional fee and arranger fee which is recognised as and when

_the services are rendered by the Company.

[ncome from dividend is recognized in the statcment of profil and loss when the right to reccive is established.

Profit / loss on disposal of an invesiment is recogniscd at the time of such sale / redemption and is computed by
average cost.

&
o/ Chennai
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Northern Are Capital Limited

(Formerly [FMR Capital Finance Limited)

otes to the financial statements for the year ended darch 31, 2018
(Al amounts arc In [ndian Rupees. except share data and as stated)

2,14 Employes benefits
Post-employment benetits
Defined coniribution plan

The Company's contribution to provident fund are considered as defined contribution plan and are charged as an cxpense as they
fall due based on the amount of contribution required to be made and when the scrvices arc rendered by the employecs.

Defined benefit plans
Gratuity

The Company’s gratuity benefit scheme is a defined benefit plan. The Company’s net obligation in respect of the gratuity benefit
scheme is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have carned in return for their service in the current
and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present valuc. The calculation of the Company’s obligation under such
defined benefit plan is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

The Company recognises all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans immediately in the Statement of profit
and loss. All expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in employce benefits expense in the Statement of profit and
loss. When the benelits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased bencfit related to past service by employee is
recognised in Lhe Statement of profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. The
Company recognises gains and losses on the curtailment or scttlement of a defined benefit ptan when the curtailment or settlement
oceurs.

Long-term employee benefits

Compensated abseneces

The employees can carry forward a portion of the unutilised accrued compensated absences and utilise it in future scrvice periods
or reccive cash compensation on termination of smployment. Since the compensated abseaces do not {all due wholly within twelve
months after the end of such period, the benefit is classified as a long-term employee benefit. The Company records an obligation
for such compensated abscnces in the period in which the cmployee renders the services that increase this cntiticment, The
obligation is measured on the basis of independent actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method.

Short-term employee benefits

The undiscounted amount of short-term employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the scrvices rendered by cmployees
arc recognized during the year when the employees render the service. These benefits include performance incentive and
compensated absences which are expected to occur within twelve months after the end of the year in which the employee renders
the related service. The cost of such compensated absences is accounted as under :

() in case of accumulated compensated absences, when employees render the services that increase their entitlement of future
compensated abscaces; and

(b) in case of non-accumulating compensated absences, when the absences occur.

Stock based compensation

The Company measures compensation cost relating to employee stock options using intrinsic value method, in accordance with the
Guidance Note on Accounting for Employee Share-bascd Payments issucd by Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The
excess of fair value of shares on the date of grant over the excrcise prices is regarded as the compensation cost and is amortized
over the vesting period of the respective options on a straight line basis.




Norvthern Are Capital Limited

(Formerly [FMR Capital Finance Limited)

Motes to the {inancial statements for the year ended March 31, 2018
(All amounts are in Indian Rupces, cxcept share data and as stated)

2.13 Taxes on intome

2.16

217

2.18

Income-tax sxpense comprises current tax (i.e. amount of tax for the year determined in accordance with the income-tax law) and
deferred lax charge or credit (reflecting the tax cffects of timing differences between accounting income and taxable income for the
period), Income-tax expense is recognized in staterment of profit and loss except that lax cxpense relating to items recognived
directly in reserves is also recognized in those reserves.

Minimum Alternate Tax ("MAT") paid in accordance with the tax laws, which gives future economic benefits in the form of
adjustment to future income tax liability, is considered as an asset if there is convincing evidence that the Company will pay
normal income lax. Accordingly, MAT is recognised as an assct in the Balance Sheet when it is probable that future economic
benefit associated with it will flow to the Company. '

Current tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered {rom) the taxation authoritics, using the applicable tax
rates and tax laws. Deferred tax is recognized in respect of timing differcnces between taxable incomc and accounting income i.c.
differences that originalc in onc ycar and arc capable of reversal in one or more subsequent years. The deferred tax charge or credit
and the corresponding deferred tax liabilitics or assets are recognized using the tax ratcs and tax laws that have been cnacted or
substantively cnacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets arc recognized only to the extent there is reasonable certainty
that the asscts can be realized in future; however, where there is unabsorbed depreciation or carried forward loss under taxation
laws, deferred tax asscts arc recognized only if there is a virtual certainty supported by convincing evidence that sufficient future
taxablc income will be available against which such deferred 1ax assets can be realized. Delerred tax asscts and liabilitics are
reviewed as at each balance sheet date and written down or written-up to reflect the amount that is rcasonabiy/virtually certain (as
the case may be) to be realized.

Earnings per share

The Company reports basic and diluted camings per equity share in accordance with AS 20, Earnings Per Share issucd by the
Instituic of Chartered Accountants of [ndia. Basic carnings per equity share is computed by dividing nct profit / loss attributable to
the equity share holders for the ycar by the weighted average number of equity shares ouistanding during the year. Diluted
carnings per equity share is computed and disclosed by dividing the net profit attributable o the cquity share holders afier giving
impact of dilutive potential equity shares for the ycar by the weighted average number of cquity sharcs and dilutive potential
equity shares outstanding during the ycar, cxeept where the results are anti-dilutive.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs include interest and ancitlary cosis that the Company incurs in connection with the borrowings. Costs in
connection with the borrowing of funds to the extent not directly related to the acquisition of qualifying asscts arc charged 1o Lhe
Statement of Profit and Loss at the time of availment of the loan unless it is incurred on periodic basis,

Loan acquisition costs represents ancillary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowings, including borrowings
sanctioned but not availed and is amortised on a straight line basis, over the tenure of the respective borrowings. Unamortised
borrowing costs remaining, if any, arc fully cxpensed off as and when the refated borrowing is prepaid / cancelled.

Operating leases

Operating leasc payments are recognized as an cxpensc in the Statement of Profit and Loss on straight line basis over the lease
term.

Provisions, contingent Habilities and contingent assets

A provision is rccognized when there is present obligation as a result of past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation, in respect of which a reliable estimate can be made. Provisions are determined based on
best estimates required (o scttle the obligation at the balance sheet date. These are reviewed at each balancs sheet date and adjusted
to rellect the current management estimates. Loss contingencies arising [rom claims, litigation, assessment, fines, penalties, etc., are
recorded when it s probable that a liability has becn incurred and the amount can be reasonably cstimated. Contingent asset is not
recognised in the financial statements since this may result in the recognition of income that may never be realiscd.

Provision for invesiment is made as per internal estimates, based on past experience, realisation of underlying assets and other
refevant fuctors relating lo investments. Provision for guarantees is based on the risk weightage assigned to the respective [acilities
issued by the Company.




Morthern Are Capifal Limited

(Formerly IFMR Capital Finance Limited)

Notes to the {inancial statements {or the year ended March 31, 2818
tAll amounts are in Indian Rupees. except share data and as stated)

2.20  Classifieation and provisioning on receivables under financing activities

(a) Receivables under financing activitics are recognised on disbursement of loan to customers. The details of the policy are given below:

(b) Asset classification
Receivables under financing activities are classified as standard, sub - standard and doubt{ul asscts and provided for as per the
Company’s policy and Management’s estimaies, subject to the minimum classification and provisioning norms as per the Master
Direction - Non-Banking Financial Company — Systcmically Important Non-Deposit taking Company (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016.
Asset clagsification Criteria
Standard assets . Not overduc or overdue for less than 90 days

MNom Performing Assets (NPA)

Sub-standard assets Overdue for 90 days and more but up to 12 months
Doubtful asscts Sub-standard for more than 12 months
Loss assets Assets which are identificd as loss asset by the Company or the internal

auditor or the cxternal auditor or by the Rescrve Bank of India.

“Qverdue” refers to interest and / or principal and / or instalment remaining unpaid from the day it became receivable.

{¢) Provisioning norms for receivables under financing activities:

Asset elassification , Perceniage of provision
Standard asscts ’ 0.40%

MNon-Performing Assets (NPA)

Sub-standard asscts ’ 25%
Doubtful asscts 30% - 100%
Loss asscts 100%

(d) Under exceptional circumstances, management may renegotiate loans by rescheduling repayment terms for customers who have
defaulted in repayment but who appear willing and ablc to repay their loans under d longer term agreement. Rescheduled Standard assets
are classified / provided for as Sub-standard assets as per (b) above which classification / provisioning is retained for a period of 1 year
of satisfactory performance. Rescheduled non performing assets are not upgraded but arc retained at the original classification /
provisioning for a period of 1 ycar of satisfactory performance.
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Motes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31,2013
(All amounts are in Indian Rupees, except share data and as stated)
As at As at

3

a)

Share capital

Authorised ‘

165,000,000 (March 31, 2017: 163,000,000 ) equily shares of INR 10 cach
17,500,000 (March 31, 2017 :
INR 20 each

20,000,000 (March 31, 2017: 20,000,000) 9.85% Cumulative non convertible compulsorily
redeemable preference shares of INR 10 each

Issued, subseribed and paid up
78,365,673 (March 31, 2017: 78,365,673) equity sharcs of INR 10 each

17,481,839 (March 31, 2017: 13,363,175 ) 0.0001% Compulsorily convertible preference shares of

INR 20 each

Reconciliation of the shares ontstanding at the beginning and at the end of the reporting year

“March 31,2018

Much 31,2017

17,500,000) 0.0001% Compulsorily convertiblc preference shares of

1,650,000,000 1,650,000,000
350,000,000 350,000,000
200,000,000 200,000,000

2.200.000.800 2,200,000,000
783,656,730 783,656,730

349,637,780

267,263,500

1,133,294,510

1,850,928,230

Asg at March 31, 2018

As at March 31, 2017

Equity shares
At the commencement of the ycar
Add: Shares issucd during the year

No. of shares Amount Ny, of shares Amount
78,365,673 783,636,730 78,365,473 783,634,730
- - 200 2,000
78,365,673 783,656,730 78,363,673 783,656,730

At the end of the year

As at March 31,2018

No. of shares Amount

As at March 31,2017

No. of shares

Amount

9.85% Cumaulative waon  convertibie
redeemable preference shares

At the commencement of the ycar - -
Add: Shares issucd during the year - -

Less: Shares redeemed during the year - -

compulsorily

15,000,000

{ 15.008.000)

150,000,000

(150,000,000)

At the end of the year - . -

As at March 31,2018

As at Mareh 31, 2017

No. of shares Amount Mo. of sharey Amount
0.0001% Compulsorily convertible preference shares
At the commencement of the year 13,363,175 267,263,500 - -
Add: Shares issued during the year (Refer note below) 4,118,714 82,374,280 13,363,175 267,263,500
At the end of the year 17,481,889 349.637.78D 13,363,175 267,263,500

Note:

During the ycar, pursuant to amcnded share subscription and shareholders ‘agreement, the Company has issued 3,711,952 0.0001%
Compulsorily convertible preference shares (March 31, 2017: 7,918,937) of INR 20 each to FIL Capital Investments (Mauritius) (1) L\mxted
and 406,762 (March 31, 2017: 5,444,238) sharcs of INR 20 each to Standard Chartered Bank (Singaporc Branch) .
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3

Share capital {continued)

b} Rights, prefercnces and restrictions attached to cach class of shares

t)

d)

i) Equity shares

The Company has a single class of cquity sharcs. Accordingly all equily sharcs rank cqually with regard to dividends and share in the
Company's residual assets. The equity shares are entitled to receive dividend as declared from time to time subject to payment of dividend to
preference shareholders. Dividends are paid in Indian Rupecs. Dividend proposed by the board of directors, if any, is subject to the approval of
the sharcholders at the General Meeting, except in the case of interim dividend.

‘In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the Company, after

distribution of all preferential amounts. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders.

i) 8.0801% Compulsorily eonvertibie preference shares:

0.0001% Compulsory Convertible Preference Sharcs ('CCPS') having a par valuc of INR 20 is convertible in the ratio of 1:1 and arc treated pari-
passu with cquity sharcs on all voting rights. The conversion shall happen at the option of the preference sharcholders. The CCPS if not
converted by the preference sharcholders shall be compulsorily converted into equity shares upon any of the following events:

a. {n connection with an IPQO, immediately prior to the filing of red herring prospectus {or equivalent document, by whatever name called) with
the competent authority or such later date as may be permitted under applicabic law at the relevant time; and
b. The date which is 19 (nineteen) years {rom the date of allotment of CCPS.

Till conversion, the holders of CCPS shall be entitled to a dividend of 0.0001%, if any, declared upon profits of the Company and a
proportionate dividend, if any declared on equity shares on 'as converted' basis.

iil) 9.85% cumulative non convertible compulsorily redeemable preference shares
9.85% cumulative non converlible compulsorily redeemable prefercnce shares having a par value of INR 10 cach are redeemable at par at the
end 1§ months {rom the date of allotment.

The preference sharcholder is entitled to vole only on resolution placed before the Company which directly atfects the rights attached to such
prefersnce shares as set out in Scction 47 o the Companies Act, 2013, The right to entitlement for dividend on preference shares aot declared in
a financial ycar shall be carricd forward to the subsequent {inancial years.

Shares held by holding/ ultimate holding company and /or their subsidiaries / associates:

As at March 31, 2018 As at darch 31,2017
No. of shares Y% held MNo. of shares Yo held
Equity shares:
IFMR  Holdings Privatc Limited (including nomince 45,887,686 38.56% 45,837,686 58.56%

sharcholders) (Holding Company)

Details of sharcholders holding more than 3% shares in the Company

As at March 31,2018 ) As at March 31,2017
No. of shares Y% held MNo. of sharcs ] % held
Equity shares: . .
[FMR Holdings Private Limited and its nominecs 45,887,686 58.56% 45 887,686 58.56%
Leapfrog Financial Inclusion India Holdings Limited 26,860.220 - C34.28% 26,860,220 34.28%
FIL Capital Investments (Mauritius) (1) Limited 1,979,859 2.33% 1,979,859 2.53%
Standard Chartered Bank {Singapore Branch) 3,637,908 4.63% 3,637,908 4.63%

4.0001% Ceompulsorily convertible preference shares
FIL Capital [nvestments Mauritius (1) Limited 11,630,889 66.53% 7,918,937 59.26%
Standard Chartered Bank (Singapore Branch) 5,851,000 33.47% 5,444,238 40.74%




Morthern Are Capital Limited

(Formerly [IFMR Capital Finance I.imited)

MNotes to the financial statements for the year ended Mareh 31,2018
(All amounts are in Indian Rupees, except share data and as stated)

4

Reserves and surplus

Securities premium account

At the commencement of the year

Add: Premium received on shares issued during the year
At the end of the year

Statatory reserve .

At the commencement of the ycar

Add: Transfer from surplus in the statement of profit and loss (refer note 4.1 below)
At the end of the year

Employee stock options outstanding account

At the commencewment of the year

Add: Employee compensation expense during the year
At the end of the year

Surplus in the statement of profit and loss
At the comroencement of the year

Add: Profit for the year

Less: Transfer to statutory reserve

Dividend on 9.85% cumulative non convertible compulsorily redeemable preference sharcs

Dividend distribution tax
At the end of the year

As at
Vlarch 31,2018

As at
March 31, 2017

2,147,286,644 794,510,194
416,937,418 1,352,776,450
2,564,224,062 2,147,286,644
364,195,980 245,259,161
154,831,000 118,936,819
519,026,980 364,195,580
4,000,000 .

20,177,450 4,000,000
24,177,450 4,000,000

1,438,738,365

976,823,448

774,133,316 594,684,005
(154,831,000) (118,936,819)
. (10.848,825)
. (2,983.534)
2,058,060,681 1,438,738,365
5,165,489,173 3,954,220,989

As per Scction 43-1C of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934, the Company is required to create a reserve fund at the rate of 20% of the net
profit aficr tax of the Company every year. Accordingly, the Company has transferred an amount of INR 154,831,000 (March 31, 2017:

118,936,819), out of the profit after tax for the year ended March 31, 2018 to Statutory Rescive.
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Merthern Arc Capital Limited

(Formerly IFMR Capital Finance imited)

Motes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2018
(All amounts arc in [ndian Rupees, except share data and as stated)

5 Long-term borrowings

Mowm-current portion Current portion *
As at Ay gt As at As at
Mareh 31,2018  Mareh 31,2017  March 31,2008 Mlarch 31, 2017

Secured
Redecmable non-convertible debentures: ~

- 1,000 units (March 31, 2017: Nil units) of 9.88% 1,000,000,000 - -

Redeemable non-convertible debentures of INR 1,000,000

each, maturing on March 27, 2620

- 1,000 units (March 31, 2017: 1,000 units) of 9.60% 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000 : - -
Redeemable non-convertible debentures of INR 1,000,000

cach, maturing on December 27, 2019

- 750 units (March 31, 2017: 750 units) of 10.90% 750,000,000 750,000,000 - .
Redeemable non-convertible debentures of INR 1,000,000

each, maturing on Junc 24, 2019

- 730 units (March 31, 2017: Nil units) of 9.69% 750,300,000 - -

Redeemable non-convertible debentures of INR 1,000,000

cach, maturing on May 2, 2019

- Nil units (March 31, 2017: 1,500 units) of !1.15% - - - 1,500,000,000
Redeemable non-convertible debentures of INR 1,000,000

each, maturing on March 13, 2018 :

- Nil units (March 31, 2017. 1,000 units) of 10.10% - 1,000,000,000 - -
Redeemable non-convertible debentures of INR 1,000,000

cach, maturing on Aprit 20, 2020

- Nil waits (March 31, 2017: 1,250 units) of 11.10% - - - 1,250,000,000
Redeemable non-convertible debentures of INR 1,000,000 -

cach, maturing on March 29, 2019

Term Loans from banks : 5,639,604,603 3,223,762,679 6,706,140,384 3,460,251,608
Term L.oans from others 554,440,321 440,909,089 1,570,120,170 295,170,909

9,694,044,324 8,414,671,768 8,276,260,554 6,505,422,517
Unsecured

Redeemabie non-convertible debentures:

- 2,500 units (March 31, 2017: 2,500 units) of 10.43% 2,500,000,000 2,500,000,000 - -
redeemable non-convertible debentures of INR 1,000,000

each, maturing on August 2, 2019 .

- 1,500 units (March 31, 2017: 1,500 units) of 14.50% - 30,000,000 30,000,000 22,500,000
redeemable non-convertible debentures of (NR 30,000 :

cach, maturing on December 18, 2018

Term Loans from banks 149,999,638 - - L.
Term Loans from others 250,000,000 - - -
2,899,999,638 2,530,600,000 30,000,000 22,500,000

12.594.044.562 10,944.671.768 8,306,260,554 6,527,922,517

* included under other current liabilities (refer note 10)




Morthern Are Capital Limited

(Formerly IFMR Capital Finance Limited)

MNotes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2018
(All amounts arc in Indian Rupces, except share data and as stated)

MNotes:
5.1 Terms of repayment of borrowings:

Range of rate of Amount Amount
Particulars (tenure in years) interest p.a. (%) 15 outstanding as at outstanding as at
at March 31,2018 March 31,2018 Mareh 31, 2017

Term loans from banks - secured

-2 years 8.90% 10 10.85% 2,381,547,313 1,109,696,6035
- 3 years . 9.05% 10 13.00% 8,428,483,387 $,788,603,402
-4 years 9.15% 10 10.73% 1,535,714,287 785,714,280

Term loans from others - secured
- 2 years 8.90% t0 9.50% 1,500,000,000 -
- 3 years 9.30% to 11.35% 624,560,491 736,079,998

Term loans from banks - unsccured
- 6 years 10.25% 149,999,638 -

Term loans from others - unsecured
- 6 years 10.25% 250,000,000 -

Redeemable non-convertible debentures - secured
- 2 years . 9.69% 10 9.88% 1,750,000,000 -
- 3 years 9.60% to 10.90% 1,750,000,000 3,300,000,000

Redeemable non-convertible debentures - unsecured
- 3 years 10.43% 2,500,000,000 2,560,000,000
-3 years 14.50% 30,000,000 32,300,000

5.2 The Company has created a specific charge on its reccivables under financing activities for its secured borrowings. The Cornpany needs to
maintain a sccurity cover ranging from 1 to 1.2 times of the outstanding loan amount at any point of time.

3.3 Interest rates vary amongst the borrowings between fixed and {floating rates and are payable on & monthly or quarterly or half yearly basis.
The interest rates disclosed above represent the rates of interest as at March 31, 2018, The repaymcent of principal portion is either on a
monthly or quarterly or half yearly basis.

5.4 During the year, the Company has not defauited in the repayment of dues to its lenders / debenture holders.

As at As at
March 31, 2018 March 31,2017

6 Other non-current liabilitics
Collateral deposits from customers 7,823,230 31,715,420
Employee benefits payable - 8,335,188
- 7,823,230 40,050,608




MNorthern Arce Capital Limited
(Formerly IFMR Capital Finance Limited)

MNotes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2018
(Atl amounts are in Indian Rupees, except share data and as stated)

7 Provisions

8.1 Terms of repayment of borrowings:

Contingent provision for standard assets
Provision for investments

Provision for guarantecs

Provision for non-performing asscts
Provision for gratuity (refer note 32)
Pravision for compensated absences

Short-term borrowings

Secured

Loans repayable on demand {rom banks
- Working capital loan

- Cash credit

Ungecured
Commercial paper

Less: unamortised discount on commercial paper

MNotes:

MNon-current

Particulars

Working capital foan

Cash credit from bank

Commercial paper

Current
As at As at As af Ag at
March 31, 2018 Mareh 31,2017  March 31,2018  ¥areh 31,2017
45,485,294 30,591,426 46,277,656 32,720,217
19,445,388 26,416,636 411,021,202 237,691,005
- - 140,792,760 54,452,375
- - 17,238,243 7,930,777
26,038,638 14,256,664 1,295,967 1,295,967
8,423,627 7,048,609 1,024,663 1,030,026
99,392.967 78.313.333 617,650,491 335,120,367
As at As at
March 31,2018 Darch 31,2017
1,649.999,524 920,900,000
1,901,382,184 1,646,433,612
4,250,000,000 3,350,000,000
(122,509,104) (94,228,033)
7,678,872,604 5,823,105,539
Range of rate of .
interest p.a. (%) Tenure of the Am(?um Am?unt
as at Mareh 31 Loan outstanding as at outstanding as at
l2018 ’ March 31,2818  March 31, 2017
8.50%- 9.35% Repayable on 1,649,999,524 920,900,000
demand
9.00%- 10.20% Repayable on 1,901,382,134 1,646,433,612
demand
7.90%- 9.20% 2 to 12 months 4,127,490,896 3,255,771,947

The Company has created a specific charge on its receivables under financing activitics for its sceured borrowings. The Company needs to
maintain a security cover ranging from 1.1 to 1.33 times of the outstanding loan amount at any point of time.
Interest rates for working capital loan and cash credit [acilities vary between fixed and floating rates and arc payable on a monthly basis.
Discount rates for commercial papers are fixed and are repayable on maturity.
During the year, the Company has not defaulted in the repayment of ducs to its fenders,




Northern Are Capital Limited

(Formerly IFMR Capital Finance Limited)

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended Mareh 31, 2018
(All amounts are in [ndian Rupees, except share data and as stated)

As at
March 31, 2018

As at
¥arch 31, 2017

9 Trade payabiles

Trade payables
- dues to micro enterprises and small enterprises (refer note 30)
- dues to creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises

10 Other current liabilities

Current maturitics of leng term borrowings
- from redeemable non-convertible debentures (refer note 5)
- from banks (refer note 5)
- from others (refer note 5)
Collateral deposits from customers
Interest accrued but not due on
- term loan from banks
- term loan from others
- non-convertible debentures
- working capital loan
- collateral deposits from customers
Emplovee benefits payable
Long term incentive
Statutory ducs payable
Remittances payable - derecognised assets
Corporate social responsibility provision
Other labilitics

67,759,014 $5,752,634
67,759,014 95,752,634
30,000,000 2,772.500,000
6,706,140.384 3,460,251,608
1,570,120,170 295,170,909
31,272,328 61,246,900
38,667,238 51,881,164
6,326,704 3,112,098
86,197,351 252,283,895
2,620,302 100,000
3,876,622 7,865,162
157,700,312 78,134,197
45,065,588 3,900,506
37,703,452 63,867,493
16,452,937 33,432,858
8,732,143,608 7,683,746,790
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Morthern Arc Capital Limited

{Formerly IFMR Capital Finance Limited)

Motes to the financial statements for the year eaded March 31,2018
{All amounts arc in indian Rupees, cxcept share data and as stated)

12 Investments

(Valued at cost unless stated otherwise)

Men-current Current
As at As al As at As at
¥arch 31,2018 March 31,2017  March 31,2018 March 31, 2017

Mon-trade investments - unquoted:

investment in equity shares of subsidiarics

125,000 (March 31, 2017: 125,000) cquity shares of INR
100 each in Northern Arc Invesiment Adviser Services
Private Limited

361,000 (March 31, 2017: 361,000)cquity shares of TNR
100 each in Northern Arc Investment Managers Private
Limited

investment in preference shares of subsidiaries

76,000 (March 31, 2017 76,000) 8% redecmable
preference shares of INR 100 cach in Northem Arc
fnvestment Adviscr Services Private Limited

722,000 (March 31, 2017: 722,000) redeemable preference
shares of INR 100 each in Northern Arc Investment
Managers Private Limited

Investments in pass through certificates
Investments in Alternative Investment Fund

MNon-trade invcsﬁ:mems; quoted :

Investment in debentures

12,779,670

36,100,000

7,600,000

72,200,000

1,014,711,577
2,041,180,948

12,779,670

36,100,000

7,600,000

72,200,000

1,560,158,98
950,946,409

2,426,302,751

2,617,766,667

3,846,657,905 3,044,000,000 675,606,060 778,000,000
Investment in commercial papers - - - 280,000,000
7,031,230.100 7.683.785.860 3.102.108.811 3,675,766,667
Aggregate book value and market value (NAV) of quoted
investments
- Debentures 3,846,637,905 3,044,000,000 673,506,060 778,000,000
- Commercial papers - - - 280,000,000
Aggregate book value of unquoted investments in
- Equity sharcs of subsidiaries 48,879,670 48,379,670 - -
- Prefercnce sharcs of subsidiaries 79,800,000 79,800,000 - -
- Pass through certificates 1,014,711,577 1,560,158,981 2,426,502,751 2,617,766,667
- Altemative Investment Fund 2,041,180,948 950,946,409 - -
13 Receivables under financing activities
Non-current Current
March 31,2018 March 31,2017  March 31,2018 Mareh 31,2017
Unsecured
Considered good
- Loans to rclated partics 112,703,923 149,690,821 - -
- Loans to others 2,850,337,972 1,185,107,373 1,861,512,754 2,067,087,061
2,563,041,895 1,334,798,194 1,961,512,754 2,667,087,061
Secured
Considered good
- Loans to related parties 11,655,505 66,130,476 23,229,884 86,182,779
- Loans to others 8,347,574,288 6,396,618,679 9,627,929,908 6,026,784,440
wn-performing assets
‘e\gc Cﬁ‘b‘ s to others - - 45,160,670 7,930,777
8,359,229,793 6,462,749,155 9,698,320,462 $,120,897,996

11,322,271 688

7,197,547,349

11,659.833.216

8.187.985,057




Morthern Are Capital Limited
(Formerly (FMR Capital Finance Limited)
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31,2018

(Al amounts are in indian Rupees. exeept share data and as stted)

14 Deferred tax asset (nef)

16

Deferred tax labilities
Unamortised borrowing costs

Excess of depreciation/ amortisation under income-tax law over depreciation/
amortisation over depreciation/ amortisation provided in accounts

Deferred tax assets

Contingent provision for standard assets
Provision for investments

Provision for guarantees

Provision for non-performing assets
Provision for employee benefits

Net deferred tax asset

Loans and advances

Unsecured, considered good

Advance income tax {(nct of provision for tax)
Loans and advances to subsidiary
Unamortiscd borrowing costs

Prepaid expenses

Security deposits

Advances to employces

Other receivables

Balances with government authorities
Receivable from other financial services

Other non-current assets
Fixed deposits with banks
Intercst accrucd but not due on fixed deposits

Accrucd income on investments in pass through certificates

As at -

Marceh 31, 2018

As at
¥larch 31,2917

15,418,832 11,884,268

6,769,793 3,750,698

22,188,627 17,634,966

11,443,481 6,235,571

150,422,245 107,227,303

49,198,624 3,019,429

6,023,732 2,744,842

29,199,055 20,406,671

246,287,137 139,633,816

224,098,510 121,598,350

Long-term Short-term
As at As at As at As at
Mareh 31,2018  March 31,2017 March 31,2018  March 31,2017
51,629,739 29,587,849 - -
3,798,783 10,276,604 - -

23,061,850 16,613,425 33,167,525 21,316,386
- - 1,801,669 3,211,272

- 18,544,797 18,279,297

- - 1,383,509 236,365

. - 23,476,400 17,339,135
13,491,365 3,291,712

- - 291,363,835 98,241,632
78,490,372 56,479,878 383,229,120 161,915,799
As at As at

Mareh 31,2018

March 31,2017

7,823,230 31,715,420

544,991 1,416,615
9,268,810 63,634,732
17,637,031 96,766,767




Northern Are Capital Limited

(Formerly IFMR Capital Finance Limited)

Motes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31,2018
(All amounts are in Indian Rupees, except sharc data and as stated)

17 Cash and bank balances

Cash and cash equivalents

Balance with banks

- in current accounts .

- in deposit accounts free of licn (with original maturity of less than 3 months)

Other bank balances
Balances with banks
- [n deposit accounts

MNote:

Bank balances available on demand/deposits with original maturity of 3 months or
tess included under *Cash and cash equivalents’

Deposit due to mature within 12 months of reporting date included under "Other
bank balances"

Deposits due to mature after 12 months of the reporting date included under "other
non-current assets”

18 Other current assets
Interest acerued but not duc on
- receivables under financing activities
- tixed deposits with banks
Accrucd income on investments in pass through certificates
Accrued income on investment in alternative investment fund

e A
o Y
Qo paccls

N8 A

As at As at
Yiarch 31,2018 March 31,2017
1,433,141,082 1,195,224,774

350.000.000

1,805,141,082

122,574,147

1,195,224,774

64,488,982

1,927,715,229

1,259,713,756

1,805,141,082

122,574,147

1,195,224,774

64,488,982

7,823,230 31,715,420
166,110,119 163,631,918
3,347,715 4,297,963
22,164,715 106,771,733
105.845.545 46,683,929
297,468,094 323,385,547




Northern Are Capital Limited

(Formerly IFMR Capital Finance Limited)

Motes to the finuneial statements for the year ended Mareh 31, 2013
(All amounts arc in [ndian Rupees, cxcept share data and as stated)

/97

Year vnded
Ylareh 31,2018

Year ended

March 31,2017

19 Revenue from operations
[nterest income from financing activities
Income from investment in pass through certificates
Income from guaraniee facility
{ncome from other financial services
- Processing fee
- Professional fee
- Arranger fee for guarantee facility
lncome from investment in commercial paper
Interest income fram banks on collateral deposits from customers
Interest income from investment in non-convertible debentures
Income on investment in Alternative Investment Fund
Profit on sale of investments

20 Other income
Interest income from banks on deposits
Profit on sale of mutual fund investments
Other non operating incomce

21 Finance costs
Intcrest expenses on
- term loans from banks
- nop-convertible debenturcs
- cash credits and overdraft
- others
Amortisation of discount on commercial papers
Amortisation of ancillary costs relating to borrowings

22 Employee benefits
Salaries, wages and bonus
Contribution to provident fund (refer note 32)
Stock based compensation expensc (refer note 33)

Expenses related to post-craployment defined benefit plans (vefer note 32)
Staft welfare expenses

23 Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (refer note 11.1)
Amortisation of intangible fixed dssets (refer note 11.2)

24 Provision and loan losses
Contingent provision for standard asscts
Provision for non-performing assets
Provision for investments
Provision for guarantees

2,638,788.471 1,924,329.993
405,303,574 476,166,880
62,318,372 38,257,915
192,608,991 126,974,500
372,039,351 487,476,078
55,837,300 25,853,000
18,250,836 6,852,840
4,995,369 13,498,528
582,035,493 306,534,713
206,836,293 101,438,899
22,692,174 63,121,658
4,561,728.425 3,572,807,604
1,316,071 3,730,633
26,782,224 25,558,795
460

28,098,295 31,289,888

[,267,613,638 782,881,401
604,512,083 638,217,956
113,540,312 69,142,695

4,995,369 13,498,528
269,766,544 219,959,140
36.026.777 38,022,922
2,256,454,743 1,761,722,642

387,160,897 297,247,141
15,305,030 11,498,753
20,177,450 4,000,000
16,960,739 6,380,086
13,808,329 14,608,538

453.412.445 333,734,518

4,475,670 6,202,278
11.938,850 5,831,722
16,414,520 12,034,000
28.451,307 26.154,571

9,307,466 7,930,777

166,358,949 252,041,788
86,340,385 51,309,573

290,458,107 337,436,709
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2018
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Year ended Year ended
Viarch 31,2018 Mlareh 31, 2017
25 Other cxpenses
Rent 38,008,088 32,403,709
Rates and taxes 2,531,442 7,913,001
Travelling and conveyance 45,313,269 47,539,967
Legal and professional charges 181,228,900 122,743,752
Auditors' remuncration (refer note 26.1 below) 3,611,534 3,950,000
Directors’ sitting fees 717,108 353,286
Repairs and maintenance - others 9,885,797 4,975,695
Communication expenses 3,338,824 5,023,015
Printing and stationery 1,448,185 933,730
Subscription charges 4,494,244 4,525,823
Advertisement and business promotion 19,115,229 3,959,486
Corporate social responsibility expenditure (refer note 26.2 below) 14,844,087 9,733,642
Bank charges 1,670,883 1,373,936
Miscellaneous cxpenses 4.581.476 7,940,601
352,789,066 253,369,643
26.1 Payments to auditor {¢xcluding service tax / goods and services fax)
Statutory audit 2,750,000 3,700,000
Tax audit 100,000 100,000
Other services 650,000 100,000
Reimbursement of expenses 111,534 50,000
3,611,334 3,950,000
26.2 Details of expenditure on corporate social responsibility
(2) Amount required to be spent by the Company during the year 14,844,087 9,733,642
(b) Amount spent during the year (in cash) :
(i) Construction/ acquisition of any asset - -
(it) On purposes other than (i) above 14,844,087 9,733,642
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As at As at
Maren 31, 2018 Margh 31,2017
27 Commitments
Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be exccuted on capital account (nct of capital 9,733,462 1,184,624
advances) and not provided for
Undrawn committed sanctions to borrowers 6,755,730,822 1,633,000,000
28 Contingent liabilities
Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debt
- Service tax related matters - 853,816
- Income tax rclated matters 59,525,382 59,525,382
Guarantees outstanding 2,191,540,197 928,753,593
29 Derivatives
i. Qutstanding derivatives: (notional principal amount in USD)
- for hedging (currency & interest rate derivatives) 404,405 2,106,985
ii. Marked to market positions — asset (in INR) $56,250,000 1,070,900,000

39

31

Disclosure under Micro, Small and Medivm Enterprises Development Act, 2006

The Ministry of Micro, Small and Medium Enicrprises has issued an office memorandum dated August 26, 2008 which recommends that the
Micro and Small Enterprises should meation in their correspondence with its customers the Entrepreneurs Mcmorandum Number as
allocated after filing of the Memorandum in accordance with the Micto, Small and Medism Enterprise Development Act, 2006 (‘the Act’).
Accordingly, the disclosure in respect of the amounts payable to such enterpriscs as at March 31, 2018 has been made in the financial
statemnents based on information received and available with the Company. Further in vicw of the Management, the impact of interest, if any,
that may be payable in accordance with the provisions of the Act is not expected to-be material. The Company has not reccived any claim for

interest from any supplicr as at the balance sheet date.

Particalars

Ay at
Mareh 31, 2018

As at
Mareh 31, 2017

‘The principal amount and the interest due thereon (to be shown separately) remaining unpaid to
any supplicr as at the end of cach accounting period

Principal

Interest
The amount of interest paid by the buyer in terms of Section 16, of the Micro, Small and Medium
Enterprise Development Act, 2006 along with the amounts of the payment made to the supplier
beyond 1he appointed day during each accounting period
The amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which have
been paid but beyond the appointed day during the period) but without adding the interest
specified under Micro Small and Mcdium Enterprisc Development Act, 2006
The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of cach accounting period; and
The amount of further interest remaining due and payable cven in the succeeding years, until such
datc when the intcrest dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of
disallowance as a deductible expenditurc under Section 23 of the Micro Small and Medium
Enterprise Development Act, 2006.

Expenditure in foreign curvency (accrual basis)

Travelling and conveyance

Directors' sitting fees

Subscription charges

Legal and professional charges
Advertisement and business promotion
Miscellaneous expensces

Year ended

Year ended

March 31,2018 March 31,2017
369,540 821,541
311,440 93,286
633,835 997,956

1,812,125 6,289.314
395,176

467,053
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32  Employee benefifs

Defined toniribution plans

The Company makes specificd monthly contributions towards employee provident fund to Government administered provident fund scheme
which is a defined contribution plan. The Company's conttibution is recognized as an expenses in the statement of profit and loss during the
period in which the employee renders the related service. The amount recognised as an expense towards contribution to provident fund for
the year aggregated to INR 15,303,030 (March 31, 2017: INR 11,498,753).

Defined benefit plans ]

The Company's gratuity benefit scheme is a defined plan. The Company's nct obligation in respect of a defined benefit plan is calculated by
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have eamned in retumn for their services in the current and prior periods; that bencfit is
discounted to determine its present value. Any unrecognised past services and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted. The Caleulation
of the Company's obligation under the plan is performed annually by a qualificd actuary using the projceted unit credit method.

Details of actuarial valuation of gratuity pursuant to the Accounting Standard 15 (Revised)

A. Change in present value of obligations March 31,2018 March 31,2017
Present value of obligations at the beginning of the year 13,352,631 10,579,551
Current service cost 3,781,598 2,604,698
Interest cost 920,391 770,332
Past service cost 9,091,873 -
Bencfits settled (5,178,745) (1,407,006)
Actuarial loss 3.160.877 3,005,056
Present value of obligations at the end of the year 27,334,625 13,552,631

B. Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year ) - -
Fxpecied return on plan assets -

Actuarial gains/ (loss) ) - -
Employer contributions . - ot
Benelits settied - -

Fair vaiue of plan assets at the ead of the year - -

C. Actual Return on plan assets
Expected return on plan assets - -
Actuarial gains/ (loss) on plan assets - -

Actual return on plan assets - -

D. Reconciliation of present value of the obligation and the fair value of the plan assets
Change in projected benefit obligation

Present valuc of obligations at the end of the year 27,334,625 15,552,631
Fair value of plan asscts - -

Net liability recognised in balance sheet 27,334,625 15,552,631

The liability in respect of the gratuity plan comprises of the following non-current and current

portions:
Current 1,295,967 1,295,967
Non-current 26,038,638 14,256,664

27,334,625 15,552,631
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32 Employee benefits (continued) Mareh 31,2018 Mareh 31, 2017

a)

b)

E. Expense recognised in siatement of profit and loss

Current service cost 3,781,598 2,604,698
Interest on obligation 920,391 770,332
Past service cost 9,091,873 Co-
Expected return on plan assets - -
Net actuarial loss recognised in the year 3,166,877 3,005,056
Total included in ‘employee benefits' 16,960,739 6,380,086
¥. Assumptions at balance sheet date

Discount rate 7.35% 7.10%
Salary escalation 12.00% 12.00%

Mortality rate
Attrition ratc

Motes:

Indian Assurcd
Lives (2006 -08)
12.00%

Indian Assured
Lives (2006 -08)
12.50%

The estimates in future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, takes account of inflation, seniority promotion and other relevant
factors, such as supply and demand in the employce market.
Discount rate is based on the prevailing market yields of Indian Government Bonds as at the balance sheet date for the estimated term of the

obligation.

Five year information

Amounts for the current and previous four vears are as [ollows:

Mareh 31, 2018 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2016 March 31, 2015 March 31, 2014
Present Value of benefit 8,107,175 5,786,342
obligations
Fair value of plan assets -
(Surplus) / deficit jn the plan - -
Expcrience adjustments arising 1,212,852 519,920

on plan liabilitics - (gain)/loss
Experience adjustments arising
on plan assets - gain/(loss)
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33

33.1

333

Employee stock option plan (ESOP)

Employec Stock Option Plan 2016 (ESOP) has been approved by the Board at its meeting held on May 11, 2016 and by the members in the

Extra Ordinary General Meeting held on Oclober 7, 2016.

IFMR Capital Employee Stoek Option Plan 2016 — (“Scheme 1)
The IFMR Capital Employee Stock Option Plan 2016 is applicable to all employecs.

The options were issued on 1 March 2017, and will be cxercised at INR 10. The options are vested equally over a period of 4 years,

IFMR Capital Employee Stock Option Plan 2016 — ("Plan" or "ESOP") (“Scheme 27)
The IFMR Capital Employee Stock Option Plan 2016 is applicable to all employces.

The options were issued in four batches. The first and second batch will be cxercised at INR 110, third and fourth batch will be exercised at

[NR 121. The options are vested equally over a period of § ycars.
Options outstanding under Scheme 1 and Scheme 2

As at March 31, 2018, the outstanding options under Scheme 1 and Schcm‘e 2 and are as follows:

Plan Grant date Number of Exercise price Vesting period  Vesting condition
options in INR
Scheme 1 I-Mar-t7 421,371 10.00 1to 4 years performance based
vesting
Scheme 2 - Batch 1 17-May-17 2,372,500 110.00 1 to 3 years performance based
vesting
Scheme 2 - Batch 2 17-Jul-17 315,000 110.00 1to 5 years performance based
vesting
Scheme 2 - Batch 3 17-Nov-17 850,000 121.00 1to 5 years performance bascd
. vesting
Scheme 2 - Batch 4 18-Feb-18 465,000 121.00 11035 years performance based
vesting
4,423,871
As at March 31, 2017, the outstanding options under Scherme 1 are as follows:
Plan (irant date Number of fixercise price Vesting perfod  Vesting condition
options in INR
Scheme 1 1-Mar-17 721,371 10.00 1to 4 yecars performance based
vesting
721,371

Reconciliation of outstanding options
The details of options granted under the above schemes are as follows.

Particulars Number of options
As at Ay at

March 31.2018  March 31,2017
Qutstanding at beginning of year 721,371 -
Forfeited during the year 300,000 -
Exercised during the year - -
Granted during the year 4,002,500 721,371
Outstanding as at end of year 4,423,871 721,371
Yested and cxcr&isablc as at end of year 421.371 721,371
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334 ¥Fair value methodology

33.5

34

‘U'he fair vatue of options used to computc pro forma net income and carnings per equity share have been estimated on the dates of each grant
using the Black Scholes model. The shares of the Company are not listed on any stock exchange. Accardingly, the Company has considered
the volatility of the Company's stock price as zcro, since historical volatility of similar listcd cnterprise was not available, The various

assumptions considered in the pricing model for the stock options granted by the Company are as follows:

As at As at
) March 31,2018 Mareh 31, 2017
Tair valuc of options at grani date 103.05 103.05
Expected volatility . 0% 0%
Option term I to 5 years 1 0 5 years
Expected dividends 0% 0%
Risk free inferest rate 7.20% 7.80%

Impact of fair value method on net profit and EPS

Had compensation cost for the Company's stock option plans outstanding been determined based on the fair value approach, the Company's

net profit and earnings per share would have been as per the pro forma amounts indicated below:

Year ended
31 March 2018

Year ended
31 March 2017

Profit attributable to equity sharcholders 774,153,316 580,851,737 )
Stock based compensation cxpenses determined under intrinsic value based method 20,177,450 4,000,000
Stock based compensation expenses delermined under fair value based method (48,840,036) (8,052,199)
Profit/ Loss for the year (pro (orma) 745,490,730 576,799,538
Earnings per share (Basic)
- Basic - in INR (reported) 9.88 741
- Basic - in INR (pro forma) 9.51 7.36
- Diluted - in INR (reported) 8.33 6.99
- Diluted - in INR (pro (orma) 8.03 6.89
Related party disclosures
Related party relationships and transactions are as identified by thc management.
(i) Holding company IFMR Holdings Privatc Limited
(ii) Controlling cntity Dvara Trust (formerly IFMR Trust) represented by Dvara Trustceship Services
Private Limited (formerly IFMR Trusteeship Services Private Limited)
(iii) Wholly owned subsidiarics Northern Arc Investment Adviser Services Privale Limited (formerly IFMR

Investment Adviser Services Private Limited)

Northern Arc Investment Managers Private Limited (Formerly IFMR Investment

Managers Private Limited)

(iv) Fellow subsidiaries ~ Pudhuaaru Financial Scrvices Private Limited
IFMR Finance Foundation
{FMR Rural Channefs and Services Private 1imited
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34 Related party disclosures (continued)

{(v) Key Managcrial Personnel (KMP) Ms. Kshama Fernandes, Managing Dircctor
M. Vineet Sukumar, Chicf Financial Officer upto June 2, 2017
Ms. Bama Balakrishnan, Chief Financial Officer from June 3,2017
Ms. R. Srividhya, Company Sceretary

A. Transactions during the Year :

Particulars March 31,2018 March 31, 2017
Dvara Trust

Reimbursement of expenses ) 34,122,435 15,847,624
Reimbursement of income - 1,369,142

IFMR Holdings Private Limited
Reimbursement of expenses

- 2,674,151
Reimbursement of income 1,050,225
Purchase of ERP 5,178,688 -
Northern Arc Investment Adviser Services Private Limited
Reimbursement of expenses 20,700 18,276
Reimbursement of income 15,150 -
[nterest income - 540,035
Purchase of fixed assets - 20,834
Sale of fixed asscts - 3,972
MNorthern Arc Investment Managers Private Limited
Reimbursement of expenses - 1,645,430
Interest income 15,403,413 7,170,972
Loans given 59,000,000 134,000,000
Loans repaid 77,500,000 33,000,000
Purchase of fixed assets - - 5,533
Sale of fixed assets 1,809 90,002
Pudhuaaru Financial Services Private Limited
Interest paid on fixed deposits - 551,759
Interest income 23,003,916 19,116,149
Fee received 24,885,807 32,330,485
l.oan given : 250,000,000 177,500,000
Loan repaid 365,427,871 158,094,675
Fixed deposit redcemed - 11,210,735

Guarantecs 250,000,000 28,551,196
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34 Related party disclosures (continued)

March 31, 2018

Marceh 31, 2017

¥s. Kshama Fernandes
Remuneration and other benefits * 20,

748,049

Employec stock option (in units) 510,000
Mr, Yineet Sukumar

Remuneration and other benefits * 5,596,326
Employee stock option (in units) -
Ms, Bama Balakrishnan

Remuneration and other benefits * 19,772,303
Employee stock option (in units) 400,000
Ms. R. Srividhya

Remuneration * ‘ 2,635,000

* Amount altributable to post employment benefils have not been disclosed as the same cannot be identif
valuation.

B. Balances as at year end:

20,263,344
156,371

17,285,660
130,000

100,000

2,075,000

1ed distinetly in the actuarial

As at
March 31, 2017

As at

March 31,2018
Dvara Trast )
Trade payable 3,953,822
IFMR Holdiags Private Limited
Trade pavable
Northern Are Investment Adviser Services Private Limited
Equity share capital 12,779,670
Preference share capital 7,600,000
Advances 66,600
Northern Are lavestment Managers Private Limited
Equity share capital 36,100,000
Preference share capital i 72,200,000
Receivable under financing activities 112,703,923
Advances 3,732,183
Interest Accrued but not due Loan -
Pudhuaaru Financial Services Private Limited
Receivable under financing activities 36,885,388
Interest accrued but not due on fixed deposits oo
Interest accrued but not duc on loan 293,062
Fee income accrued ‘ 3,162,506
Guarantees : 49,879,640

266,834

543,856

12,779,670
7,600,000
315,474

36,100,000
72,200,000
149,690,821
9,962,761
1,924,848

- 152,313,255
32,796
775,626
8,092,132
34,801,196
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34 Related party disclosures (continued)

35

37

s, Kshama Fernaades
Security Deposit

Amount payable

Employce stock option (in units)

#r. Vineet Sukumar
Amount payable

Employee stock option {in units)

s, Bama Balakrishnan
Employee stock option (in units)

Segment reporting

As at As at
iarch 31,2818 March 31, 2017
200,000 200,000
- 24,341,920
666,371 156,371
- 19,859,800
130,000
500,000 100,000

The Company operaics in a single reportable business segment i.c. arranging or facilitating or providing finance cither in the form of Loans
or Investments or guarantees. As risks and rewards of operating such scrvices are the same irespective of the region, there are no

geographical segments.

Operating leases

The Company has cancellable operating lease agreements for office space, which can be terminated by either partics after giving the notice.
For the year ended March 31, 2018, an amount of INR 58,008,088 (March 31, 2017: INR 32,403,709) was recorded as expenscs towards

lease rentals in the statement of profit and [oss.

Earnings per share (‘EPS")

Earnings

Profit afier tax (as reported)

Less: Dividend on preference sharcs and tax thereon

Net profit attributable to equity sharcholders for calculation of basic EPS

Net profit attributable to equity shareholders for calculation of diluted EPS

Shares

Equity shares at the beginning of the year

Sharcs issued during the year

Total number of equity shares outstanding at the end of the vear

Weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year for
calculation of basic EPS

Compulsory convertible preference shares

Options granted

Weighted average number of cquity shares outstanding during the year for
calculation of diluted EPS

Face value per share

Earning per share
Basic
Diluted

March 31, 2018 Hlareh 31, 2017
774,153,316 594,684,096
- (13,832,339)
774,133,316 580,851,737
774.133,316 584,851,737
78,365,673 78,365,473

- 200
78,365,673 78,365,673
78,363,673 78,365,549
14,207,457 5,262,558
314,654 55,748
92,887,784 83,683,855
10.00 10,00

9.88 7.41

8.33 6.99
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38 Disclosure Pursuant to paragraph 26 of Master Direction - MNon-Banking Financial Company -Systemically
Important Non-Deposit taking Company (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016:

Gold lean porifolio
The Company has not provided loan against gold during the year cnded March 31, 2018 and March 31,2017,
39 Cépita! adequacy ratio

The Company’s capital adequacy ratio, calculated in accordance with the Reserve Bank of India guidelines. is as follows:

Particulars March 31,2018 tarch 31,2017
Tier 1 Capital 5,897,505,048 4,843,587,379
Tier [l Capital 540,617,574 64,711,643
Total Capital 6,438,122,622 4,508,299,022
Total Risk Assets 37,404,932,701 29,063,730,745
Capital Ratios
Tier I Capital as a percentage of Total Risk Assets (%) 15.77% 16.67%
Tier 11 Capital as a percentage of Total Risk Assets (%) 1.45% 0.22%
Total Capital (%) 17.22% 16.839%
40 Investments
Particulars March 31, 2018 March 31,2017

Value of investment

Gross value of investments

- In India
- Outside India

Provisions for investments

- [n India
- Qutside India

Net value investments

- In India
- Qutside India

Movement of provisions held towards investments

10,133,338,911

430,466,590

9,702,872,321

11,359,551,727

264,107,641

11,095,444,086

Opening balance 264,107,641 12,065,853
Add: Provisions made during the ycar 166,338,949 252,041,788
Less: Write off/ write back/ reversal of provision during the ycar

Closing balance 430,466,590 264,107,641
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41 Disclosure Pursuant to paragraph 18 of Master Direction - Mon-Banking Financial Company ~Systemically lmportant Mon-
Deposit taking Company (Reserve Bank) Directions, 2016; )

S.M. Particulars _ As at March 31,2018 As at Mureh 31,2017
Amount Qutstanding Amount Amount Amount
Overdue Dutstanding Overdue

Liabilities side:

I Loans and Advances availed by the NBFC
inclusive of interest accrued thercon but

not paid;
" (a) Debentures
- Secured 3,563,313,381 - 4,481,283,528 -
- Unsecured 2,550,884,170 - 73,500,367 -

(other than falling within the meaning of public deposits)
(b} Deferred Credits - . .

(c) Term Loans 14,915,299,078 - 9,475,087,547 -
(d) Inter-Corporate Loans and Borrowings - - - -
(¢) Commercial Paper 4,127,490,896 - 3,253,771,947 -
(f) Public Deposits - - - -
(g) Other Loans 3,554,002,010 - 2,567,433,612 -

(Represents Working Capital Demand Loans
and Cash Credit from Banks)

I

Break-up of (1) (f)above (outstanding

public deposits inclusive of interest

(a) In the form of Unsecured debentures - - -
(b) In the form of partly secuted debentures - - -
i.e debentures where there is a shortfall in the

value of sccurity

(<) Other public deposits v - - -

As at As at

Particulars March 31,2018 March 31,2017

Assets side:

3 Break-up of Loans and Advances including Bills Receivables [other than those
inciuded in (4) below]:
(a) Secured 18,057,550,255 12,583,647,151
(b) Unsecured 4,924,554,649 3,401,885,255

4 Break up of Leased Assets and Stoek on Hire and Other Assets counting towards

AFC activities

(i) Lease Assets including Lease Rentals Accrued and Due:
a) Financial Lease : -
b) Operating Lease

(i1) Stock on Hire including Hire Charges under Sundry Debtors:
a) Asscts on Hire-
b) Reposscssed Assets -

(iii) Other Loans counting towards AFC Activities
a) Loans where Asscts have been Repossessed -
b) Loans other than (a) above -
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. As at As at
Particulars March 31,2018 Mareh 31,2017

3 Break-up of Investments (net of provision for diminution in value):

Current Investments:
{. Quoted:
i. Shares
a) Equity - .
b) Preference : - -
ii. Debentures and bonds 675,606,060 778,000,000
ilil. Units of Mutual Funds -
iv. Government Securities -
v. Others
a) commercial paper - 280,000,000
1. Unquoted:
1. Sharcs
a) Equity
b) Preforence
it. Debentures and Bonds
{ti. Units of Mutual Funds
iv. Government Securitics
v. Others

a) pass through certificates 2,426.302,751 2,617,766,667

Long Term [nvestments:

1. Quoted:

" 1. Shares - R
a) Equity -
b) Preference

ii. Debenturcs and Bonds 3,846,637,905 3,044,000,000
ii. Units of Mutual Funds .

iv. Government Securitics
v. Others (please specify)
{l. Unquoted:
i. Shares
a) Equity 48,879,670 48,879,670

b) Preference 79,800,000 79,800,000
ii. Debentures and Bonds

tii. Units of Mutual Funds
iv. Government Securities
v. Others

a) pass through certificates , 1,014,711,577 1,560,158,981
b) units of alternative investment {und 2,041,130,948 950,946,409
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6 Borrower Group-wise Classification of Assets Financed as in (3) and (4) ahove:

As at March 31,2018

As at Mareh 31, 2017

Category {Net of provision for NPA) {Met of provision for MPA)
Secured Unsecured Secured Ungecured
1. Related parties » i
(a) Subsidiaries - 112,703,923 - 149,690,821
(b) Companies in the same group 36,885,388 - 132,313,255 -

(¢) Other related partics - -

2. Other than related parties 18,003,426,624 4,811,850,726

12,423,403,119 3,252,194,434

18,0-40,312,012 4,924,554,649

12,575,716,374 3,401,885,255

7 lavestor Group-wise Classification of all Investments (Current and Long Term) in Shares and Securities (both Quoted and

Unquoted)
Market Value / Book Value as on  Market Value /  Book Value as on
Break up Yalue or  March 31,2018 Break up Value or March 31,2017
Category Fair Yalue or Net (Net of Fair Value or Net (Met of
Asset Yalue as on provisions) Asset Value as on provisions)
March 31, 2018 March 31,2017
I. Related Parties
(&) Subsidiarics 128,679,670 128,679,670

(b) Companies in the same Group - -
(c) Other related parties » - .

2, Other than related parties 10,004,639,241 10,004,659,241

128,679,670 128,679,670

11,230,872,057 11,230,872,057

10,133,338,911 16,133,338,911

11,359,551,727 11,359,551,727

8 Other Information

As at March 31,2018 As at March 31, 2017
Particulars
i Other than i Other thar
Related Parties Related Parties Related Partics Related Parties
(i) Gross Non-Performing Assets - 45,160,670 - 7,930,777
(i) Net Non-Performing Assets - 27,922,427 - -

(iii) Assets Acquired in Satisfaction of Debt -
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MNosthera Are Capital Limited

(Formerly 1FMR Capital Finance Limited)

Notes to the financial staternents for the year ended March 31,2018
{(All amounts are in Indian Rupecs, except share data and stated otherwise)

43  Disclosure of frauds reporsed during the year ended March 31, 2018
Nature of Fraud Bo of Cases  Amounioffraud  Amount written off
Cash misappropriation by employee - . -
Fraudulent representation by customers - . .

The-above summary with respect to fraud is based on the information available with the Company which has been reficd upon by the
auditors. ’

44  Exposure to Real estate sector

Particulars ) Mareh 31,2018 Yarch 31, 2817
A. Direct Exposure

i. Residential Mortgages - - . -
{Lending fully secured by mortgages on residential property that is or will be

occupied by the borrower or that is rented:

il. Commereial Real Estate —

(Lending secured by morlgages on commercial real estates (office buildings, retail - -
space, multipurpose commercial premises, multi-family resideatial buildings, multi-

tenanted commercial premiscs, industrial or warchouse space, hotels, land acquisition,

development and construction, cte.). Exposure would also include non-fund bascd
(NFB) limits)

iii. Investments in Mortgage Backed Securities (MBS) and other securitised exposures —

a) Residential (refer note below) : 42,025,369 43,359,757
b) Commercial Real Estate - -

Note:
Represents investment in pass through certificates extended to housing finance companies.

45 Exposure to capital market
Particulars March 31,2018 Nlarch 31,2017
(i) Direct Investment in equity shares, convertible bonds, convertible debentures and - -
uniits of equity- oricnted mutual funds the corpus of which is not exclusively invested
in corporate debt

(i) Advances against shares / bonds / debentures or other securitics or on clean basis - -
to individuals for investment in shares ( including [PQ's / ESOP's), convertible bonds,

convertible debentures and units of equity oricnted mutual funds

(iiy Advances for any other purposes where sharcs or convertible bonds or - : -
convertible debentures or units of equity oriented mutual funds are taken as primary

(iv) Advances for any other purposes to the extent secured by the collateral security of - -
shares or convertible bonds or convertible debentures or uits of cquity oriented

mutual funds i.e. where the primary security other than shares / convertible bonds /

convertible debentures / units of equity oriented mutual funds ' does not fully cover

(v) Secured and unsecured advances to stockbrokers and guarantees issued on behalf - -
of stockbrokers and market makers

(vi) Loans sanctioned to corporates against the security of shares / bonds / debentures - -
or other securitics or on clean basis for meeting promoter's contribution to the equity

of new companics in anticipation of raising resources ;

(vii) Bridge loans to companics against expected equity flows / issues ; - -
(viii) All exposures to Venture capital funds (both registered and unregistered) - -
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46

46.1

46.2

47

48

49

51

52

Disclosures relating to Securitisation

Details of assignment transactions undertaken

Particulars March 31,2018 Mareh 31,2017
Number of assignment transactions 5 3
Ouistanding assigned asscts in books of assignee 650,250,194 503,668,106
Less: Collections not yet duc to be remitted to assignee * 47,248,891 35,396,367
Outstanding Assigned Assets as per books 603,001,303 448,271,739
Book value of asscts soid 3,063.662.6935 1,868,643.971

Details of financial assets sold to sccuritisation

Particulars

March 31,2018

March 31,2017

Number of Securitisation Transactions
Qutstanding assigned assets in books of seller

1
691,471,290

Less: Collections not yet due to be remitted to Trust * 33,952,557 -
Outstanding Assigned Assets as per books 657,518,733 -
Book value of assets sold 1,141,273,871 -
Total amount of ¢xposure
- Off balance shect exposure
First Loss
Others
- On balance sheet exposurc
First loss - cash collateral 91,301,910 -
Others - over collaicral 57,063.694 -
148.365.604 -

* excludes interest collected from customers on securitised assets

Details of non- pérforming financial agsets purchuses / sold

The Comparty has neither purchased nor sold any non- performing financial asscts during the previous year.

Details of financing of Parent Company produets
Nil

Details of Single Borrower Limits (SBL)/ Group Borrower Limits (GBL) exceeded
The Company has not exceeded
March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2017.

Advances against lntangible Securities
The Company has not given any loans against intangible sccurities

Registration/ licence/ authorisation obtained from other financial sector regulators :

the single borrower limit as set by Reserve Bank of India for the year ended

Registration / Licence Authority issuing the registration /

Registration / Licence reference

Certificate of Registration Reserve Bank of India

Penaltics imposed by RBI and other regulators

B-07-00430 dated August 8, 2013

No penaltics have becn imposed by RBI and Other Regulators during the financial year (F'Y) 2017-18 (FY 2016-17 - NIL)




Northern Arc Capital Limited

(Formerly TFMR Capital Finance Limited)

Motes to the financial statements for the year ended Mareh 31, 2018
(All amounts are in Indian Rupees, except share data and stated otherwise)

33 Ratings

The Credit Analysis & Rescarch Limited (CARE) and ICRA Limited (ICRA) have assigned ratings for the various {acilities availed

by the Company, details of which arc given below:

Particulars

Rating agency March 31,2013 Mareh 31,2017
Bank facilities At At
Non-convertible debentures - long term A+ A+
Non-convertible debentures - short term Al+ Al+
Subordinated debf issue At A+
Commercial paper Al+ Al+

34 Provisions ard contingencies (Break up of "Provisions and centingencies' shown

under the head expenditure)

Provision {or depreciation on investment
Provision for non-petforming assets
Contingent provisions against standard assets
Provision made towards current income taxcs

(%1
!

Draw down from reserves
The Company has not made any drawdown from existing reserves.,

56 Concentration of advances
Total advances to twenty largest borrowers .
Percentage of advances to twenty targest borrowers to total advances

57 Conceatration of exposures
Total exposure to twenty largest borrowers
Percentage of exposures to tweaty largest borrowers to total exposure

58 Concentration of NPAs
Total exposure to top four NPA accounts

39  Scctor-wise NPAs (Percentage of NPA's o total advances in that sector)

Agriculture & allied activities
MSME

Corporate borrowers

Services

Unsecured personal loans
Auto loans

Other loans

Mareh 31,2018

Marceh 31,2017

166,358,949 252,041,788
9,307,466 7,930,777
28,451,307 26,154,371
508,244,184 410,079,330
As at As at

31 March 2018

31 March 2017

10,317,204,353 8,671,982.372
44.89% 54.25%
11,046,866,458 11,745,863,950
40.09% 43.28%
25,241,089 7,930,777
March 31,2018 March 31,2017
0.00% 0.00%
0.00% 0.00%
0.04% 0.05%
0.00% 0.00%
0.00% 0.00%
0.00% 10.00%
1.96% 0.00%

The above Scctor-wisc NPA and advances are based on the data available with the Company which has becn relied upon by the

auditors.
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62

63

Movement of Non-Perfoerming Assets (NPA's)

Overseas asscts (for those with joint ventures and subsidiarics abroad)
There are no overseas asset owned by the Company

Off-balance sheet SPVs sponsored
There are no SPVs which are required to be consolidated as per accounting norms.

Customer complaints

¥arch 31,2018 March 31,2017
Net NPAs to net advances (%) 0.12% 0.00%
(Net of provision for NPAs) '
Movement of gross NPAs
Opening balance 7,930,777 -
Additions during the year 37,229,894 7,930,777
Reductions during the year ) - -
Closing balance : 45,160,671 7,936,777
‘Movement of net NPAs
Opening balance - -
Additions during the year 27,922,428 -
Reductions during the year . - -
Closing balance 27,922,428 -
Bovement of provisions for NPAs (excluding contingent provisions against standard as5eis)
Opcning balance 7,930,777 -
Pravisions made during the year 9,307,466 7,930,777
Write-off / writc-back of cxcess provisions - -
Closing balance 17,238,243 7.930,777
Movement of contingent provision against standard assets
Opening balance ) 63,311,643 37,157,072
Additions during the ycar 28.451,307 26,154,571
Reductions during the year - -
Closing balance 91,762,950 63,311,643
Movement of provisions held towards gnarantees
Opening balance 54,452,375 3,142,802
Add: Provisions made during the ycar 86,340,385 51,309,573
Less: Write offf write back/ reversal of provision during the year -
Closing balance 140,792,760 54,452,375

March 31, 2018

March 31,2017

No. of complaints pending at the beginning of the year -
No. of complaints received during the year -
No. of complaints redressed during the year

No. of complaints pending at the end of the year -

The above details are based on the information available with the Company regarding the complaints reeeived from the customers

which has been relicd upon by the auditors.
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64 Diselosure under elause 28 of the Listing Agreement for Debt Securities

65

66

67

S.Mo. |Particulars March 31,2018 | Mareh 31,2017
a) Loans and advances In the nature of oans to subsidiarics 112,703,923 149,690,821
b) Loans and advances in the nature of loans to associates - -
c) Loans and advances in the nature of loans where there is -

(1} no repayment schedule or repayment beyond scven years -
(ii) no interest or interest below section 186 of Cormpanies Act, 2013 - -

&) Loans and advances in the nature of loans to firms/companies in which dircctors are 36,883,388 152,313,255
interested

Disclosure under clause 16 of the Listing Agreement for Debt Securities

The Debentures are sceured by way of a first and pari passu hypothecation of receivables under financing activitics, investment in pass
through certificates and investment in debentures.

Disclosure of $pecified Bank Notes ('SBMY)

The disclosures regarding details of SBN held and transacted during the current year has not been made sincc the requircment does not pertain
to financial year cnded March 31, 2018. However, corresponding details of SBN for the period from November 8, 2016 to December 30,
2016 as appearing in the audited financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2017 have becn disclosed below.

During the previous year ended March 31, 2017, the Company did not have specificd bank notes or other denomination notes as defined in
the MCA Notification G.S.R 308(E) dated March 31, 2017 on the details of SBN held and transacted during the period from November 8,
2016 to December 30, 2016. The denomination wisc SBN and other notes as per the notification arc given below:

Particulars 5BNg Other : Total
denomination
Motes

Closing cash in hand a5 on November 8, 2016 - - -
Add: Permitted receipts - -
Less: Permitted payments - - -
Less: Amount deposited in banks (net of withdrawal) ' . - .
Closing ¢ash in hand as on December 30, 2016 - - .

For the purpose of this clause, the term specified bank note shall have the same meaning provided in the notification of the Government of
India, the Ministry of Finance - Department of Economic Affairs No. S.0.3407 (E), dated November 8, 2016,

During the year, the Company vide its board mecting dated 18 December 2017 had approved the Scheme of Arrangement (Dcmergcr) &
Amalgamation between the Company, [FMR [oldings Private Limited, Dvara [nvestments Private Limited and their respective sharcholders
and creditors under scetions 230 to 232 of the Companies Act, 2013.

As per the aforesaid Scheme, the relevant sequence of demerger and amalgarnation proposed to be carried out arc listed below:
* The aggregator business of IFMR Holdings Private Limited and the entire investments relating to the Company held by of IFMR -
Holdings Private Limited to be transferred to Dvara [nvestments Privatc Limited
» Amalgamation of Dvara Investments Private Limited into the Company

The appointed date under the aforesaid Scheme is March 31, 2017. The Company is in the process of obtaining necessary approvals from
various statutory authorities and filling it with the Hon'ble National Company Law Tribunal (NCLT). Pending approval processes and filling
with NCL'[, no adjustment has been considered in the financial statements for the said Scheme.




Morthern Are Capital Limited

{Formerly IFMR Capital Finance Limited)

Motes to the financial siatements for the year ended Maveh 31, 2618
(All amounts arc in Indian Rupecs, exccpt sharc data and stated otherwise)

\7

e
ey
i

68  Previous year figures have been re-grouped / re-classified wherever necessary to correspond with the current year's classification / disclosure.

Previous vear figures has been audited by a firm other than B S R & Co LLP.

Jor BSR & Co. LLP
Chartered Accountants
{CAI Firm Registration No:10 1243W/W-100022

N

Mangj Kumilr Yijai
Pariner
Membership No. 046382

\
\Ey
s Fermandes

Managing Dircctor
DIN: 02539429

B4

R Srividhya
Company Sceretary
Place : Chennai
Date : May 11,2018

Place : London
Date : May 11, 2018

For and on behalf of the board of directors of
Northern Arc Capital Limited
CIN: U63910TN1989PLCO 17021 N

Bindit Ananth
Director
DIN; 02456029 Z

Bama Balakrishnan
Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF NORTHERN ARC CAPITAL LIMITED
VIZ. THE TRANSFEREE COMPANY (1) PURSUANT TO SECTION 232(2)(c) OF THE
COMPANIES ACT, 2013 WITH REGARD TO THE EFFECT OF THE SCHEME OF
ARRANGEMENT (DEMERGER) AND AMALGAMATION BETWEEN IFMR HOLDINGS
PRIVATE LIMITED AND DVARA INVESTMENTS PRIVATE LIMITED AND NORTHERN
ARC CAPITAL LIMITED (FORMERLY IFMR CAPITAL FINANCE LIMITED)

The Demerger of the Demerged Undertaking from IFMR Holdings Private Limited to Dvara
Investments Private Limited and the subsequent amalgamation of Dvara Investments Private Limited
into Northern Arc Capital Limited was approved by the Board of Directors vide resolution dated
19" January 2018.

As per Section 232(2)(c) of the Companies Act, 2013, a report adopted by the Directors explaining
the effect of the Scheme of Arrangement (Demerger) and Amalgamation on each class of
shareholders, key managerial personnel, promotér and - non-promoter shareholders laying out in
particular the share exchange ratio, is required to be circulated to the creditors along with the notice

convening the meeting.

The following is the Report taking into consideration the aforesaid provisions:

1. Effect of the Scheme on the Promoters/ Shareholders of the Applicant Company:
a) Currently there are two layers of private equity shareholders (one layer at IFMR

Capital and one layer at IFMR Holdings). This results in decision making being
complex and time consuming. The Scheme will result in a single set of shareholders,

thereby improving efficiency of corporate governance.
b) Though Accion had a beneficial interest in IFMR Capital through its investment in

IFMR Holdings, as a consequence of the Scheme, Accion will become a direct
shareholder of IFMR Capital, further diversifying the shareholders of IFMR Capital.

17



BEFORE THE NATIONAL COMPANY LAW TRIBUNAL, DIVISION BENCH, CHENNAI
CA/161/CAA/2017

Sections 230 to 232 and other applicable
Provisions of the Companies Act, 2013;
And

In the matter of Scheme of Arrangement (Demerger) and Amalgamation between IFMR Holdings
Private Limited and Dvara Investments Private Limited and Northern Arc Capital Limited

Northern Arc Capital Limited

a Company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956,
having its Registered Office at [IT M Research Park, 10" Floor,
Kanagam Village, Taramani, Chennai - 600 113.

Form No.MGT-11

FORM OF PROXY

Name of the Secured
creditor

Registered address

E-mail Id

I/We, being the Secured creditor(s) of the above named Company viz., Northern Arc Capital Limited,
hereby appoint:

1) of having e-mail id

or failing him;

2) of having e-mail id

or failing him

3) of having e-mail id

or failing him

as my/our proxy to attend and vote (on a poll) for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Secured creditor
meeting of the Company convened on the directions of the National Company Law Tribunal, Division
Bench, Chennai, to be held on 30™ October 2018 at 11.30 A.M. at IIT M Research Park, Phase I, 10"
Floor, 1 Kanagam Village (Behind Tidel Park), Taramani, Chennai — 600 113 and at any adjournment
thereof in respect of the proposal/resolution as indicated below:

19



Proposal/Resolution Vote Vote
for* against*

Approval to the Scheme of Arrangement (Demerger) and Amalgamation

between IFMR Holdings Private Limited and Dvara Investments Private

Limited and Northern Arc Capital Limited.

Signed this day of 2018 Signature of

Affix One

Secured creditor

Rupee
Revenue
Stamp

Signature of proxy holder(s)

Notes:

1. This form of proxy in order to be effective should be duly completed and deposited at the
registered office of the Company not less than 48 hours before the commencement of the
meeting.

2. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Alterations, if any made in the Form of Proxy should be initialled.

4. Appointing a proxy does not prevent a creditor from attending the meeting in person if he/she
so wishes.

5. In case of joint creditors, the signature of any one will be sufficient, but names of all the joint

holders should be stated.
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ATTENDANCE SLIP

- MEETING OF THE SECURED CREDITORS OF NORTHERN ARC CAPITAL LIMITED
CONVENED ON THE DIRECTIONS OF THE NATIONAL COMPANY LAW TRIBUNAL,
CHENNAI BENCH,

TO BE HELD ON 30™ OCTOBER 2018 AT 11.30 AM. AT IIT M RESEARCH PARK,
PHASE I, 10™ FLOOR, 1 KANAGAM VILLAGE (BEHIND TIDEL PARK), TARAMANI,
CHENNAI - 600 113

PLEASE COMPLETE THIS ATTENDANCE SLIP AND HAND IT OVER AT THE
ENTRANCE OF THE MEETING HALL

Amount of outstanding debt

Name and address of the Secured
Creditor (in block letters)

Name and address of the Proxy

holder (in block letters) —

To be filled by the proxy
attending

instead of the Secured creditor

[/We certify that I/We am/are Secured creditor/proxy for the Secured creditor of the Company.

1/ We hereby record my presence at the meeting convened pursuant to the Order dated 27™ August
2018 of the National Company Law Tribunal, Chennai Bench, Chennai (“NCLT”) of the Secured
creditors of Northern Arc Capital Limited at 30" October 2018 at 11.30 A.M. at [IT M Research Park,
Phase I, 10" Floor, 1 Kanagam Village (Behind Tidel Park), Taramani, Chennai — 600 113

Secured creditor/ Proxy’s name in BLOCK letters

Signature of Secured creditor/Proxy
Notes:

1. Please fill in the attendance slip and hand it over at the entrance of the Meeting Hall.
2. Joint Secured creditor(s) may obtain additional attendance slip at the venue of the meeting.
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